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CHAIR NORDENBERG: We did such a outstanding job 

last night moving through 22 citizen witnesses in 2 hours and 

10 minutes, and I don't want to begin with a big blemish on 

this record. And it is about 5 after 5:00, so I think we 

should get started. 

I am Mark Nordenberg. As the Chair of the 

Legislative Reapportionment Commission, I call this meeting to 

order. I want to welcome all of the citizens of Pennsylvania 

who are participating in this hearing either here in the 

Capitol or on the livestream, and I extend this welcome on 

behalf of my Commission colleagues. I see that Senator Kim 

Ward, the Majority Leader of the Senate, is up on the screen. 

You see, no one has taken your place next to me, Senator. 

SENATOR COSTA: No one ever could. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: And I'm now forced to use this 

timing device without your help, but I think you tutored me 

well enough. 

To my far left is Senator Jay Costa, the 

Democratic Leader of the Senate. Moving one closer to me is 

Leader Kerry Benninghoff, the Majority Leader in the House of 

Representatives. And to my right, a face that I welcome, I 

haven't seen it for a little while, is Leader Joanna 

Mcclinton, the Democratic Leader of the House of 

Representatives. 

move forward. 

So we're here in force, and we're ready to 
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I should say, as many of you know, that we will be 

posting videos and transcripts of this hearing. The videos 

typically will be up the day following the hearing, so there 

isn't a big lag time. I can also see up on the screen that we 

are blessed to have Professor Ray Block from Penn State with 

us. He is the Brown-Mccourtney Career Development Professor 

in the Mccourtney Institute, and an Associate Professor of 

Political Science and African-American Studies at Penn State 

University. Not only does he have a great reputation from a 

distance, but our mapping consultant saw him at a program 

speaking a couple of weeks ago and said, do we have to get 

Professor Block to be one of our invited expert guests. 

So, Professor Block, welcome. The floor is yours 

for about 15 minutes, and then I'm sure there will be 

questions. He is going to be talking about aspects of the 

Federal Voting Rights Act, which will become important to our 

work as we really get into it. 

Professor Block, again, welcome. 

DR. BlOCK: Thank you. I appreciate the 

introduction, Chair Nordenberg, and thank you to the rest of 

the committee. I would like to, if I can get my slides to 

show up, give a presentation that talks briefly about 

polarization and voting rights, and what that means to the 

committee as it starts to contend with proposals that relate 

to voting rights that have the implications of racial 
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polarization. 

Next slide, please. So, a little bit about me. 

I'm blushing, because I got a really good introduction, and I 

don't know if I can follow it. But I come to you as a 

citizen-resident of PA and as an academic, and so my 

intellectual hat puts me in a position to study racial group 

inequality and ethnic group inequality, and other forms of 

identity-based bias. Partisanship and political ideology fit 

within that, too. As a resident, I live in the State. I care 

about what happens here, and the well-being of the 

Commonwealth is something that concerns me in an intimate way. 

As a person who merges those worlds, I do work in the capacity 

of an expert witness from time to time when called upon to do 

it. And one of the things that I can speak expertly about is 

racial polarization. And I believe a conversation about that 

contributes to a conversation about our understanding of 

Federal voting rights. 

Next slide, please. So, to get to this, we have 

machinery in our government that helps us to produce equitable 

outcomes when it comes to voting. You can look at the 15th 

Amendment, for example, which actually prohibits denying the 

right to vote based on our marginalized identity. group status. 

You also have the Civil Rights Act, which looks at this more 

programmatically and tries to ensure that the process by which 

people engage politically is equitable at all. These are 
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wonderful mechanisms that our government has. The challenges 

you all know is that it's difficult to enforce that. In other 

words, what happens at the Federal level is mandated. 

Sometimes it's difficult to insure that it takes place at the 

local and State level. 

Next slide. So what I'd like to talk about is how 

we get to the transition from the Federal guidelines to how 

things operate at the local level, and I think that gets us 

into a position to think a little bit about the Voting Rights 

Act. And what I think is really important for us to consider 

is the idea of voter dilution. The idea that groups of 

people, because of the mechanisms that are involved in 

government or because of the machinations of the people that 

are behind the process, can set things up so that votes can 

have their power, in a cumulative sense, diminished in some 

way, shape, or form. And there are ways that we can be 

mindful of that, and there are ways within our government that 

we can actually act against it. 

Next slide, please. I like to think of the Voting 

Rights Act of 1965 and use the analogy of the sword and the 

shield. So, Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act to me would be 

the sword in this analogy because it prohibits any voting 

standards, practices, or procedures that dilute minority vote 

strength. And I'm including in that list plans for 

redistricting, for example. Now, the shield here is that 
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there was once a component of the Voting Rights Act that 

actually required certain jurisdictions to preclear their 

plans to any changes they wanted to make with their election 

setups. And most people that understand what Section 5 used 

to be will talk about it regionally. And so the south, 

obviously, is well-represented among the list of jurisdictions 

that used to have to preclear their plans. But there are some 

northern jurisdictions, too. If I can talk about my home 

State, Berks County, Lehigh County, and Philadelphia County 

were once on this list of jurisdictions that needed to get 

government's preclearance of their proposals before their 

proposals could move forward. Section 2 still runs in the 

Voting Rights Act. Section 5, as we understand it, no longer 

exists. So I'm going to be spending a lot of time talking 

about Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act. 

Next slide, please. So the Gingles case is the 

one that most people will think about when they think about 

this particular set of mechanisms that our government has that 

promotes equality when it comes to voting. And there are 

three preconditions that are really important for this, and as 

an analyst, these are the preconditions that I've worked with 

when I'm thinking about how to establish any claims of voter 

dilution. So one of those preconditions is that a minority 

group, however you define it, it could be a language group or 

a racial group, in this case, is sufficiently large and 
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geographically compact so that it constitutes a majority in a 

single-member district. The other precondition is that the 

minority group is politically cohesive in the sense that 

there's a pattern to voting trends among the members of that 

minority group where certain candidates tend to get those 

votes. The third precondition is that the majority group 

votes sufficiently as a bloc to enable it usually to defeat 

the minority's preferred candidate. 

The second and third preconditions are the ones 

that people like me tend to spend the most time thinking 

about, whereas a lot of my colleagues on the mapmaking side 

spend a lot of time thinking about precondition riumber one. 

Normally, people like me will team up with the people on the 

mapmaking side so that we can consider all three of these 

preconditions systematically when evaluating the equitableness 

of proposals to voting changes. 

Next slide, please. So, this handsome gentleman 

you see here is one of my extended inspirations for doing 

expert work, and this is Professor Grofman. And I'm 

mentioning him here because I really like the way that he 

describes what rationally polarized voting is. So to quote 

him, he says, "when the voting patterns of minority 

voters ... differ from those of the white/Anglo community," then 

you have evidence of racial polarization when it comes to 

voting. Also, racial polarization in voting becomes 
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" ... significant if it is of sufficient magnitude that the 

racial composition of the electorate can affect the 

candidate[s] chosen." In other words, as an analyst, I think 

about this in terms of whether or not you can say that the 

characteristics of a jurisdiction has something to do with the 

voting patterns that are taking place inside of that 

jurisdiction. And these are the things that help us to talk 

about racial polarization and the analysis of it. 

Next slide, please. So why is this stuff 

important? And why is it important, for example, when you're 

trying to establish or not establish evidence for dilution? 

In other words, how does RPV, racially polarized voting, work 

as a critical component to a dilution test, a test of the 

existence of it? I am here showing you a picture of Justice 

Wisdom, it should say, and he had a famous quote here, and his 

quote was that racially polarized voting analysis is, "the 

keystone of a dilution case." I thought the word "keystone" 

would resinate with Pennsylvanians, so I wanted to include the 

quote here. But in my circles, we normally talk about this as 

racially polarized voting, or evidence of it, being the 
' 

linchpin of a dilution claim. 

Next slide, please. So why, again, is this 

crucial? The three prongs, or the three components, to the 

test that I was telling you about where one of the 

preconditions is about the geographic compactness, the other 
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one is about the minority group's voting patterns, and the 

third precondition is about the majority group's voting 

patterns. Those three things are things that become really 

big in terms of analysts actually trying to evaluate. What's 

happening with proposals for redistricting, for example. 

So the establishment of what I'm going to call 

research rules for looking into this is really important, and 

it's really important for me to tell you as a person who 

navigates both in the world as a resident and in the world as 

a researcher, is that when I am called upon to do this kind of 

work, the goal for me is not to establish intent. In other 

words, it would be very difficult for me to say, for example, 

that a proposal for redistricting had at its motivation the 

desire to be discriminatory against groups of people. That's 

normally not what I'm called upon to look into, and I don't 

think it would be possible to get answers to that with the 

work that I typically do. 

What I originally was asked of you is to see 

whether there are patterns, for example, between the ethnic 

group or racial group composition and jurisdictions and the 

voting patterns that emerge from those jurisdictions. If a 

pattern can be established, that strong evidence for racial 

polarization, and it's not necessary to go as far as to say 

that the patterns reflect bias and discrimination as much as 

it's just necessary for you to establish that those patterns 
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exist, and those patterns existing becomes the implication for 

whether or not the proposed redistricting plan, for example, 

will move forward. 

Next slide, please. All right. So again talking 

about this some more about why this is important. The 

analyses are what I'm going to focus on, because I believe 

that it's a nice way of tying in why I do this work and how it 

relates to the Voting Rights Act. Without these types of 

analyses, for example, plaintiffs wouldn't be able to 

demonstrate that minority candidates are losing because of 

vote dilution. Another way of looking at this is plaintiffs 

might not be able to show, for example, that minority 

candidates would be more successful if the circumstances 

around voting were more equitable. Likewise, the analyses 

help us to think about possible ways to remedy what might be 

biases that are built into the plans that might currently 

exist when it comes to redistricting. 

Next, there are some more ways RPV also helps us 

to predict or to project what redrawing district boundaries 

might do to the voting patterns of minority and majority group 

members in municipalities. It also helps us to consider 

whether changes to electoral systems might result in changes 

in voting patterns; for example, ranked-choice voting being 

implemented in a place where single-member voting was the 

norm. Right. You could actually check to see those kinds of 
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things. And, finally, RPV analysis helps us to understand the 

effect of changes that have already happened. For example, 

moving from a single-member district to a ranked-choice voting 

district, and thinking about whether or not those changes 

influence what we're noticing when it comes to the 

relationship between demographic characteristics and voting 

patterns. 

Last slide. So I feel like if I want to leave on 

any note, this would be the note that I would leave on. It's 

really important to consider what remains of the Voting Rights 

Act, and Section 2 is what I'm focusing in on here when it 

comes to thinking about how to build proposals and how to 

build legislation and how to build ideas that make voting as 

accessible as possible. But it's way more than just building 

good maps, and proposals need to also consider what I want to 

call the intensely local appraisal of circumstances in an 

area. So adding large numbers of minorities to a particular 

district might seem like the way to go, but that might 

actually, in the long-term, be causing more electoral harm to 

that minority group than electoral good in a sense that you 

might be packing groups of people into one place and limiting 

their influence elsewhere. 

Likewise, I believe that it's really important 

when you're thinking about these types of ideas that you're 

thinking about whether or not citizens and municipalities have 

Legislative Reapportionment Commission 
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elected, given what might currently be on the books for the 

voting plans and for the district lines in a municipality. 
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So, on my end, that's it. I am extremely happy to 

get this opportunity to talk to everyone, and I very much look 

forward to continuing this conversation. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: Thank you very much for a 

terrific presentation. It would be a miracle if we totally 

avoided litigation in this process, but maybe we can avoid 

Voting Rights Act litigation. 

Let me open the floor to the Members, of the 

Commission for any questions or comments. 

Senator Costa. 

Oh, I'm sorry, Senator Ward. 

SENATOR K. WARD: Is it Senator Costa or Senator 

Ward? Which one of us? 

like Jay. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: Senator Ward. 

SENATOR K. WARD: Oh, okay. I know I look a lot 

I mean, he's a handsome dude, so it's all okay. 

(Laughter.) 

SENATOR K. WARD: So, sir, my question, and I 
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asked this to a panelist yesterday, as we're doing these maps 

and we're trying to be, you know, as you're starting to do 

your own little work, like everybody is around the State that 

cares about this issue, you know, is it more important that we 

try to keep our districts compact and contiguous, you know, as 

we go to the courts, or to be, you know, very mindful of 

groups that as you just spoke about that should not be 

diluted. 

DR. BLOCK: I feel like one doesn't necessarily 

preclude the other. Right? The balancing act is doing this 

in such a way that you meet the compactness standard, for 

example, but also, like I say, by being really attuned to the 

circumstances on the ground. Because, for example, like you 

know, it's not like a panacea that 50 percent of the CBAP 

would be the way to go in this case because you might not 

necessarily need for that number to be reached for realistic 

chances for minority groups to actually elect their candidates 

of choice to occur, right. And, as a general rule, I feel 

like this is the reason why the mapmakers team up with the 

analysts, and those analysts and mapmakers team up with the 

activists and the organizations on the ground so that you can 

get a really good feel for what are the needs in a particular 

area and how to make sure that those needs are addressed in an 

equitable way. That crafts nicely, for example, with the 

guidelines that we get from the governments. 
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SENATOR K. WARD: Well, thank you. You know, we 

learned some stuff, I learned some stuff yesterday from some 

of the folks that presented, and I think it does make perfect 

sense to talk to some of the people on the ground there that 

understand the bridges, you know, and the rivers and the 

communities. So it's been very enlightening. 

Chairman. 

Well, thank you. 

DR. BLOCK: Thank you, Senator Ward. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: Senator Costa? 

SENATOR COSTA: No question. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: Leader Benninghoff? 

Leader Mcclinton. 

REPRESENTATIVE McCLINTON: Thank you, Mr. 

And thank you, Professor Block, for sharing your 

insight from all of this research. It's very helpful to 

always be able to go over important pieces of legislation that 

are landmark and life-changing in this nation, like the Voting 

Rights Act. My question to you this evening is how can we 

make sure that we're able to avoid packing of racially diverse 

groups, making sure that we are able to fairly draw maps for 

areas that are diverse? We have many areas in the 

Commonwealth, as we heard in the testimony last week, with a 

growing Latino population, but you notice in current 

representation and the way they're currently drawn, you don't 
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see those same voices being in the General Assembly right now. 

We don't have any Latino women in the Senate, and I don't 

think any men there, but in the House we have three Members. 

So I'm curious to know, as we get ready to draw the maps, how 

can we make sure we avoid packing groups into one area simply 

because iwe think, oh, you know, they're going to choose 

somebody and they vote the same? 

DR. BLOCK: I always take a holistic approach to 

thinking about this. And so my job is a relatively small one . 

but a very important one, and that is my work allows me to 

examine demographics in municipalities and compare them with 

voting trends in municipalities. But when I do this work, I'm 

normally working with a team, and there are teams of people 

that are involved in every step of this process. They're the 

people that actually do litigation. They're the people that 

actually understand the communities of interest and can speak 

eloquently to what's going on with those communities. Then 

there are the people that actually can build the visualization 

for the maps so that you can communicate these concerns in a 

way that can actually be made sense of by people. And I 

believe that the goal is to create those coalitions, to create 

those teams where you have multiple people with different 

skill sets working on these things so that in addition to 

being able to establish patterns of voting that might have an 

ethnic or racial trace to them, you have people that can argue 
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these things very effectively for why the proposed changes 

might need to t~ke place, or why some proposed changes might 

not need to take place. And all of this needs to be informed 

by the people who live and work and go to church services and 

go to school in those communities. And so to me, I feel like 

strengthening the ties across different spheres is the way to 

go to ensure that these things actually occur. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: Thank you very much. 

Are there any other questions? 

(There was no response.) 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: If not, I will thank you again, 

Professor Block, and say don't be surprised if you have some 

outreach from this direction as we move forward with our work. 

Again, we're grateful to you for taking the time to be with us 

tonight. 

DR. BLOCK: Thank you. This was a pleasure. 

await it, and look forward to it. Thank you. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: Thanks. 

I 

And I should say that our next two presenters, who 

are here as a team, already have offered to provide help into 

the future. They are Professors Rory Kramer and Brianna 

Rernster. Both are Associate Professors in the Department of 

Sociolo~y and Criminology at Villanova, and Professor Kramer 

is also the Director of African Studies at--

DR. KRAMER: No--
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CHAIR NORDENBERG: Oh, gee, I thought I saw that 

on your website. Well, okay. I take it back. They're both 

Associate Professors in the Department of Sociology and 

Criminology at Villanova, and we had a nice time talking about 

past contests between Villanova and Pitt in basketball, most 

of which seemed to be won by Villanova, I'm sorry to say. I 

gave this title to their remarks based on an article they had 

written, "The Impact of Incarceration on Political 

Representation." I hope that's adequate, and we're looking 

forward to hearing from you. Thanks for being here. 

DR. KRAMER: Thank you very much, and I just want 

to avoid extra administrative responsibilities on campus if I 

can as long as possible. And thank you, again, for the 

opportunity to speak here today about the issue of prison 

gerrymandering. Like Professor Block, who is hard to 

followup, we are both citizens and researchers here in 

Pennsylvania, and we come here to speak mainly as social 

scientists who have studied the impact of counting 

incarcerated people as residents of the districts where they 

are incarcerated on political representation. We appreciate 

the opportunity to discuss the problem and ways to address it 

during this redistricting cycle with you. 

· In brief, prison gerrymandering currently affects 

dozens of districts across the State. It shifts 

representation in a racially unequal manner. It is neither 
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partisan nor a simple urban versus rural divide, and it would 

be easy to reallocate State prison populations without 

delaying the Legislative Reapportionment Commission's 

timeline. 

In our peer reviewed article, we assessed the 

impact of prison gerrymandering on the Pennsylvania State 

House districts in three ways: We estimated the average 

district size if incarcerated persons were removed from the 

district population counts where they were imprisoned and 

reallocated to their home districts, and whether any districts 

violated population size requirements in that scenario, as 

well as whether prison gerrymandering varied by race and 

ethnicity. That is, if some racial groups were affected more 

than others during that process. To do so, we used publicly 

available data from the Census, the prior LRC, and the 

Department of Corrections. We began by matching demographic 

data from the Census to PA's 203 House districts. Then we 

removed individuals incarcerated in local, State, and Federal 

correctional facilities from district population counts at the 

Census block level. Our next step was to allocate those 

individuals back to their home districts based on facility 

type. 

As with the U.S. overall, most individuals 

incarcerated in Pennsylvania are held in State facilities. To 

return these individuals, we used information on State 
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prisoners' county of origin from the Department of 

Corrections' 2010 Annual Report, which is the smallest 

geography for which that data is publicly available. Most 

individuals held in State prisons are released on parole, 

which means that they are legally required to return back to 

that county of origin. But where in a county should we put 

them? We used information on State prisoners' race and 

ethnicity from that same DOC report, and a trend in this 

testimony will be our commendation of the accuracy and the 

effort of our DOC data staff for computing and publishing this 

information, as well as national estimates of educational 

attainment for incarcerated people by race and ethnicity, 

combined with their county of origin, to allocate State 

prisoners to a Census block with similar demographic 

characteristics. I don't want to bog the Commission down with 

the minutiae of our reallocation strategy at the moment, given 

that you would be able to avoid any such estimation technique 

to reallocate individuals because the Department of 

Corrections has more precise address data than we used. 

Oh, I forgot to say slides. I just realized that. 

That's ok. My slides aren't interesting. Her slides are much 

more interesting. 

We should be clear. Our analyses were estimates 

of the effects on incarceration on representation. Our 

estimates are -- you can go to the two slides forward. There 
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we go. Our estimates are likely underreporting the 

significant impacts on specific communities across the State. 

Importantly, as we were doing this work, the more detail we 

included in our estimation procedure about where people lived 

before, the stronger our results became. For instance, a 

preliminary analysis that excluded the educational attainment 

data produced very similar results to our final ones that 

incorporated education, but including that additional data 

achieved greater precision by providing more information. In 

other words, our estimated findings are conservative about the 

effect of prison gerrymandering on the current House 

districts. If we had had access to private Department of 

Corrections data with specific addresses, we are confident 

that prison gerrymandering would have had an even larger 

impact on State House districts than we found. Fortunately 

for the Commission, we have been told that that data is 

available for your use in redistricting. We also reallocated 

individuals held in county facilities. Unlike State prisons, 

the preincarceration addresses for people in county facilities 

may not be readily available to you in time for this 

redistricting cycle. 

As of 2018, nearly 60 percent of incarcerated 

individuals were in State prisons, and given recent efforts to 

reduce jail populations after 2018, that percentage likely 

grew somewhat. Among individuals held in county facilities in 
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2020, about 20 percent were in Philadelphia or Allegheny's 

facilities. Most county prisons though are small. Excluding 

Philadelphia and Pittsburgh, the average local facility 

contains roughly 400 people, and most county jails have less 

than 300 beds. And the overwhelming majority of individuals 

in these facilities reside in that same county, and often in 

that same district, as most counties are either wholly within 

one district or split into only a small number of districts. 

Although we believe individuals incarcerated in local 

facilities should also be reallocated, our analyses show that 

State facilities are the primary driver of prison 

gerrymandering in Pennsylvania. 

To be complete, Pennsylvania is also home to 10 

Federal correctional facilities, but since the bulk of 

individuals in these facilities are from out of State, we 

removed the less than 9,000 individuals in them from district 

population counts but did not return them. Overall, they 

represent a small portion of the incarcerated population both 

in Pennsylvania and nationally. 

DR. REMSTER: Turning to our results, the map on 

the screen shows the 34 State House districts that experienced 

the most change in our hypothetical scenario of reallocating 

incarcerated people under the current maps. The districts 

highlighted in gray are districts which lost at least 837 

residents after we adjusted where incarcerated people were 
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change across all 203 districts. 
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As you can see, these districts are mostly located 

in rural, central, and western Pennsylvania. And these 

districts are what we call the winners of prison 

gerrymandering. They are the ones that contain a large prison 

and/or jail, and that means that those facilities are 

artificially inflating their size with people who are not from 

that area and would not have been there on Census day if they 

were not imprisoned at the moment. 

In contrast, the districts highlighted in black on 

the map are districts which would gain at least 837 residents 

in our hypothetical scenario, all else equal, okay, if 

incarcerated people were counted in their home communities. 

So you can see that those districts are generally more urban, 

but they also include areas with smaller cities and towns that 

have high rates of incarceration. So, yes, Philadelphia and 

Pittsburgh are harmed by prison gerrymandering. However, it 

is far from an isolated issue of urban versus rural. This is 

in part because most Pennsylvanians don't live near a State 

prison. There are only 20-some State prisons, and yet 203 

districts. But did any of these districts change enough in 

our hypothetical scenario to violate district size 

requirements? 
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Next slide, please. Thank you. For the State as 

a whole, four districts became legally too small using the 

standard 5-percent cut-off for district size established by 

the courts to define equal representation. Take, for example, 

current District 150, which I know has been mentioned several 

times in recent days, but it is a suburban and rural district 

in Montgomery County, and it contains over 5,000 incarcerated 

individuals because it has two facilities - State Correctional 

Institute Phoenix, and Montgomery County Prison. And that's 

nearly 10 percent of that district's population is 

incarcerated. 

Next slide, please. On the other hand, we found 

that four districts would grow to be legally too large to 

qualify as of equal size using that same threshold. Together, 

those four districts contain roughly 264,000 Pennsylvanians. 

Which means that at least 264,000 residents are legally 

underrepresented because of prison gerrymandering today. Of 

those 264,000, over 100,000 are black and live in Philadelphia 

in three districts. Which you can see better when we zoom in 

on the map that I just showed you a moment ago. 

Next slide, please. So two of those districts are 

contiguous, but approximately 20 percent of Philadelphia's 

black population lives in these three districts, districts 

that only met the district size cut-off during redistricting 

because many residents were counted elsewhere at the time. 
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Next slide, thank you. The other district that 

became legally too big is centered around Johnstown. Okay. 

Further, counting incarcerated individuals where they're 
' 

incarcerated makes districts that contain a prison appear more 

racially diverse than the reality. We found five districts 

where more than half of their non-white population was only 

there because they were incarcerated on Census day. Beyond 

diversity, prison gerrymandering dis~orts representation by 

strengthening political voices of Pennsylvanians who live near 

a prison while simultaneously weakening the voices of 

residents who live near high crime areas. Counting 

incarcerated people where they are imprisoned actually affects 

the entire community and town from which large numbers of 

people are being incarcerated. And with patterns of 

residential segregation, prison gerrymandering does so in a 

racially unequal way. 

Next slide. Our analyses by race showed that the 

average white Pennsylvanian lives in a district that benefits 

from prison gerrymandering. So overall looking across the 

entire State, white residents tend to gain representation 

thanks to the location of prison facilities in districts that 

are disproportionately white, and because whites are less 

likely to live, on average, in districts with a large number 

of residents sent elsewhere via incarceration. In contrast, 

the average black or Latinx Pennsylvanian lives in a district 

Legislative Reapportionment Commission 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

that has less of a voice because more than 300 residents of 

their communities were counted elsewhere, and because black 

and Latinx residents are less likely to live in districts 

where incarcerated persons are inflating the district 

population count. In short, prison gerrymandering dilutes 

black and Latinx representation while amplifying whites. 
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One other major takeaway from our analysis was 

that ending prison gerrymandering did not disproportionately 

hurt one political party over another. Counting incarcerated 

people in correctional facilities is very different from other 

forms of partisan gerrymandering. Two of the four House 

districts that we identified as legally too big are currently 

represented by Democrats, and then two are represented by 

Republicans. Nor was it an issue that rural districts always 

lost population to urban districts. District 19 in 

Pittsburgh, for example, lost enough population to be legally 

too small because it contained a now-closed prison. And many 

rural districts without a prison gained representation in our 

scenario from other districts that do have a prison. 

You might be wondering why most of us, until 

recently, hadn't heard of prison gerrymandering. Well, the 

problem has always existed. How incarcerated people were 

counted only recently began to impact political representation 

for two reasons, and that's because it wasn't until the 1960s 

that the concept of one person, one vote was codified into our 
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redistricting process, followed by the extraordinary growth of 

the American penal system. And that only began in earnest in 

the 1980s. The rapid expansion of the incarceration system 

peaked in the early or mid-2010s, depending on the State, and 

in Pennsylvania, the incarcerated population in 2000 was on 

the cusp of being large enough to skew districts but had not 

quite reached that threshold level, in our analysis using 

estimations to reallocate incarcerated persons. So while we 

emphasized 2010, we did look at 2000, but at that point there 

weren't enough people incarcerated to have, at least with our 

estimations, a major impact on representation. 

So while it's true that Pennsylvania's prison 

population has declined somewhat in recent years, 

unfortunately, that decline is not enough for prison 

gerrymandering to fix itself. In March of this year, there 

were 45,654 people in State facilities, and that's about 3,000 

less than there were in 2010. But in 2000, there were less 

than 37,000 people incarcerated in Pennsylvania State prisons. 

But even if the number of incarcerated people did dramatically 

drop in Pennsylvania, that doesn't mean that prison 

gerrymandering doesn't exist. It only means that it's not 

leading to the potential constitutional problems like those we 

found in the current maps. 

Next slide. 

DR. KRAMER: As social--
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CHAIR NORDENBERG: I need to say, we're over 15 

minutes--

DR. KRAMER: Okay. I will take one. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: So wrap it up when you can so 

there's some time for questions, too. 

DR. KRAMER: Absolutely. 

As social scientists, we see no reason to avoid 

tackling the problem now, and in particular, Pennsylvania's 

Department of Corrections has an impressive data and research 

program, which was part of why we were able to do this for 

2010, and what we know now is that it would take effectively 

two lines of computer code to solve this problem. For your 

mappers, it would take maybe an afternoon, in our estimation, 

and then to double- and triple-check that, maybe another 
/. 

couple days, and also to deal with any potential data errors. 

Ideally, we would solve both prison and jail gerrymandering at 

the same time. But again, because 60 percent of people 

incarcerated in Pennsylvania are in State facilities, and 

because county facilities often do not lead to allocating them 

across district lines, reallocating the State facility 

populations that the DOC has the address data for would 

mitigate the majority of the problem and allow us to really 

take a significant step towards solving it completely. Making 

data adjustments to Census aggregations is a part of every 

redistricting cycle, and this is no different. The actual 
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adjustment is a simple, straightforward task that can be done 

easily and would not risk anyone's individual privacy to do 

so. 

We thank you for your little bit of extra time, 

and are happy to answer questions. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: Thank you very much for your 

work and for sharing it with us. 

Leader Mcclinton has a question. 

REPRESENTATIVE McCLINTON: Thank you, Chairman, 

and thank you, Professors, for coming here and sharing your 

testimony and for all of your years of research. 

So as you all know, we are opera~ing under a very 

tight timeline set by the Pennsylvania Constitution, and that 

timeline has been compressed this cycle due to the delay in 

receiving data from the Census. And you shared when you 

started out, and I wrote it down so I could be accurate, 

Professor Kramer, that this could be easy and done without 

delay, and that is, of course, a priority for all of us as a 

shared concern. Our Members are not just calling me. I'm 

sure they're calling all these Leaders up here, and our Leader 

Ward at her home, trying to figure out when we will be done. 

So I know you talked about a computer code, but can you just 

give us a brief elaboration on what this timing would do and 

whether or not it would compromise our goals? 

DR. KRAMER: Sure. Thank you very much for the 
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question, because that was one of those sections I cut down a 

little bit. In short, our understanding is the DOC has an 

address field for everyone who is incarcerated on Census day, 

and so it's a line that says, you know, I'll use my address, 

1113 Titan Street, Philadelphia, 19147. You can send the 

entire Excel file with all of those, or whatever database 

program they're using, to the Census and it will spit out what 

Census block that address is on. And then you just need to 

merge that Census block with whatever your main database with 

all of the other data from the Census is and just add. So 

there are five people in Census block 42101, blah, blah, blah, 

blah, blah, okay, add five people to our current aggregation, 

and now you have your new data. It is really that simple. 

That was the easiest part of the task when we were doing this. 

The hardest part, the thing that took more than a day was the 

estimation strategy that you would not have to do because the 

DOC has better data than we did. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: Thank you. 

SENATOR K. WARD: I have a question. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: Senator Ward. 

SENATOR K. WARD: Thank you. I have a couple of 

points. One is, what do we do with the folks that are life in 

prison? I mean, that's where they live, they live in that 

prison. They don't live at their former address. Would we be 

able to easily separate those? Secondly, where we have State 
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hospitals that people are not in permanently, like the 

Torrance that's in the district I serve, what are we going to 

do? Should those folks be treated the same as the prisoners? 

Yo~ know, and the county prisons, although a lot of them are 

from the county they live in, there are a substantial number, 

right? Thirty-some thousand, I don't remember the exact 

number that was up on your slide, but those counties, when I 

was talking about funding the other day, I wasn't talking 

about just general funding. I'm talking about if a prisoner 

comes into Clearfield County Prison and they live in Allegheny 

County, Clearfield County is now responsible, they lose 

anything they had, to pay everything, including that person's 

health care. So meaning not insurance, but if that person was 

on Medicaid, for example, if that person tries to hurt 

themselves or gets hurt,\ that county has to pay for that 

person. So I don't know how we say that they shouldn't count 

in that particular kind of Census. County governments lose 

money every/year on prisons, because when a prisoner will go 

into the facility, they lose it. If they had Medicaid, it's 

gone. The county is now responsible. So those are just some 

points that I would want to make. 

But I do have the question, what do we do with the 

lifers? Where would we appoint them? Would they stay right 

where they live, because that's where they live forever? 

DR. REMSTER: Thank you, Senator, for the great 
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questions. So to start us off about the lifers. Absolutely, 

that is part of the DOC database. I've worked with various 

aspects of the DOC data in various projects over the years, 

and we can absolutely quickly ascertain who is incarcerated 

for life, and the Commission could decide what they wanted to 

do about that, right? And importantly, no matter what the 

Commission decided to do, so perhaps you keep them counted in 

that situation. That's perfectly reasonable, given that they 

are never leaving, bec~use in Pennsylvania specifically, life 

means life. You are not getting out, right? But importantly 

for our purposes here in this moment, I'm thinking about how 

much it's going to affect things, of the roughly 60,000 people 

in Pennsylvania State prisons, we're talking about a very 

small portion are incarcerated for life. 

SENATOR K. WARD: But if they're in the prison, 

again, for 10 jears, their sentence is long, we don't know 

where they're going to go back to. I just think there are so 

many unanswered questions, and most States have done this 

legislatively. Every State has done it legislatively that has 

done it. I think that would be the opportunity, if you did 

that legislatively, that's the opportunity to answer some of 

these questions. But I do want t o go back to the facilities 

that treat--

DR . REMSTER: The issue of how long should people, 

you know, thinking of like a cut point in terms of whether 
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people should be returned. Importantly, like the Census only 

happens every 10 years for everyone, right. So if someone 

moves, if I move after I filled out my April Census form for 

my household, I'm counted in a different district, right? So 

the exact same thing applies to people who are incarcerated. 

And importantly in thinking about, you know, who should be 

counted where, everybody has a current definition of equal 

representation by the Supreme Court is that it is population 

based, right? That it is not based on whether you can vote, 

for instance, and so counting someone who's coming back in 

several years. You know, the point is that it's -- I'm sorry, 

I'm trying to be very wary of time, but people move all the 

time in between the Census, and including -- and incarcerated 

people fall into that category. 

SENATOR K. WARD: So if somebody is in prison for 

15 years, then they should just be counted in the prison 

they're in, in that area they're in, because during that 

Census, they were there. 

And I have another question. I don't know the 

answer. College students, do we count kids in their dorms 

when we are doing the Census? Because that is very temporary. 

Why are they not counted back where they live? 

DR. KRAMER: That's actually a really good 

comparison case. So college students are actually allowed to 

choose if they want to define themselves as living in their 
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dorm as their usual residence or if they want to define 

themselves as living at wherever mom and dad or wherever they 

came from before going to college . You know, in the 2000 

Census, I had to pick between Massachusetts and New Jersey, 

and it was an easy choice to stay in the Mid-Atlantic, 

personally. 

So that's how we deal with other mobile 

populations. The distinction with incarcerated people and 

those are that the incarcerated are being moved by the State 

against their will, for reasons that the State has. A college 

student picks. An incarcerated person is connected still to 

their home community even if they cannot physically be in 

their home community, that is where they care about. That is 

where their friends are, that is where their family is, that ' s 

where their kid goes to school. That is the legislator that 

they're going to contact when they have an issue, not where 

they are incarcerated. And so what that ends up doing is 

making the legislator where they came from do double duty for 

another legislator. 

And that actually kind of brings me, in a weird 

way, back to this point about the county jails, which I think 

is an interesting one and an important one and why I wish this 

had been dealt with legislatively before we are at the point 

of Legislative Redistricting Commission, but we're here now 

and we can either do a good first step or not, even as the 
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best step would deal with these kind of very difficult 

particulars potentially. But there's a perverse incentive, in 

fact, for a legislator representing a county to want people to 

be moved into their county facility. Those are what you would 

call phantom constituents. So you just got kind of extra 

people that you represent that you don't actually have to do 

anything for. When you're pointing out that that's going to 

cost your county money, but if we don't fix prison 

gerrymandering, it's going to cost the county money, but it's 

going to benefit the legislator, that actually gives us 

another reason to fix the representational problem because 

it's separate from the funding problem, and they actually run 

in opposite directions. 

SENATOR K. WARD: But on the other hand, while 

they're in that facility, if you're going to count them back 

where their last address was, that legislator also doesn't 

have to do anything to serve that constituent. This isn't the 

time. This would be a legislative conversation, but, you 

know, I look at all of these issues. Patients on ventilators, 

there's only certain places in the State a patient can go to 

be on a ventilator, and there are a lot of them. Where do we 

c ount them ? That's all . And they reall y couldn't help where 

they went. The y didn't d o any thing to be put--

DR . REMSTER: Absolute ly. 

DR. KRAMER: Just briefly about them, their family 
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CHAIR NORDENBERG: Listen, we're way over time, 

and we've got a long list of citizens who are waiting to 

testify. 

Leader Mcclinton said she'd like the last word. 
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REPRESENTATIVE MCCLINTON: I just wanted to share, 

for Leader Ward's benefit, that we are ~lready doing double 

work. My last district director, in his parting message, 

said, if there's anything you could do differently, get one 

person to be dedicated to the constituent services we do for 

people from our community who are currently incarcerated. 

I'll end with, two summers ago, I went to SCI 

Cambridge Springs to visit women, and one of my constituents 

heard I was going and said, can you please see my daughter? 

These are the problems we've had, and while your office has 

already reached out to the DOC several times, this doesn't 

seem to get resolved. Can you visit her while you are at the 

prison? And mind you, that's 400 miles from my district. 

Like, it's nowhere close. And my experience is not unique. 

If you talk to other Members, particularly in densely 

populated areas, the different delegations, their constituent 

services advisors will have the same report, which is we're 

doing the work already. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: And maybe I'll give myself the 

last word, because I am puzzled when you sa i d that it was so 
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easy for the Department of Corrections to produce the 

information we would need because they have an address file. 

We did have one staff group working on this for most of the 

summer, and it took most of the summer for us to get that 

data. And I will say that when it was delivered to our 

vendor, the vendor didn't find it as easy to use as you have 

indicated it would be. So we may have to follow up with you 

some more. 

DR. KRAMER: Please do. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: Thank you very much. 

Now we've got to do some making up of time. We 

have two citizen-speakers who are scheduled to testify in 

person this evening. One is Don Hossler, who is from 

Middletown. I don't know his subject. I'm sorry, is Mr. 

Hossler here? 

Oh, I have him down as an in-person presenter. 
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And the subject that was given to me was, "I testified in 

2011," so now we'll get to hear what Mr. Hossler has to say in 

2021. 

Sir. 

MR. HOSSLER: Thank for this opportunity to speak, 

and I appreciate the mission of the Commission and each of 

your efforts to make sure that this issue is as nonpartisan as 

possible based on the Pennsylvania Constitution and other 

variables like communities of interest. I vote in Middletown, 
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In June of 2011, I read an article in the 

Harrisburg Patriot about a joint hearing of the House and 

Senate Government Committee on redrawing Pennsylvania's 

congressional districts, and I registered to testify. The 

hearing was on congressional districts; however, my testimony 

focused on my town of a little more than 2 square miles and 

10,000 people being represented by two State House 

Representatives. In 2011, I spoke with my neighbors, who did 

not realize the small swath of the eastern part of town, our 

neighborhood, was represented by a Lancaster County State 

Representative, and just one block west of our neighborhood, a 

State Representative from Dauphin County. I was curious. Why 

did this happen? What was the rationale? I wrote a letter to 

the editor of the Middletown weekly paper, and more people 

were surprised to hear about two State Reps in the town. 

People really did not understand the redistricting process. 

In 2017, I read about Fair Districts PA and 

attended meetings and rallies, and I realized that this 

redistricting process is a nonpartisan issue and citizens from 

all political parties are impacted, and I have improved my 

understanding of the redistricting process thanks to the 

educational forum provided by Fair Districts. As a matter of 
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fact, I listened and attended most of the State Supreme Court 

hearings in 2018 on the Pennsylvania congressional map, and 

there were always interesting pieces of information, like one 

Justice said, it's not required by court to protect 

incumbents. Another comment that the Pennsylvania 

congressional map is now baked in durability due to 

partisanship. 

My former State Senator always carried a copy of 

the State Constitution, and provided me a copy also, and 

Section 16 of Article II related to compactness and 

contiguousness related to State Representative and Senate 

lines was very helpful for me to look at. My current State 

Senate area extends from Lebanon County to York County through 

the Susquehanna River. Why did this happen? What was the 

rationale? Amanda Holt was one of the three people, including 

myself, presenting testimony on June 15, 2011. Yesterday~ 

Amanda's testimony discussed people before politics and a need 

for clearly defined measurable standards. And as a result, 

Amanda also said that she indicated that her mapping showed 

that the county I live in, Dauphin, could have one State 

Senator instead of two, and I like that idea from a compact 

and contiguous point of view. 

So now we have many elite citizen-mappers to help 

monitor and advocate for this redistricting process, so I 

conclude with three points for your consideration. Number 
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one, continue with meaningful opportunities for public 

participation such as website portal, multiple public 

hearings, public access t6 all data used to create maps that 

are easily usable for analysis, timely advanced disclosure and 

opportunity for meaningful public input prior to drawing 

preliminary plans, and, again, adoption of final plans. The 

public needs to know the why and the rationale for 

Pennsylvania Senate and House maps. Number two, a community 

of interest depends on how that's defined by the local 

population, and the Commission needs to know what works and 

does not work from those residents. And three, please 

consider reallocating inmate data from the Pennsylvania 

correctional facilities managed by the Pennsylvania Department 

of Corrections so the inmate is counted in their own home 

voting districts. 

Thank you for allowing me the opportunity for 

public input on this very important 10-year event, and it's my 

hope that you as a Commission will continue to strive to 

achieve transparency in this process by allowing the public in 

and considering their comments and achieving a great set of 

maps for the Senate and House of Pennsylvania. 

Thank you very much. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: Thank you, Mr. Hossler. 

Any questions for Mr. Hoss ler ? 

Senator Costa. 

Legislative Reapportionment Commission 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

525 

SENATOR COSTA: Thank you very much, Mr. 

Chairman, and certainly thank you for your testimony. 

You referenced that we should be able to justify 

the decisions with respect to each district to the public. 

What do you believe needs to be some of the things that we 

would need to demonstrate about a particular district to meet 

the satisfaction of folks who are going to be looking at what 

we do? What are some of the things that you would like us to 

demonstrate? 

MR. HOSSLER: Sure, thank you. Yes, as Senator 

Ward already indicated, like, for example, you know, ridges 

and mountains and those kinds of things and rivers, 

environmental issues, perhaps the history and cultural aspects 

of a community, perhaps even like water distribution and those 

kinds of things. But there are lots of different kinds of 

issues that can affect people, and you have to make sure that 

there are common interests in those areas. 

SENATOR COSTA: Would you say that looking at the 

nature of a district the way it's already comprised fits into 

that category then taking that history, that we have a long 

standing in that same Mon Valley district that it stays that 

way in some part, with tweaking of course, I just wonder if 

that's one of the things that folks would look at as saying 

that that's a reasonable justification. 

MR . HOSSLER: I think the primary consideration is 
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the Constitution, which talks about compactness and 

contiguousness. So, therefore, I think starting out with a 

blank sheet would be a very good idea, and then take into 

consideration secondary characteristics like community 

interests. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: And I would say, Mr. Hossler, 

we received a lot of kind of geographically-specific 

information from citizen-witnesses last night that was a big 

help to us, because five of us, even supported with crack 

staff members, can't possibly know what is going on in every 

corner of Pennsylvania. So that testimony, I think, is very 

valuable, and yours, of course, has been too. So thank you 

very much. 

MR. HOSSLER: Thank you. 
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CHAIR NORDENBERG: Our next witness, and I'm no 

longer sure who is here and who is on the screen, is Stephen 

Kurens from Philadelphia. He is on the screen, and he'd like 

to share thoughts on electoral mapping standards embraced by 

the Pennsylvania Supreme Court's decision in 2018. 

Mr. Kurens, welcome. 

MR. KURENS: Can you hear me? 

CHAI R NORDENBERG: Ye s , very well . 

MR. KURENS: Good . Thank you, and than k yo u f o r 

giving me the privilege o f being here. As you said, my name 

is Ste ve Kurens. I'm a retired atto rne y in the city o f 
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Philadelphia. I practiced almost all my life in this 

wonderful city. I am speaking on behalf of myself and for the 

Concerned Citizens for Democracy. You've already heard from a 

number of my fellow group members, and so I'm going to try to 

keep this brief and I'm going to keep this limited to the 

issue that you've really discussed this evening at some 

length, and that is the communities of interest principle and 

how it relates to your work, and specifically in light of the 

2018 decision in the League of Women Voters. 

You heard from several excellent witnesses who 

testified that the concept of communities of interest is an 

important factor for you to consider in the redistricting 

process, and this concept certainly has a great deal of 

appeal. Of course, the election districts should include 

large groups of people who share the same political interests, 

but there are several fundamental legal issues that you must 

consider while you are dealing with this factor. 

First, Articles 16 and 17 of the Pennsylvania 

Constitution, which governs your job, say that election 

districts must compact, contiguous, of equal population, and 

they must not cross boundary lines and political subdivisions 

unless absolutely necessary, all of which you know. Because I 

grew up with the Beatles, I'm going to refer to these factors 

as the fab four fact o rs. The Pennsylvania Constitution 

notably does not say that you may rely on the communities of 
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interest principle in drawing district maps. 

Second of the fab four factors go back to at least 

1911, when Congress adopted them in a reapportionment statute. 

For almost a century, the General Assembly created these 

districts in a way that conformed entirely to these factors. 

These maps are on your website. If you look at them, you'll 

see that the districts are excellent. They were not 

gerrymandered, and they did--excuse me, my dog is excited and 

has to go to the bathroom, so I'll be keeping my comments even 

briefer than I intended. They were not gerrymandered, and 

they did include communities of interest. And I'm going to 

speak to that toward the end, if my dog behaves himself. 

Third, the 2018 Pennsylvania Supreme Court 

decision in the League of Women Voters v. Pennsylvania applies 

to your work. It held that in redrawing new districts, you 

must rely on the fab four factors. The opinion further states 

that only after you have drawn the districts using these fab 

four factors may you consider other factors such as 

communities of interest. 

Fourth, from a policy standpoint, the problem with 

communities of interest, particularly from the court's 

standpoint, is that it is very vague. Unlike the fab four 

factors, which can be analyzed easily by a court, the 

communities of interest standard is not susceptible to an easy 

judicially-manageable standard. As a result, if you do rely 
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Fifth, the vagueness of the communities of 

interest standard allows legislatures to draw districts in a 

way that cracks and packs voters, which, as you know, is the 

common method of gerrymandering. For example, a liberal 

suburb can be removed-from its county and improperly added to 

a city, another district, based on an alleged community of 

interest principle. This is what, in fact, occurred in 

several circumstances in the League of Women Voters case. The 

communities of interest factor can also improperly permit 

whoever draws a district map to crack a small town and move it 

into a rural territory in another county, diluting the votes 

of the small town residents. 

In sum, the community of interest factor has 

value, particularly in insuring that minority voters are 

protected against vote dilution, but that goal can be met by 

the LRC doing what the Pennsylvania Supreme Court has said it 

should do: Drawing districts using the fab four factors, and 

only then going back and using the community of interest 

factor to make small adjustments to ensure that communities of 

interest are protected. And I believe that Professor Block, 

under questioning from Senator Ward, confirmed this view, that 

in fact there is no conflict legally or in terms of your work 

either with the policies underlying the fab four factors and 
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the community of interest factors, and achieving one does not 

stop you from achieving the policies under the other. 

Following the law will restore the public's faith in the 

voting process and build the LRC's good will. 

I wish you good luck in your work, and thank you. 

I couldn't hear you. I'm sorry. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: I wondered if you could give us 

the name of your dog so that we could add him or her to the 

witness list. 

MR. KURENS: Well, let me just say, he is a 

registered Independent, and his name is Casper. He is a 90-

pound Golden Doodle, and he is very politically active. He 

has actually registered voters in the city of Philadelphia. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: Thank you very much. 

Are there any questions for the witness? 

(There was no response.) 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: Thanks again for that terrific 

presentation. 

MR. KURENS: Thank you. You take care. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: Our next witness is John Nagle, 

who is an Emeritus Professor at Carnegie Mellon in Pittsburgh. 

I should tell you, Professor Nagle, that we had a young 

witness testify last night. He had won a Draw the Lines 

Contest, he will be a freshman at CMU this fall, and my sense 

is that his ideas about this process are very close to your 
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own. We'll measure that, though, after you share your ideas. 

Welcome. 

DR. NAGLE: Thank you, Chair Nordenberg. Yes, I 

did see that. His name is Kyle Hynes, and I am looking 

forward to meeting him when he comes to Carnegie Mellon. I 

might also mention that Carnegie Mellon seemed to be a hotbed 

of people interested in this subject. Besides Jonathan 

Cervas, there's also Wes Pegden, but now that you're Chair, I 

think you've surpassed Carnegie Mellon's influence in this 

particular issue. 

So I'm coming here taking, well, the same view 

that Kyle Hynes had, but perhaps a minority view. I wish to 

advocate for maps that have overall partisan fairness and that 

are responsive, which is what Kyle was emphasizing. While I 

think these are the most important criteria, I realize that 

the Pennsylvania Constitution prioritizes the traditional 

so-called neutral criteria of compactness and minimizing 

splits of political subdivisions. I, therefore, am reduced to 

simply advocating that you consider fairness and 

responsiveness as secondary criteria, while still satisfying 

the traditional criteria. 

Now, I read this thing out, and I realize that I 

am going to be a couple minutes over time, and I know how 

rushed we are, so I'm going to try to paraphrase a few things. 

The first comment that I want to make is that 

Legislative Reapportionment Commission 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

2 1 

22 

23 

24 

25 

partisan fairness is something that can be easily measured, 

and DRA, Dave's Redistricting App, provides you with many 
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best ones are something we call the seats bias, and also the 

votes bias. So just for reference here, the current 

Pennsylvania Senate map has a seats bias of 8.8 percent, and 

that translates to a most probable outcome of 21 Democratic 

seats in the Pennsylvania Senate versus 29 GOP seats. That 

happens to be rather close to reality. Another simple measure 

is the votes measure, and it gives the estimated deviation 

from 50 percent of the vote for half the seats. The current 

Pennsylvania Senate map has a vote deviation of 3.1 percent. 

That translates to Democrats having to win 53.1 percent of the 

vote for half the seats. Of course, actual elections don't 

usually result in SO-percent vote or SO-percent seats. But 

standard political science methodology enables filling in the 

gaps by drawing a seats-votes curve with rather small 

uncertainties of the order of half a percent. DRA, Dave's 

Redistricting App, shows the seats-votes curves in its 

advanced section, and I urge users of DRA to go to the 

advanced section rather than just stopping at the analytics 

section, because that section actually has an inferior measure 

of bias, but let me not pick on DRA now, because it does great 

with so many different things. 

So I'd also like to brag just a little bit, 
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because before ORA had established this methodology, I 

actually used it for the 2018 congressional map, and my 

estimate before the election actually nailed the outcome. So, 

but I want to emphasize something. The 2018 congressional 

election had a 9 to 9 split between the two major parties, but 

that only occurred when Democrats won 54 percent of the 

two-party vote, so that's a 4-percent vote bias that favors 

the GOP. It's rather amusing that there have been complaints 

that the court drew a democratic gerrymandered map, which 

obviously is not the case. Another way to look at the 2018 

congressional map is that if the GOP had won 54 percent of the 

vote, the seats-vote curve predicts that it would have won 13 

seats and not 9 seats. 

So the question, of course, is why is the 

congressional map drawn under a Democratic court still biased 

in favor of the GOP? But the reason is well known. It's 

because the traditional criteria for redistricting exacerbates 

the political geography of the State. These criteria 

automatically pack city Democrats in Pennsylvania into fewer 

districts. The consequence is that the representation of 

progressive voters is diluted relative to that of conservative 

voters. Believing that the so-called neutral criteria of 

compactness and non-splitting will lead to fairness is what 

political scientists have called the myth of nonpartisan 

cartography. They also call it unintentional gerrymandering. 
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It's not done intentionally by a Commission, it's done by the 

actual criteria. So these traditional and so-called neutral 

criteria are simply unfair to progressive city voters like me. 

However, that is our playing field, and it ties 

the hands of the LRC. Nevertheless, the LRC's hands may not 

be completely tied. You can still choose maps that are a bit 

fairer and more responsive to voters while still satisfying 

the traditional criteria. Although Republicans will likely 

object, they should be comforted that even the fairest 

traditional map will probably still require Democrats to win 

52 percent of the vote to obtain half the seats. This 

assessment is based upon legislative maps I have seen that 

have been drawn by a variety of mappers. 

So, let me just finish by commenting on the point 

that Kyle Hynes brought up, which is responsiveness to voters, 

' 
more responsive. He explained it very well why responsiveness 

is an important thing to look at, and since I'm probably 

running short on time, I probably shouldn't repeat why it's 

important. But I do realize that as I look at the Commission, 

that four of you are leaders of Caucuses who may not be very 

interested or very open to having more competitive districts, 

because you have to have more competitive districts in order 

to have more responsiveness to the voters. And so it's going 

to be a hard sell for four of you, but I'm hoping that the 

Chair may consider responsiveness. 
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So in summary, to the extent possible, I'm urging 

you to consider reducing bias and increasing responsiveness as 

criteria to include in your deliberations. When you have 

collected many maps that satisfy the traditional criteria, 

please consider having less bias and greater responsiveness as 

tie-breaking criteria. 

So thank you for giving me this time to testify. 

I apologize for taking the extra two minutes, which I think I 

probably have taken. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: Thank you very much, Professor 

Nagle. 

Are there any questions for my Carnegie Mellon 

neighbor? 

SENATOR COSTA: Not really a question, Mr. 

Chairman, just I've worked with Dr. Nagle and have had 

numerous Zoom calls with him over the past two years or so, 

and I just want to say thank you for your commitment to the 

work you're doing. And certainly, we will consider the 

criteria that you've laid out as part of our conversation as 

we go forward, and particularly as it relates to your analysis 

of some of the Senate districts as well. Thank you. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: I probably should note, too, 

that Professor Nagle did recommend both Jonathan Cervas and 

Lee Hachadoorian to Senator Costa as very capable experts. 

Jonathan Cervas is now our mapping consultant, and Lee 
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Hachadoorian was here yesterday as a witness, and so we're 

indebted to you for that too. 

DR. NAGLE: Well, thank you for considering my 

input. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: You're welcome. 

Our next witness is Arlene Edmonds from 
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Philadelphia. The subject that she wishes to address is that 

local citizens need fair districts to address their concerns 

as a community. 

Ms. Edmonds, welcome. 

MS. EDMONDS: Welcome. Thank you. As an active 

member of my community, I have recently been bombarded with 

questions and concerns about what redistricting is and how it 

will affect individual Pennsylvania voters. I'm in contact 

with citizens from all walks of life. I have owned my home in 

northwest Philadelphia more than 30 years, basically my whole 

adult life, and I have been an active member in my community. 

As a news correspondent, I wrote 10,000 articles for virtually 

all the community papers in the Philadelphia region for 30 

years. I have also participated in the Philadelphia School 

Council, registered voters and oversaw volunteers during the 

Presidential race, taught thousands of college students as an 

adjunct, taught piano and dance at community centers, and have 

been a volunteer for redistricting focus groups for the past 

two years. As a mother of two voting daughters, a grandmother 
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my family and the many other community voices. 
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My first concern is to ensure that voters in the 

southeastern Pennsylvania area retain their current number of 

legislators. Since the Commonwealth's population loss are in 

central, northern, and western Pennsylvania, these are the 

areas that should lose the seats in the Pennsylvania House. 

Since Philadelphia is a city of neighborhoods, redistricting 

should avoid splitting wards to the greatest extent possible. 

Communities of color, in particular African-American and 

Latino ones, must not be cracked or packed into legislative 

districts that disempower our votes. This means when 

legislativ~ lines are drawn, they should stay in municipal 

lines when possible. 

I know firsthan~, since I live a couple of blocks 

from the Philadelphia's northern city line, even though I 

often cross the city line to go to the supermarket or the 

bank, most of my life is impacted by what happens on the 

Philadelphia side of the line. If I call 911, the Cheltenham 

Police picks up, because their cell phone tower is closest to 

my house, but I am immediately transferred to the Philadelphia 

Police Department. Though Cheltenham High is within walking 

distance of my house, the children on my block do not go to 

that school. Consequently, our voting districts should also 

stay within the municipal lines. Districts should be compact 
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so that all citizens get their issues addressed and resolved. 

The cracking of voters across urban and suburban lines in 

Philadelphia should be reduced as much as possible. 

The division of votes across the county lines is 

even more evident in the far northeast section of 

Philadelphia, as well as west and southwest Philadelphia. The 

far northeast is adjunct to Bucks County. While the far 

northeast is urban, Bucks County is largely farmlands. Those 

in these densely populated areas in west and southwest 

Philadelphia have more similar issues than those in Delaware 

County, which they are adjacent to. A lot of them share the 

same districts and go across those lines, so those 

Philadelphia residents would have their issues better met if 

they were in the same district within the city. 

Lastly, consideration should be given to the 

cultural dynamics of communities. If, for instance, there are 

citizens who are more comfortable communicating in Spanish, 

French, or other languages but they live across the city line 

or current district line, then some accommodations could be 

m~de so that they are in the same district. This is the case 

for neighborhoods east of where I live along East Cheltenham 

Avenue. This also is the case in other parts of the city and 

region, the neighborhood of Asians, Africans, Caribbean, and 

South Americans who are citizens who speak many languages and 

live across the city and suburban line. This would ensure 
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that their unique concerns are addressed. 

Consequently, I would hope that this Commission 

would carefully take all these points into consideration. 

Reapportionment should be done fairly. The diversity of 

Pennsylvania must be treated justly. This will ensure that 

all citizens, including voters of color, are represented. 
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In 

fact, I would hope Pennsylvania, with all its diversity, would 

be leading the nation in this regard. 

Thank you. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: Thank you very much, Ms. 

Edmonds, for that very helpful statement. 

Chairman. 

Are there any questions? 

Leader Mcclinton. 

REPRESENTATIVE McCLINTON: Thank you, Mr. 

It is not a question. It's simply a comment. 

Since you highlighted some of my district, both 

Delaware County and southwest Philadelphia, I just wanted to 

highlight your public participation and your leadership in 

this civics base mix, Arlene. Talking about your voting 

children and your grandchildren and explaining to people what 

redistricting is and how engaging it is and how we do have 

those invisible lines, that's what I call it when I'm in 

Delaware County, because everybody says, you live in Ph~lly. 

I say, where is the line? Show me where the line is? It's 

almost invisible. We can't actually see what divides us, but 
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I appreciate your perspective from the northwestern side of 

the city and all that you had to contribute this evening. 

Thank you. 

MS. EDMONDS: Okay, you're welcome. 
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CHAIR NORDENBERG: Well, we all add our thanks to 

that personal testimonial. Thanks for being here tonight. 

MS. EDMONDS: Okay, you're welcome. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: Our next speaker is Juan 

Giarrizzo, also from Philadelphia, who'd like to share some 

thoughts on efforts to manipulate maps. 

Welcome. 

MR. GIARRIZZO: Good evening, Chairman Nordenberg 

and Members of the Commission, and thank you for the 

opportunity to present my testimony here today. I am a 

Venezuelan-American immigrant and an active community leader 

to the Venezuelan and Hispanic community here in the city of 

Philadelphia. I act as the Executive Director of Gente de 

Venezuela, a nonprofit organization focused on the support of 

Venezuelan immigrants in the area of Philadelphia and in the 

United States at large, providing support to immigrants in the 

shape of advocacy, donations, assisted releases through 

immigration that they need from ICE, promote vaccination 

campaigns, and meanwhile we also promote our culture. 

Additionally, I am one of the founding members of Alianza 

Latina Philadelphia, which is a group of Hispanic community 
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leaders that decided to organize together in order to increase 

the political participation of the members of our communities 

and promote strategic alliances between our groups. 

Today, I'm here because I'm fully aware that we 

are approaching the moment to outline the district maps that 

will determine the opportunity of my community to access 

political representation in key political spaces. Political 

representation is key to access resources, and cracking or 

packing districts will negatively impact my community that is 

historically politically underrepresented. These have led to 

a lack of trust in the political and legislative process. 

Based on the Census data projections, we see a 

growth in the Hispanic community in Philadelphia and the State 

of Pennsylvania. For example, north Philadelphia is an area 

with a large Hispanic community and has been cracked in a way 

that we only have two Hispanic Representatives, when the 

numbers suggest that we should have more. So in the State of 

Pennsylvania, just to be clear, we're approaching a million 

Hispanic people, and we should have a fair representation in 

the maps that will allow us to be represented. Probably to 

gain at least three seats from Philadelphia and two 

Representatives fr om the Lehigh Valley. 

So today I'm here just to ask this Commission to 

guarantee that the numbers and composition of our p opulatio n 

are preserved and translated fairly in the maps, staying 
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within municipal lines, keeping districts compact, and 

prioritizing keeping similar communities of interest together 

in a single district. These Members of the Commission will 

create the best State legislative maps and provide appropriate 

representation to our community and all communities involved. 

Thank you so much. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: Thank you very much, sir. 

Are there any questions or comments? 

SENATOR K. WARD: I have one real quick, sir. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: Senator Ward. 

SENATOR K. WARD: You said there were a million 

Hispanics in Pennsylvania. Are there other areas in addition 

to Philadelphia where there are, you know, a large number 

together, like in a community? 

MR. GIARRIZZO: Yeah. So there are increasing 

numbers in central Pennsylvania. We have seen increasing 

numbers in Reading. So I think one of the challenges that the 

count in this community has, and many of us of the Hispanic 

leaders have faced this challenge, is when the Census 

approaches, and not only the Hispanic community, we have 

undercounted communities that are afraid to represent 

themselves in the Census, so we have numbers that do not 

necessarily represent where they really are, but I will say 

central Pennsylvania and Reading and Allegheny. So areas that 

we thought are n o t as representative of the Hispanic community 
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have seen a growth recently. 

SENATOR K. WARD: Thank you. Thank you. We may 

be in touch with you to find out if you think there are 

clusters that we should take into consideration or that we are 

able to, okay? 

MR. GIARRIZZO: I will be very happy to do so, and 

I know a large amount of leaders that will be happy to help 

with this. 

SENATOR K. WARD: Thank you. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: That would be a big help, and 

it gives me a chance to remind all of our witnesses and 

everyone who is following this hearing that our website is up, 

it will accept written comments, and this is the kind of thing 

that would be very helpful to us. So thank you very much. 

Reading. 

Our next witness then is Claudia Guzman from 

She is going to talk about Make the Road, and we 

heard something about this last night, and she is joined by 

her interpreter, Diana Robinson. Ms. Guzman. 

(Ms. Robinson translated for Ms. Guzman.) 

MS. GUZMAN: Good afternoon, my name is Claudia 

Guzman. I have lived in the city of Reading for 12 years, and 

I belong to the 6th Congressional District. I am a member 

leader of Make the Road Pennsylvania that has over 10,000 

members in Allentown, Reading, and northeast Philadelphia. 

am here representing my neighbors, friends, and family that 
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are part of this community. 

Redistricting is important to me because the needs 

are increasing in our community. For example, we do not have 

afterschool programs for our youth. It affects me directly 

because my son plays football and basketball. The Reading 

School District does not have sufficient funds for youth 

programs. There is also no technical training schools for 

youth or women. The same answer is that there are no funds. 

There are no green spaces for our children, no recreation 

spaces. I'm sure that if we were included in fair map 

drawings we would be represented by someone who knows our 

needs and cares about improving the quality of life in our 

community because they align with our values. 

Thank you. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: Thank you both very much. 

Those are important points. 

Are there any questions for Ms. Guzman? 

(There was no response.) 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: If not, I will say thank you 

again, and we may well also be following up with you. 

MS. ROBINSON~ We would be happy to follow up. 

You know, Latino populations are growing across the State of 

Pennsylvania. Like was mentioned in Reading, Hazleton, and 

Luzerne County is also growing. And Lehigh County has a large 

population of Latinos as well. 

Legislative Reapportionment Commission 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

2 5 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: . Thank you, again. Gracias . 

MS. GUZMAN: Gracias. 
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CHAIR NORDENBERG: Our next speaker is Shakira 

Jackson, who is going to speak again on a topic that we heard 

about last night, and that is colleges as communities of 

interest. 

Ms. Jackson, welcome. 

MS. JACKSON: Thank you so much for having me. 

So, good evening, Chairman Nordenberg and Members of the 

Commission. My name is Shakira Unique Jackson, and I am a 

third year bachelor history/political science student, and a 

political activist in Philadelphia. I am also the president 

of three student organizations known as the National Honor 

Society for Leadership and Success, Student Government 

Association, and Young Americans for Liberty. All of these 

organizations shine light to student community service and 

voter registration. 

Being a west Philadelphia native, I have made it 

my obligation to increase voter and civic engagement and get 

as many young people out to the polls as I can. I come from a 

very impoverished neighborhood with little resources and peers 

who had little to no information about the power behind 

voting. I am currently a Democracy Fellow for Campus Vote 

Project representing the University of Pittsburgh. Campus 

Vote Project i s a national nonpartisan organization that works 
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programming to help students register to vote, cast their 
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ballots, and to be civically engaged. I am living proof that 

not only did the Campus Vote Project increase my knowledge on 

voter engagement, but so did my college campus. I have even 

been provided with resources and information on 

gerrymandering, what unfair behavior at the polls looks like, 

mail-in ballot information, and more. 

I am . here today to urge the Commission to make 

colleges and universities a community of interest as you 

undergo the redistricting process because it is the voice of 

the youth that will play and is playing a role in our movement 

as well as our democracy. Our existing maps should not be 

used as a starting point in this process because of their 

imbalance. And let's face it, it's time for a change. After 

all, the world has changed drastically. In the past 10 years, 

our districts must reflect and we've seen very different 

changes. Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr., once said, "Change does 

not roll in on the wheels of inevitability, but comes through 

continuous struggle." We have learned from the past, and now 

it is time to move forward. 

And my statistics that I have seen, we have seen 

that college students are an important demographic. For 

example, politicians are being forced to adapt to the new 

generation, and even with things such as them getting new 
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social media, such as TikTok, and, of course, Snapchat. These 

are all examples of what our society is leaning towards. 

Colleges are alliances, and so I, along with many 

other students in the State, often feel forgotten by our State 

legislators. Change is upon us, and our current legislative 

map has numerous examples of campuses being split into 

different districts. I have friends and colleagues who attend 

Drexel University and Thomas Jefferson University, and there 

is a pattern demonstrated on these two college campuses, along 

with many other campuses. Drexel University is split into two 

different State Senate districts, and Thomas Jefferson is 

drawn into two different House districts. They have 

personally told me that from this they feel their voice does 

not matter. 

If you had not taken in a word that I have said 

thus far, I want you to take in this: There is a problem with 

our current legislative maps. We the people, and we the 

youth, voices are coming before you because we believe in 

improvement. As I come before you as a representation of the 

African-American and youth diaspora, I ask that you draw maps 

that recognize the needs of Pennsylvania's college population 

and all other communities of interest. The new maps that are 

created should be formed with all Pennsylvania's equity first. 

We are all entitled to racial fairness, and full 

representation for everybody should be demonstrate d. 
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College-age voters, particularly minorities, deserve a chance 

to choose representatives who will be open-minded to the 

citizens' concerns who make up our communities. 

Thank you so much for your time and consideration, 

and remember, change starts with me just as much as change 

starts with you. Thank you. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: Thank you very much. 

And since I already have positively acknowledged 

Villanova, Penn State, and Carnegie Mellon, I had to note that 

you did mention the University of Pittsburgh. 

Are there any questions or comments for Ms. 

Jackson? 

Leader Benninghoff. 

REPRESENTATIVE BENNINGHOFF: Thank you. 

Thank you, Ms. Jackson, for your testimony and 

your energy. We can see you're very engaged and you care a 

lot about this. 

You mentioned the colleges as being communities of 

interest. There's been a lot of dialogue today regarding 

quartered living and whether or not st~dents should be counted 

where they apply for school, or their parents may count them 

in their taxes, or should they be counted at the colleges. Am 

I to assume you're advocating that they be counted at the 

college that they're attending at the time they're attending? 

MS. JACKSON: Yes, correct. 
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REPRESENTATIVE BENNINGHOFF: Okay. Just wanted to 

clarify that because, as I said, there's been a lot of 

discussion on those types of populations. 

Thank you, again, for your testimony. 

MS. JACKSON: Thank you. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: One item of personal interest 

that I can recall from last evening is a witness testifying 

that there was a line crossing the Penn State campus that had 

one-third of a residence hall in one district and two-thirds 

of that same residence hall in another district. We were only 

happy that it was Leader Benninghoff who had two-thirds of 

that residence hall. 

Thank you again, Ms. Jackson. 

SENATOR K. WARD: Can I just add something? 

You know, it's interesting because, you know, 

students can vote where they want to vote. But pretend they 

came from Ohio, but their parents are using them as a 

deduction on their income taxes, yet they are living here and 

voting here. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: Thank you, Senator Ward. 

Our next speaker is William Kirk from Doylestown. 

He is going to advance the proposition that gerrymandering 

erodes ethics of the doer and citizens' belief in the v ote. 

Mr. Kirk, welcome. 

MR. KIRK: Can you hear me? Can I get an 
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affirmative? Can you hear me? 

mute is off. 

person. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: We can't hear you right now. 

MR. KIRK: I'm talking. The mute is off. The 

SENATOR K. WARD: I can hear you. 

MR. KIRK: You can hear me? 

SENATOR K. WARD: I can hear you, but I'm not in 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: Okay. 

MR. KIRK: How about now? 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: That's great. 

MR. KIRK: Okay. How much time do I hav~? 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: Five minutes. 
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MR. KIRK: Five minutes. Okay. All right. Then 

I'll start in the middle of this. 

This is August 4, 2021. The U.S. is starting its 

245th year, and we are here today discussing whether or not 

cheating is okay. How far have we not come? Not very, 

unfortunately. We're suffering through one of the deepest 

distrust periods of our voting process. Eighteen States have 

enacted 30 different laws this year that will make it harder 

for some to vote. The reason for this new obsession is to 

counter perceived widespread voter fraud. But gerrymandering, 

which is voter fraud at the highest level, is not being 

challenged by any of these new laws. Incidentally, the U.S. 
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House of Representatives has sent HR 1 to the Senate for 

passage which would curtail gerrymandering, but no one expects 

the Senate to vote for it, despite a majority of Americans 

approving it. Pennsylvania's U.S. Congressman personally told 

I 

me, Brian Fitzpatrick, he was all for ending gerrymandering, 

but he, too, voted against HR 1 when it came up for a vote, so 

it seems unlikely that the Federal government will offer us 

any help here . . And those who are involved in gerrymandering 

have sacrificed their good name, their heritage, their legacy. 

How do they explain that to their children, their spouses, and 

their constituents - I lie when I have to? 

So we have to process the drawing of lines, and 

the process is flawed. It allows a dominant party to ensure 

its power even when the population leans in a different 

direction, so it can be appropriately called a cancer, and we 

have come to the opportunity here to excise it out. It makes 

no sense to let the very legislators who are running for 

office draw their own lines - fox in the hen house. Every 

line they draw is subject to the indefensible charge of 

conflict of interest, and imagine the consequences of letting 

this continue. An unpopular Representative or Senator can 

have their district changed so that they don't even live in it 

anymore, or just as bad, threaten with it in order to make 

them comply with others' interests . This is crazy and 

disappointing that an august body and the Congress of 

Legislative Reapportionment Commission 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Pennsylvania would hold on to a tool so ripe for corruption 

and so blind a 10-year-old could see through it. 
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Gerrymandering is theft. It rigs the vote, is 

equivalent to spitball pitching, injecting steroids, and 

playing with loaded dice or deflated footballs. If we engage 

in it, it tarnishes our dealing with our mates, our friends, 

parents, and children. This is partners and customers. It 

says I am a crook, everything about me is suspect, and 

cheating is how I got to where I am today. Every President 

since Reagan, except for Trump, has called for an end to 

gerrymandering. 

Do you not wonder how the people who promote 

gerrymandering can live with themselves? I'm guessing the pay 

is good. After all, they're stealing from all of us. But 

please excuse me if I refrain from shaking your hands - I need 

every finger I've got. 

We have to do this. It's just so legislators can 

work passing laws for the people instead of drawing funny 

lines. 

Thanks for your time and the opportunity to speak 

to you today. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: Thank you, Mr. Kirk. 

Any comments or questions? 

(There was no response.) 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: If not, our next speaker is 
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Philip Kuhl from Philadelphia, who wishes to advocate for an 

end to partisan gerrymandering. 
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MR. KUHL: Good evening, Mr. Chairman, Members of 

the Commission. My name is Philip Kuhl, and I live in 

Philadelphia in the 200th PA House District, the 4th 

Pennsylvania Senate District, and the 3rd U.S. Senate [sic] 

District. I've lived in the State of Pennsylvania for 18 

years, and I consider myself part of the Fair Districts PA 

group. I'm here as well to speak out against partisan 

gerrymandering of legislative districts. I strongly believe 

that the practice of drawing district lines so as to either 

dilute the voting power of citizens or to create safe 

districts are both bad for our State and for our nation, and I 

care about our State and our nation, as I know you do also. 

So I'm here to say that you should not be looking at voting 

patterns when you draw maps. 

Partisan gerrymandering renders our elected 

officials unresponsive to the will of the voters. And as 

importantly, it corrodes the faith of our citizens and the 

democratic process, and restoring that faith has never been 

more urgent. I urge you, the Commissioners, to draw maps that 

respect traditional districting criteria, such as compactness 

and respect for geographic and political boundaries. The 

citizens of Pennsylvania are watching. 

Thank you. 
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CHAIR NORDENBERG: Thank you, sir. 

Any comments or questions for Mr. Kuhl? 

(There was no response.) 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: Thank you, again. 

Our next speaker is Eric Lindgren from Holbrook. 
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He wishes to speak about Senate District 46 in Greene County. 

So we're getting the southwest corner of the State involved, 

and I will say, Mr. Lindgren, again, that hearing about 

particular issues that exist in parts of the Commonwealth that 

we may not know -- well, we certainly don't know as well as 

you do -- is very helpful to us, so thank you for being with 

us. 

You may be on mute. 

MR. LINDGREN: My microphone is not working. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: We've got you now. 

MR. LINDGREN: All right, you can hear me? 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: Yes, very well. 

MR. LINDGREN: Can you hear me? 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: Yes. 

MR. LINDGREN: Okay, wonderful. I'll say the 

same: My name is Dr. Eric Lindgren, and I have a Ph.D. in 

political science and several published papers on 

gerrymandering, redistricting, and district elections. I 

currently teach data and analytics and policy online at Johns 

Hopkins University. My wife and I live on 30 acres near 
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Holbrook in Greene County. We're in the 50th House District, 

represented by Pam Snyder, and the 46th Senate District, 

represented by Camera Bartolotta. My family has roots in 

Pennsylvania going back to 1970. My father taught at Slippery 

Rock University for almost 50 years. My wife's family has 

lived on and owned this property where I am now in Greene 

County for over 100 years. 

I'm here speaking in my personal capacity and not 

affiliated with any organization. I have two points I want to 

make before this Commission. I urge the Commission to 

construct competitive districts and not gerrymander the 

districts to artificially advantage any interest or party. 

Furthermore, I'd like to advocate for a different 

configuration for Greene County's Senate district. First, 

I'll briefly discuss my research in the arguments against 

gerrymandering. 

Gerrymandering is fundamentally unfair and leads 

to voter disillusionment, apathy, less competitive elections, 

more extreme representatives, and loss of accountability. My 

research and the scholarly consensus suggests that competitive 

elections are the best way to ensure that voters have their 

interests represented and to hold legislators accountable to 

the people. I'm urging the committee to create maps with the 

largest number of competitive districts it can and to require 

competition as an explicit criteria for the creation of all 
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Pennsylvania's districts. 

I am going to include to the Commission an 

attachment to my testimony, a copy of my published article 

entitled "The Effect of Electoral Competitiveness on 

Ideological Voting Patterns in the U.S. House, 2002-10, " 

published in June of 2014. In this paper, my coauthor, 
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Priscilla Southwell, and I conduct a cross-sectional time 

series analysis of the voting patterns and ideological 

alignment of U.S. House Members for an entire 10-year 

redistricting cycle. We found that the more competitive the 

race, the more moderate is the voting record of the winning 

candidate in the next session of Congress. We also found that 

a large margin of victory leads to more ideological extreme 

voting records, and that more homogeneously partisan districts 

are more likely to have representatives with more extremely 

ideological voting patterns. This suggests that competitive 

elections can both hold representatives accountable to their 

district and have a moderating effect over all. 

This paper uses DW-nominate scores, which capture 

the ideological leanings and votes of the legislatures, and 

the methodology can be somewhat hard to understand, but when I 

say moderate, I mean closer to the ideal center o f the 

aggregate democratic will, not some static middle. And while 

our analysis looked at the U.S. House of Representatives, 

there is every reason to think that these findings would also 
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apply to electoral representation at the State level. 

And now I'd like to briefly speak about the Senate 

district which will contain Greene County. I believe the 

current configuration of our district does not keep 

communities with similar needs and interests and livelihoods 

together. It includes socioeconomic communities which have 

interests out of alignment with the needs of rural Greene 

County residents, and I'm urging the committee to consider 

combining Greene County with a more similar population located 

in Fayette County to make a more compact district. As many of 

you know, Greene County is a very small rural county with a 

population of around 36,000 residents, so it's not a question 

of if Greene will have to be combined with another county to 

make a Senate district, but which county or counties to 

combine it with. 

The current configuration of Senate District 46 

includes populations north of Washington running almost all 

the way to Aliquippa, and including parts of Beaver County. 

The areas north of Washington have experienced growth over the 

past 10 years and are now considered part of the metropolitan 

Pittsburgh area. They don't share the same infrastructure 

needs that we do, especially access to rural broadband. Their 

economy is not like Greene's, in that they're near an airport 

and have a natural gas facility coming soon. The new turnpike 

extension will also add to those growth trends. The county of 
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Fayette shares more with Greene than Beaver and northern 

Washington. Many Fayette County residents are also in House 

District 50. There are many connecting roads. We share 

farming and mining as the dominant industries. Our schools 

have many competitions. 

I compiled some statistics from the Census, and 

Greene and Fayette share similar demographic profiles. The 

table I have, and I will submit my written comments to the 

Commission, show that Greene and Fayette have higher 

percentages of persons living in poverty, persons without 

health insurance, disabled residents, than Beaver or 
I 

558 

Washington Counties, and has lower percentages of persons with 

bachelor's degrees and households with broadband internet 

access than those counties. A more compact district would 

also increase voters' perception of legitimacy and make 

campaigning for the district's interests more coherent and 

logical, potentially leading to more competitive elections. 

Our House district is much more compact and makes more sense, 

and it has very competitive elections almost every cycle. 

In a second published paper, "The Effect of 

Redistricting Commissions on Electoral Competitiveness" that 

was published in the Journal of Politics and Law in 2013, also 

with Priscilla Southwell, we found that districts drawn 

without using gerrymandering tactics and designed to promote 

competitiveness led to more competitive races over the entire 
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decade with a margin of victory in those districts 10 to 12 

points closer than in those districts drawn with unrestricted 

rules. I will gladly submit that paper along with my 

testimony. This, combined with the research that I mentioned 

earlier, could lead to a virtuous cycle where competitive 

districts lead to more moderate representation, which leads to 

better reflections of the popular will in government. Then 

the voters can replace legislators who don't reflect that will 

through competitive elections in the next cycle, or reward 

those that do. 

I want to thank the committee for allowing me to 

speak. I would encourage you to increase the opportunities 

for people of the State to have a voice in the process, and I 

urge you to prioritize competition in your criteria for 

creating districts. 

Thank you for allowing me to speak. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: Thank you very much, and we 

would welcome the opportunity to receive and consider your 

papers. So thank you for that, too. 

MR. LINDGREN: Thank you. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: Our next speaker is Duncan 

MacLean. He is a retired physician. 

DR. MacLEAN: Good evening. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: I'm sorry. Your photograph 

wasn't the one that was corning up, so I was looking at the 
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technical crew, and I know this mari. He is active in Fair 

Districts, he has attended many of our hearings, and he is 

here tonight to talk about the impact of gerrymandering on 

House District 102, or gerrymandering Lebanon County style. 

Welcome, Dr. MacLean. 

DR. MacLEAN: Good evening. I, too, thank the 
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Commission and you, Chairman Nordenberg, for affording 

citizens the opportunity to present testimony to you. As 

mentioned, my name is Duncan MacLean, and I am indeed a 

recently retired medical doctor who has lived and practiced 

almost all of my professional life in Pennsylvania, including 

the last 14 years in South Lebanon Township. I am a 

registered Republican and have dutifully voted in every 

election since becoming eligible .. But I grew up in Latin 

America as the son of an international businessman, and so I'm 

keenly aware of how precious and fragile is our democracy here 

in the States. I have been attracted to the nonpartisan push 

against gerrymandering sponsored by the League of Women Voters 

and Fair Districts PA and became a rank-and-file volunteer. 

I present this testimony today in favor of fair 

redistricting by explaining how gerrymandering has hit close 

to my home in House District 102. Let me start by showing how 

the map of District 102 changed between 2001 and 2013. You 

can see here that what I call the Annville pseudopod, or 

tentacle, was switched from District 101 and stuck onto 
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District 102. It just so happens that Representative Russ 

Diamond lives in Annville, and so this change allowed him to 

run for the 102nd seat in 2014, and he's won ever since, 

either unopposed or with 70 percent of the vote. Now, 

Representative Diamond works hard at his job, but because he 

needs this map to keep his seat, I have the impression that he 

feels beholden to the powerful map drawers, who are the party 

leaders. 

Let me give you four examples of how he answers to 

those leaders. One, he votes for procedural rules that 

concentrate these leaders' power. Two, he blocked Fair 

Districts' proposal for an independent citizens' commission 

for redistricting. Three, he took no action on teachers' 

pension shortfall. And, four, he took no action on high lead 

levels in Lebanon city kids. 

Let me explain. Number one, at the beginning of 

each session, Representative Diamond votes for procedural 

rules that give leaders near total control over which bills do 

and don't get a vote. This means, for example, that Fair 

Districts PA's proposal for an independent citizens 

redistricting commission was blocked from getting a vote in 

the State Government Committee. Representative Diamond sits 

on that committee. He ignored that an independent commission 

is used in eight other States and was supported in a 2019 poll 

by 67 percent of Pennsylvanians, so that's number two. On top 
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of that, the current district map slices and dices school 

districts here locally and dilutes their focus among multiple 

legislators. So number three is no focused action on teacher 

pension reform. And number four is no attention to toxic lead 

exposure especially in inner city Lebanon, which is combined 

in District 101 with the county's most affluent schools. 

Lebanon is one of 18 Pennsylvania cities with a higher percent 

of kids with higher lead levels than even Flint, Michigan. 

Now, I understand that the Annville tentacle is 

not the root of all problems but rather a symptom of unchecked 

power of the powerful. I also understand that fair districts 

are not the whole solution but only a necessary first step. 

But Pennsylvanians do want compact, contiguous districts, no 

racial discrimination, no municipal divisions, and lines that 

do promote responsiveness and competitiveness, and please, no 

obvious Annville tentacles that benefit a candidate or 

incumbent but not the public good. 

I have submitted to the Commission a PowerPoint 

document with more details. Thank you,for allowing me to 

present this testimony. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: Thank you very much, Doctor. 

And just· so you know, all of the Members of the Commission 

have your written submission, and we also placed copies of it 

here in the room. 

DR. MacLEAN: Thank you. 
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CHAIR NORDENBERG: Senator Costa has a question. 

SENATOR COSTA: Thank you. Very briefly. So 

we've heard a lot of testimony about school districts and 

co·llege campuses, for example, being communities of interest. 

You referenced them as well. Do you believe that, given your 

testimony about the splitting of all these school districts, 

that that should be a high criteria, high priority? 

DR. MacLEAN: Yes, I do think those are 

communities of interest. And, for example, we have a very 

high Hispanic population in Lebanon city, and we would like 

that considered. They should be put in a same district with 

some of the northern suburbs of Lebanon who also have Hispanic 

populations and have similar interests. 

SENATOR COSTA: Thank you very much. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: Thank you, Doctor. 

We have passed the 7 o'clock hour, but we have 

three extraordinary witnesses yet to testify, so you'll all be 

glad that you stayed beyond our end point. 

The first of those witnesses is Monica Parrilla, 

who is from Philadelphia and who wishes to talk about the fact 

that the State legislature should reflect the population. 

Welcome, Ms. Parrilla. 

MS. PARRILLA: Thank you so much. Good evening, 

everyone. My name is Monica Parrilla, and I represent AGAS in 

Philadelphia. I have worked as a canvasser for years 
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campaigns, food drives, COVID relief, voter education and 

registration, and I work as a mechanic. I own a body shop, 
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and have even used my office at the body shop as a place where 

my community comes for me to just translate documents from 

English to Spanish so that my community understands what they 

are getting in the mail. 

One thing that I have experienced firsthand is the 

population that goes unseen. And what I mean by that is, 

during my canvassing, the amount of single homes that are 

converted into multi-family homes that are like under the 

radar; the amount of teenagers living with friends to make 

ends meet; the amount of grandparents that are now raising 

their grandchildren; the amount of homelessness, people in 

Kensington that don't have a physical address; the amount of 

Americans that migrated to Philadelphia after Hurricane Maria 

and the earthquakes that rocked Puerto Rico, for example. 

There's a huge population of Latinos that it's hard to account 

for in reality, and you can't account for it until you see it, 

physically walk through the streets block to block and see it. 

I want to believe that I live in a State that has 

fair representati on, but the reality is it's difficult to 

quantify the magnitude or the density of what I physically 

canvassed. Our government is meant to be a representative 

democracy, and it should be a representative of the many 
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populations that it serves, and those should also include the 

super marginalized communities that are not accounted for 

which I have explained. 

Eastern Pennsylvania definitely needs more 

representation to represent the diverse amount of people that 

live here. 

Thank you for allowing me to speak. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: Thank you very much for that 

compelling testimony. 

Are there any questions for the witness? 

(There was no response.) 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: If not, I say thank you, again, 

for being with us tonight. 

Our next witness is Jean Weston, who is from 

Doylestown. She is going to talk about Bucks County 

communities of interest, and we did hear about Bucks County 

last night, too, so this should be reinforcing. 

Welcome, Ms. Weston. 

MS. WESTON: Thank you. And thank you for 

permitting me to speak today. I'd like to talk about the 

legislative districts in Bucks County where I've resided for 

35 years. I'm the president of the League of Women Voters of 

Bucks County, and I've been an active member of Fair Districts 

PA for many years. And the League is a founding organization 

of Fair Districts, as many of you know. League of Women 
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Voters has had a position on reapportionment for over 50 

years. And in addition, calling for equality of population 

and compact, contiguous districts, it also urges the 

preservation and protection of communities of interest 

wherever possible. Communities of interest are groups of 

people who share a geographic area and have similar social, 

cultural, and economic interests or other shared interests 

that may be subject to legislative action. 
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I'm here to urge the LRC to consider long-standing 

historic communities of interest in Bucks County when drawing 

the lines for the Pennsylvania House and Senate legislative 

districts. Bucks County has long-recognized three such 

communities of interest with identifiably different 

priorities, and these are Upper, Central, and Lower Bucks. As 

early as 1752, when the current boundaries of Bucks County 

were drawn, the county consisted of these three distinct 

regions, each of which developed separately. According to 

Carolyn T. Adams, Professor Emeritus of Geography and Urban 

Studies at Temple University, and Associate Editor of the 

Encyclopedia of Greater Philadelphia, quote, "A largely 

bucolic Upper Bucks County remained distinct from the areas 

that became blue-collar Lower Bucks County and the 

white-collar townships of Central Bucks County. This 

tripartite division shaped many of the institutional patterns 

from colonial-era disput es about where to locate the county 
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of commerce and divide the county's community college into 

three campuses," end quote. 
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To this day, Bucks Countians identify themselves 

as residents of one of these traditional regions. The 2011 

district maps totally ignored this longstanding division of 

the county. Two of the most egregious examples of the 

inappropriate assignment of legislative districts in Bucks 

County are the districts in which I live. The Pennsylvania 

10th Senate District extends from the far southeast corner of 

Lower Bucks through most of Central Bucks to the very center 

of Upper Bucks, while the Pennsylvania 143rd House District 

carves out the middle of Central Bucks and attaches it to the 

eastern half of Upper Bucks. And these examples aren't unique 

in the county. There are other districts that also go back 

and forth across these lines. 

Bucks County is a long, narrow county shaped 

rather like a boot running from the sovtheast to the 

northwest. In creating both the House and Senate districts, 

lines drawn horizontally across this boot rather than vertical 

divisions would better represent the longstanding social, 

cultural, and economic interests of the residents of Bucks 

County. Dividing the county in this manner could easily 

continue to respect existing municipal boundaries and would 

also enable the districts to be more compact, as mandated by 
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the Pennsylvania Constitution. 

I urge this Commission to base their criteria for 

legislative district boundaries in our county on long 

recognized and still.valid communities of interest represented 

by the designations of Upper, Central, and Lower Bucks. The 

divisions in Bucks are not geographical or physical but are 

nonetheless basic to the way the county views itself, and, 

therefore, it should be reflected in the way legislative 

districts are drawn. Other counties may well have similar 

well-recognized communities of interest, and I applaud this 

Commission for allowing residents of these communities to 

bring them to your attention. Honoring these divisions will 

allow voters to elect legislators who truly represent the 

unique regional interests of their constituents. 

Thank you. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: Thank you very much. 

Are there questions for the witness? 

Leader Benninghoff. 

REPRESENTATIVE BENNINGHOFF: First of all, thank 

you very much for your citizen-participation and sharing some 

of the local reflection. I briefly saw some maps on this last 

night, and I'm not an expert by any means of what your 

population base, is there enough population to support those 

districts, or should I say the regions that you enumerated, 

North, Central, and Lower Bucks, as separate districts, or is 
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there some combination thereof? And obviously, I'm looking at 

House seats that are smaller versus a senatorial seat. 

MS. WESTON: The House seats I don't think would 

be any problem. Maybe spilling a little bit into similar 

communities in Montgomery County. Bucks County's population 

only would allow for two and a half Senate districts. Again, 

the dense population is in Lower Bucks, and more moderate 

population in Middle Bucks, and much less population in Upper 

Bucks, so Upper Bucks might have to merge with other similar 

communities that have similar interests in the more rural 

areas in Upper Bucks, and they could spill into either 

Montgomery County or Lehigh. 

REPRESENTATIVE BENNINGHOFF: Thank you very much. 

And again, this is one of the reasons we wanted to have some 

of the testifiers being from the public and people who live in 

those areas. So we appreciate your participation. 

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

MS. WESTON: And I appreciate the opportunity. 

Thank you. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: Thank you very much. I think 

we all will remember horizontal lines and not vertical lines. 

MS. WESTON: Agreed . 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: The person claiming the honor 

of being our final speaker tonightJ or perhaps I should say 

the person to whom we should express gratitude for sticking 
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with us this long through the hearings, is Jeffrey Cabell from 

Bloomsburg, and he wants to discuss local redistricting based 

on population. 

Mr. Cabell, welcome. 

MR. CABELL: Yes, thank you. It's pronounced 

Cabell, but I've stopped correcting people about 25 years ago. 

Am I coming through? 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: Yes, very well. 

MR. CABELL: Okay. There's been a lot of very 

fa~cinating testimony this evening about communities of 

interest and other factors that I had not even considered 

before myself. But gerrymandering is a very real concern to 

me, and I'm sure many others. And while communities of 

interest is a very I'm sure it's a very real concern for a 

lot of people, I'm afraid I have to respectfully disagree with 

their assertion that it should be involved in drawing district 

lines. At least congressionally speaking. For the local 

Senate and House districts, perhaps that should be an issue. 

My real concern is the Federal, at the Federal level. 

The U.S. Constitution says, 14th Amendment, and 

I'm just going to paraphrase it because there's a whole lot of 

verbiage here. Representatives shall be apportioned among the 

several States according to their respective numbers counting 

the whole numbers of persons in each State excluding Indians 

not taxed. Okay, well, Pennsylvania doesn't have any Indian 
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I'm not sure how they deal with it anyway. But--
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CHAIR NORDENBERG: I do want to make sure you know 

that we're not working on congressional redistricting. That 

is done by the legislature as a whole, so--

MR. CABELL: That's a mistake in and of itself. 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: Well, but our charge is 

actually to redraw the lines for the State legislature, the 

House and Senate districts to which you referred a moment ago. 

And if that leads you to modify anything you would like to 

say, I just want to make sure you knew that. 

MR. CABELL: Oh, thank you. It doesn't really 

modify it a whole lot other than to say the Constitution only 

mentions numbers, not communities, not groups of people. 

Those are far more organic, and gerrymandering can work both 

ways, both to try to keep certain individuals in power or to 

give other groups representation. My opinion is that you 

should start in the upper left-hand corner of the State map, 

draw until you get whatever the apportionment number is in 

that area, then move one space to the right and do it again . 

Just focus on the number of people until you get the required 

population count in a given district, and then move on and 

draw the next one. One, two, three, four, five, six, seven, 

eight, nine all the way up to however many it turns out 

getting. 
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It's logical, it's done by the numbers, and then 

the legislature would just have to deal with going out and 

actually earning the votes of the people in the district where 

they live. If they don't like it, they shouldn't be in 

politics to begin with. And that's really all I have to say 

on the matter, since we're not talking about at the Federal 

level as well. 

worded. 

I misunderstood the way the website was 

CHAIR NORDENBERG: I'm sorry about that, and I 

want to thank you, Mr. Cabell. What you said was logical, and 

we actually have heard others talk about similar approaches to 

starting a map, and so I want to thank you. 

I want to thank the other four Members of the 

Commission. This has been a busy couple of days for us. This 

was our fifth hearing. We've had three in the last two days, 

but more than anything else I want to thank the witnesses who 

made this a meaningful evening for us all.. That includes 

Professor Block, who appeared remotely from Penn State. It 

certainly includes Professors Kramer and Remster, who made the 

trip up from Villanova to be with us tonight. And it includes 

the 15 citizen-witnesses who made the process of apportionment 

a high enough priority to organize their thoughts and to offer 

them to us this evening. 

With that sincere expression of thanks then, I 

will adjourn this hearing and bid you all a good night. 
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Legislative Reapportionment Commission 
P.O. Box 203079 
Harrisburg, PA 17120 

Legislative Reapportionment Commission 



EXHI-B ITS 





A little about me 

I come to you both as a Penn State faculty member and as a resident of PA 

Those 2 worlds (faculty & resident) come together in my work as an expert witness 



Federal Voting Rights Acts 

15th Amendment: "the right to vote shall not be denied or abridged on the basis of race, color 
or previous condition of servitude ... " 

1964 Civil Rights Act (CRA): Title I calls for any qualifications for voter registration to be 
applied equally to all, prohibits a voter from being rejected for non-material errors on an 
application, and outlines specific requirements for literacy tests 

• It is difficult to enforce federal oversight over voting rights 

This Photo by Unknown Author is licensed under CC BY-SA-NC 
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Federal Voting Rights Acts 

In Allen v. State Board of Education (1969), the Supreme Court held that vote dilution could occur as 
a result of electoral devices such as at-large electoral systems. 

The court expanded the notion of vote dilution beyond previous reapportionment cases ( e.g., the 
1964 Reynolds v. Sims) on how an individual's vote was diluted by unequally populated voting 
districts to include the dilution of a group's voting strength 

This Photo by Unknown Author is licensed under CC BY-NC-ND 



Federal Voting Rights Acts 

The 1965 Voting Rights Act (VRA) 

Section 2 (sword) 

• prohibits any voting standards, practices, or procedures that dilute minority voting strength 

Section 5 (shield) 

• requires to pre-clear any election changes to the DOJ 



Federal Voting Rights Acts 

In Thornburg v. Gingles (1986), the Court provided the "dilution test" for litigations concerning Section 2 of the 
VRA. To succeed in dilution cases, plaintiffs must demonstrate the existence of the 3 preconditions: 

1. Minority group is "sufficiently large & geographically compact to constitute a majority in a single-member 
district"; 

2. Minority group is "politically cohesive" (i.e., its members tend to vote for the same candidate); and 

3. " ... majority [group] votes sufficiently as a bloc to enable it ... usually to defeat the minority's preferred candidate" 

The second and the third preconditions under the Gingles test have become the legal definition of Racially 
Polarized Voting (RPV). 
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What the commission is required to do 
under the VRA 

• It takes more than simply making (good) 
maps 

• Proposals for redistricting should reflect 
"intensely local appraisals of 
circumstances" 

• Minority groups in proposed district must 
have realistic opportunities to elect 
preferred candidates 
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Rory Kramer, PhD 
Associate Professor of Sociology and Criminology 

Villanova University 

Brianna Remster, PhD 
Associate Professor of Sociology and Criminology 

Villanova University 

Thank you for the invitation to speak here today about the issue of prison gerrymandering. My 
colleague and I are here as social scientists who have studied the impact of counting incarcerated 
people as residents of the districts where they are incarcerated on political representation
commonly known as prison gerrymandering. We greatly appreciate the opportunity to discuss 
this problem and how to address it during this redistricting cycle with you. We draw on our 
findings from Pennsylvania's current maps, which have been published in a leading peer 
reviewed journal (see attached: Remster and Kramer 2018). In brief, prison gerrymandering 
affects dozens of districts across the state, it shifts representation in a racially unequal manner, it 
is neither partisan nor a simple urban versus rural divide, and it is easy to reallocate state prison 
populations without delaying the Legislative Reapportionment Commission's (LRC) timeline. 

We assessed the impact of prison gerrymandering on PA State House districts in three ways: We 
estimated the average district size change if incarcerated persons were removed from the district 
population counts where they were imprisoned and reallocated to their home district and whether 
any districts violated population size requirements in this scenario, as well as whether of prison 
gen-ymandering varied by race and ethnicity (i.e. if some racial groups were affected more than 
others). To do so, we used publicly available data from the Census, the LRC, and the Department 
of Corrections (DOC). We began by matching demographic data from the Census to PA's 203 
House districts. 1 Then we removed individuals incarcerated in local, state, and federal 
correctional facilities from district population counts at the census block level. 2 Our next step 
was to allocate those individuals back to their home districts, based on facility type. 

As with the U.S. overall, most individuals incarcerated in PA are held in state facilities. 3 To 
return these individuals, we used information on state prisoners' county of origin from the 
Pennsylvania Department of Corrections 2010 Annual Report, the smallest geography for which 
that data is publicly available. Most individuals held in Pennsylvania state prisons are released 
on parole, meaning they are legally required to return to their county of origin (PA DOC 2015). 
But where in each county should they go? We used information on state prisoners' race and 
ethnicity from the same annual DOC report (we commend the accuracy and effort of the DOC 
data staff for computing and publishing this information) and national estimates of educational 

1 Using a spatial join in the mapping software ArcGIS I 0.1, every Census block was assigned to its corresponding 
2010 PA House district 
2 For a handful of facilities, the Census and local facility address disagreed on the exact location of a facility by one 
or two blocks. We used Google Maps to identify which data source was correct. 
3 Nearly 60% of individuals incarcerated in PA in 2018 were held in state facilities . 



attainment for incarcerated people by race and ethnicity combined with their county of origin to 
allocate state prisoners to a census block with similar demographic characteristics. We do not 
wish to bog the Commission down with the minutiae of our reallocation strategy at the moment, 
given that the LRC would be able to avoid such estimation techniques to reallocate individuals 
because the Department of Corrections has much more precise address data. 

We should be clear: our analyses were estimates of the effects on incarceration on representation. 
Our estimates are likely underreporting the significant impacts on specific communities across 
the state. Importantly, the more detail we included in our estimation procedure about where 
incarcerated people lived beforehand, the stronger our results became. For instance, preliminary 
analyses excluding educational attainment data produced similar results to our final ones that 
incorporated education but including the education data achieved greater precision by providing 
more information. In other words, our findings are conservative. If we had had access to private 
Department of Correction data with specific addresses, we are confident that prison 
gerrymandering would have an even larger impact on State House districts. Fortunately for this 
Commission, we have been told that that data is available for your use in redistricting. 

We also reallocated individuals held in county facilities. Unlike state prisons, the pre
incarceration address for people in county facilities may not be readily available to the LRC in 
time for this redistricting cycle. As of 2018, nearly 60% of incarcerated individuals were in state 
prisons, and given recent efforts to reduce jail populations, which PA terms county prisons, that 
percentage likely grew somewhat since. Among individuals held in county facilities in 2020, 
almost 20% were in Philadelphia or Allegheny's facilities. Most county prisons though are small; 
excluding Philly and Pittsburgh, the average local facility contains roughly 400 people (most 
county jails have less than 300 beds) and the overwhelming majority of individuals in these 
facilities reside in that same county and often in that same district, as most counties are either 
wholly within one district or split into only a small number of districts. Although we strongly 
believe individuals incarcerated local facilities should also be reallocated, our analyses show that 
state facilities are the primary driver of prison gerrymandering in Pennsylvania. 

Pennsylvania is also home to ten federal correctional facilities, but since the bulk of individuals 
in these facilities are from out of state, we removed the less than 9000 individuals in federal 
facilities from district population counts but did not return them. Overall, they represent a small 
portion of the incarcerated population in PA, and nationally. 

Turning to our results, this map shows the 34 House districts that experienced the most change in 
our hypothetical scenario of reallocating incarcerated people under the current maps. The 
districts highlighted in grey are districts which lost at least 83 7 residents after we adjusted where 
incarcerated people were counted. In statistical terms, 83 7 residents is one standard deviation 
above or below the average district population change across all 203 districts. As you can see, 
these districts are mostly located in rural central and western Pennsylvania. These districts are 
the few "winners" of prison gerrymandering-these districts contain large prison and/or jail 
facilities, which artificially inflate their size with people who are not from that area and would 
not be there if they were not imprisoned there. 

In contrast, the districts highlighted in black on the map are districts which would gain at least 



83 7 residents if-all else equal-incarcerated people were counted in their home communities. 
Although these districts are generally more urban, they also include areas with smaller cities and 
towns but high rates of incarceration. Yes, Philadelphia and Pittsburgh are harmed by prison 
gerrymandering, however, it is far from an isolated issue of urban versus rural areas. This is in 
part because most Pennsylvanians don't live near a state prison; there are only 20 some state 
prisons and 203 districts. But did any districts change enough to violate district size requirements 
in our hypothetical scenario? 

For the state as a whole:four districts became legally too small using the standard 5% cut-off for 
district size established by the courts to define equal representation. Take, for example, current 
District 150 which is a suburban and rural district in Montgomery County. It contains over 5,000 
incarcerated individuals across State Correctional Institute-Phoenix and Montgomery County 
Prison, that's nearly 10% of its population. 

On the other hand, we found that four districts would grow to be legally too large to qualify as of 
equal size using that same threshold. Together, those 4 districts contain roughly 264,000 
Pennsylvanians, which means that at least 264,000 residents are legally underrepresented 
because of prison gerrymandering today. Of those 264,000, over 100,000 are Black and live in 
Philadelphia in three districts-that's approximately 20% of Philadelphia's Black population, 
who live in districts that only met the district size cut-off during redistricting because many 
residents were counted elsewhere at the time. The other district that became legally too big is 
centered around Johnstown. Further, counting individuals where they are incarcerated makes 
districts that contain a prison appear more racially diverse than the reality. We found five 
districts where more than half of their non-white population were only there because they were 
incarcerated at the time of the census. 

Beyond diversity, prison gerrymandering distorts representation by strengthening the political 
voices of Pennsylvanians who live near a prison while simultaneously weakening the voices of 
residents who live near high crime areas. Counting incarcerated people where they are 
imprisoned affects entire communities and towns from which large numbers of people are being 
incarcerated. And with patterns of residential segregation, prison gerrymandering does so in a 
racially unequal way. 

Overall, we found that the average white Pennsylvanian lives in a district that benefits from 
prison gerrymandering. White residents gain representation thanks to the location of prison 
facilities in districts that are disproportionately white and because whites are less likely to live in 
districts with large numbers of residents sent elsewhere via incarceration. In contrast, the average 
Black or Latinx Pennsylvanian lives in a district that has less of a voice because more than three 
hundred residents of their communities were counted elsewhere and because Black and Latinx 
residents are less likely to live in districts where incarcerated persons inflate the district's 
population count. In short, prison gerrymandering dilutes Black and Latinx representation and 
amplifies whites. 

One other major takeaway from our analysis was that ending prison gerrymandering did not 
disproportionately hurt one political party over another. Counting incarcerated people as living in 
correctional facilities is different from other forms of partisan gerrymandering. Two of the four 



House districts we identified as too big are currently, represented by Democrats and two by 
Republicans. Nor was it the case that urban districts always lost population to rural districts
district 19 in Pittsburgh, for example, lost enough population to be legally too small because it 
included a (now closed) prison, and many rural districts without a prison gained representation 
from other rural districts that happened to have a prison. 

You might be wondering why most of us only recently heard of prison gerrymandering. While 
the problem has always existed, how incarcerated people were counted only recently began to 
impact political representation for two reasons. It wasn't until the 1960s that the concept of one 
person, one vote was codified into our redistricting process and then the extraordinary growth of 
the American penal system only began in earnest in the 1980s-previously the incarcerated 
population was far smaller-peaking in the early or mid-201 Os, depending on the state. In PA, 
the incarcerated population in 2000 was on the cusp of being large enough to skew districts but 
had not quite reached that threshold in our analyses using estimations to reallocate incarcerated 
persons. 

While PA's prison population has declined somewhat in recent years, unfortunately that decline 
is not enough for prison gerrymandering to fix itself. On March 30, 2020 (the Census uses April 
1 of each census year for its count of incarcerated individuals), there were 45,654 people in state 
facilities (PA DOC). While that is lower than 2010, it is only a difference of about 3,000 people 
and in 2000 there were less than 37,000 people incarcerated in PA state prisons. Yet even if the 
number of incarcerated people did dramatically drop, it does not mean that prison 
gerrymandering does not exist, just that it did not lead to the potential constitutional problems 
like those we found in the 2010 maps. 

As social scientists, we see no reason to avoid tackling the problem now. Ten states have either 
already addressed prison gerrymandering or will to do so starting with the 2020 Census and one 
has decided to delay that until 2030. We know of at least three additional state redistricting 
commissions that are working through how to do so via the redistricting process as we speak 
here today. California's Commission voted itself to proceed with reallocation after the legislature 
encouraged it but did not require it. 

The PA DOC has an impressive data and research program, which is part of why we were able to 
analyze the impact of prison gerrymandering in PA to begin with, and has precise pre
incarceration addresses for individuals held in state facilities. Those addresses are far superior to 
counting individuals where they are incarcerated. For some individuals, that address may be 
where they were paroled to before being reincarcerated for a parole violation. Those addresses 
are equally useable, in fact, they are more accurate than counting them where they are 
incarcerated. This holds even if an incarcerated person or their household has since moved 
elsewhere, ·because that is true of everybody. Were you or I to have moved after completing the 
2020 Census forms ourselves, we too would be counted at our "prior address" in the exact same 
manner; the fundamental difference is that we made that decision ourselves. If there are people 
with missing or inaccurate addresses, they should either be removed from the count or kept in 
place. Imperfections in one person's address data do not justify continuing to misallocate others, 
that's something that the state can work to improve for future redistricting cycles. 



The DOC address data can be used to reallocate individuals in state facilities in a short amount of 
time (several days maximum) without busting the budget. We appreciate the tight timelines that 
redistricting commissions face, especially in 2021 due to the delay in the release of Census data 
to states as well as concerns about costly vendor contracts. Fortunately, because the DOC has 
such a strong data and research system, the reallocation process would require sending one line 
of code to a Census API that the Census offers free of charge and then a second line of code to 
merge that data with the reapportionment dataset from the Census. It would take us half a day to 
complete this and check that it worked correctly if the addresses are accurate. It may take an 
additional day or two to fix data entry errors and triple check the results. 

Ideally, we would solve both prison and jail gerrymandering at the same time, as county prisons 
contain over 30,000 Pennsylvanians. However, the overwhelming majority of people 
incarcerated in county facilities are from that county and outside of Philadelphia; county 
facilities on their own were not enough to substantively affect representation in our analyses. 
Because roughly 60% of people incarcerated in PA are in state facilities, and because county 
facilities often do not lead to allocating incarcerated people across district lines, reallocating state 
facility populations would mitigate the majority of the problem and we would hope that future 
redistricting commissions would proactively manage the problem before any data is even 
collected by the Census. States have followed a variety of approaches with regard to reallocating 
federal and county prison populations, and we'd be happy to discuss the options later. 

Making data adjustments to census aggregation is part of every redistricting cycle and this is no 
different. The actual adjustment is a simple, straightforward task that can be easily done and 
would not risk any individual's privacy in doing so. 

We thank you for your time and are happy to answer questions and assist in any way we can. 
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How does prison 
gerrymandering affect 
representation in PA? 

■ Two steps: 

1. Remove incarcerated people 

2. Return incarcerated people 

■ State House districts 



Data and Method 
■ Public data sources 

1. Census (via Social Explorer) 

■ Decennial census: demographic and group quarters data 
(STFl 2010 file) 

■ American Community Survey (ACS) for education data* 

2. PA Department of Corrections* 

■ Annual Report: prisoner commitments by county 

*Ideally: Previous address for every incarcerated 
person (then no need for ACS) 

3. PA Legislative Reapportionment Commission 

■ Shapefiles for legislative districts 

■ After removing, allocate people back at the Census block 
level using pri~oner race, education, and block 
characteristics 



Findings: Estimated PA Legislative 
District Population Change, 2010 

- Lost > 1 SD of residents 
D Change of < 1 SD 

- Gained > 1 SD of residents 
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Fintjing~: Esti.ma~ed South~astern PA 
Leg1slat1ve District Population Change, 
2010 

D Lost > 1 SD of residents 
D Change of < 1 SD 

• Gained > 1 SD of residents 



District 150: SCI Phoenix & 
Montgomery Jail 
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Districts with lega_lly 
unequal representation 

■ 4 districts would be legally too small 

- Including district BB 

■ 4 districts would be legally are too large 

- -264,000 PA residents are 
underrepresented 

■ Over 100,000 Black Philadelphians are 
underrepresented 



PA District Size Change by 
Race/Ethnicity 
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District 4 7: York Jail and 
ICE 
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As redistricting nears, which states have 
barred prison gerrymandering? 

DMWll~tFeen-y20ZI 

D StattS that hne ended 
prison gerrym,ndering 

States thit hive ended 
prison gerrymandering 
for sute legislitive map 

'-

State adopted a rtform 
that will not be effective 
this redistricting cyde 

NUTICJL 
REPORT: 

Source: The 
Aooeal 



■ Questions? 

- Contact us brianna.remster@villanova.edu ; 
rory.Kramer@villanova.edu 

- @brianna_remster @rory _kramer 

■ Full peer reviewed study, no paywall version: 

Remster, Brianna and Rory Kramer. 2018. 
··shifting Power: The Impact of Incarceration on 
Political Representation." Du Bois Review 
15(2):417-39. 



Prison gerrymandering: 

District A: rural/suburban 
district with a prison 

District B: urban district 
(no ·prison) 

ttttt ttttt 
t t . t t t t t tt 

= incarcerated 
person 



Today's reality 

District A: rural/suburban 
district with a prison District 8: urban district (no . 

ttttt ttttt 
tt ttttt 

t . 
= incarcerated 
person 



Fixing it: 
District A: rural/suburban 
district with a prison 

District B: urban district 
(no prison) 

ttttt ttttt 
ttttt tt 

• 
= incarcerated 
person 



Regional Impact 
Examples 



Southwest Impact . 
Overrepresented districts: 

- District 19: -3, 797 people 
- Pittsburgh main 1ail facilities 

- Rep Jake Wheatley (D) 

- District 50: -1,491 people 
- State Correctional Institute Greene 

- Rep Pam Snyder (D) 

- District 69: -1,508 people 
- State Correctional Institutes Somerset and 

Laurel Highlands 

Rep Carl Walker Metzgar (R) 



Southwest continued 

Underrepresented districts: 
- District 51: +1433 people (Fayette and 

Somerset County) 
- Rep Matt Dowling (R) 

- District 71: +1070 people (Cambria and 
Somerset County) 

- Rep Jim Rigby (R) 
- District 52: +622 people (Fayette and 

Westmoreland County) 
- Rep Ryan Warner (R) _ 

- District 24: +498 people (Pittsburgh) 
- Rep Edward Gainey (D) 



North Central lmact 

Overrepresented: 
- District 76: - -2k people 

- SCls Rockview and Benner 
Township 

Underrepresented: 
- District 77: + -1200 people 

- Centre Co 

- District 107: + - lk people 
- Columbia, Northumberland, 

Montour Co 



South Central Impact 

Overrepresented: 

- District BB: - 2600 people 
- Camp Hill 

- District 4 7: - 2100 people 
- York jail and ICE detention 

- District 106: -1300 people 
- Dauphin jail 



South Central continued 

Underrepresented: 

- District 95: + 1400 people 
- York 

- District 199: + 1400 people 
- Cumberland 



Examples without 
Addressing Prison 
Gerrymandering: 



District 106: Dauphin 
County Prison 

I"'., 
.. .J 

81@§·#@ 

2010 .Census Block Data 

1 Dot = 1 Persoi\: 

• white 
e Black 

• Asian 

Hispanic 
• 01h 1 lbai /tQ!iYe 

Am rlc:an / Multt-raelal 

r,,,.,,.;~~.i ~a~·am I looking ~t. .. ? 



District 173: Philadelphia 
Jail Facilities 
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District 88: SCI Camp H ii I 
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SHIFTING POWER 
The Impact of Incarceration on Political 
Representation 

Brianna Remster 
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Department of Sociology and Criminology, Villanova University 

Abstract 

While prisoners cannot vote, they are counted as residents of the often rural legislative 
districts where they are incarcerated rather than their home districts. We examine the extent 
to which incarceration shifts the balance of a representative democracy by considering its 
impact on legislative apportionment. Drawing on data from the Census, Pennsylvania 
Department of Corrections, and Pennsylvania Redistricting Commission, we develop 
a counterfactual framework to examine whether removing and returning prisoners to their 
home districts affects equal representation. Because prisoners are disproportionately 
African American, we also employ this counterfactual to assess racial differences in the 
impact of prison gerrymandering. Findings indicate that incarceration shifts political power 
from urban districts to suburban and rural districts through legislative apportionment. 
Moreover, non-White communities suffer the most. We conclude by considering how our 
findings fit a growing literature on the role of mass incarceration in [re]producing racial 
inequalities in the contemporary United States. 

Keywords: Consequences of Incarceration, Political Representation, Prison 
Gerrymandering, Racial Inequality 

INTRODUCTION 

The concept of governmental representation, Robert Dahl (1989, p. 29) argues, has 
"transformed democracy from a doctrine suitable only for small and rapidly vanishing 
city-states to one applicable to the large nation-states of the modern age." Perhaps 
because of its importance, ensuring equal representation in the United States has been 
a slow, contentious, and uneven process, particularly with regard to racial equality (See 
Cain et al., 2005 for a review). Today, in both theory and practice, states must comply 
with the Supreme Court ruling that each citizen has the right to have her voice heard 
equally and that each citizen represents one vote in this process (Baker v. Carr 1962). 
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That rule effectively institutionalized the understanding that modern democratic gov
ernance should be synonymous with equal representation. While the Supreme Court 
recently nullified the pre-clearance section of the Voting Rights Act, it reaffirmed that 
drawing political boundaries in racially discriminatory ways (racial gerrymandering) 
violates equal representation (Shelby County v. Holder 2013). 

At the same time, incarceration has become a defining feature of American soci
ety. Since 2002, the United States has had the highest incarceration rate in the world 
and approximately one in one hundred adults is currently behind bars (PEW 2008; 
Walmsley 2010). Loi'c Wacquant (2010) terms this "hyperincarceration" because the 
unprecedented expansion of the American penal system is concentrated along three 
lines: class, race, and place. Indeed, Black males without a high school degree who 
came of age during the prison boom have a cumulative risk of incarceration of 5 8. 9%, 
compared to 11.2% for similarly situated White males (Pettit and Western, 2004). 
The spatial inequality of incarceration is also well documented; for example, in 
Chicago, West Garfield Park's incarceration rate is over forty times higher than that 
of the highest-ranked White community (Sampson 2012). Thus hyperincarceration 
has created a problem of "missing men" from low income communities of color 
(Pettit 2012; Sampson 2012; Wolfers et al., 2015). While a growing body of work 
has shown that the absence of these men from their neighborhoods skews neighbor
hood demographics and biases statistics on racial disparities (Pettit 2012; Western and 
Beckett, 1999), past studies have not fully considered that these missing men are actu
ally counted elsewhere, which may have political consequences. Correctional popula
tions are the only Americans forcibly relocated by the state, often across legislative 
boundaries. 

If every member of the population were eligible to vote, achieving equal rep
resentation would be simple. However, the existence of populations that are legally 
ineligible to vote (children, non-citizens, the mentally incapacitated, and incarcerated) 
means that although districts have comparable total populations-often referred to 
as one person, one vote or representational equality-they do not necessarily have 
comparable populations of eligible voters, known as vote [in]equality (Cowan 2015). 
For example, were the United States to prioritize vote equality over representational 
~quality, at least thirteen congressional districts would move from states with large 
non-voting immigrant populations such as Texas and California to states with rela
tively low immigrant populations like Kentucky and Montana (Cowan 2015). 

We argue here that hyperincarceration presents a unique challenge to equal rep
resentation by either definition (representational or vote). Prisoners are denied the 
right to vote in every state except Vermont and Maine and yet are counted as residents 
of the communities where they are incarcerated except in Maryland, New York, and 
Delaware. fu wards of the state confined within prison walls, the incarcerated are not 
members of these communities in any meaningful way. Moreover, because prisoners 
are disproportionately people of color from urban areas while most prisons are located 
outside of urban areas, representation, particularly non-White representation, may be 
distorted by incarceration. Thus the presence of a prison may allow districts to artifi
cially appear to achieve representational equality and simultaneously fuel vote inequal
ity as voters in such districts may have more influence. Hyperincarceration may subtly, 
but perniciously, violate the constitutional right to equal representation for all persons 
(Baker v. Carr 1962; Reynolds v. Sims 1964; Shelby County v. Holder 2013). 

The basic assertion-that moving prisoners from urban, disproportionately non
White areas into majority White, suburban and rural areas will artificially boost rural 
and suburban White representation at the expense of urban, non-White voters-is 
intuitively simple. Unfortunately, assessing the extent to which hyperincarceration 
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imbalances political representation is no easy task. Raw counts of how many persons 
are incarcerated are inconclusive because both where they are incarcerated and where 
they live when not incarcerated matter (Hamsher 2005). While some research has exam
ined the impact of removing prisoners from districts with correctional facilities (Lotke 
and Wagne~, 2004; Wagner 2002), this is only half the story. It is equally important to 
ascertain how representation is affected in districts that lose constituents to correctional 
facilities. Furthermore, given the disproportionate incarceration of people of color 
and their concentration in urban areas, it is also critical to know how this policy affects 
representation in non-White communities, especially given historical and contem
porary struggles for ensuring racially equal representation. Reports from the Prison 
Policy Initiative (n.d) about prison gerrymandering have increased public awareness 
of the issue, yet no full empirical assessment on the topic exists. Perhaps more impor
tantly, while the basic idea is intuitive, counting prisoners as members of communities 
where they are incarcerated may have little impact on representation; because prisons· 
typically hold a few thousand individuals and legislative districts are quite large in 
comparison, removing and returning prisoners to their home communities may not 
affect representation. In the present study we develop a more complete test to exam
ine whether and how incarceration affects representation, with a particular focus on 
urban, predominantly non-White communities. 

In our analyses, we advance a counterfactual approach to examine Pennsylvania 
state legislature representation that not only removes ineligible voters from districts, 
but also returns the missing persons to their previous neighborhoods. More specifi
cally, we estimate the number of residents legislative districts would gain or lose if pris
oners were counted as residents of their home communities, not correctional facilities. 
This allows us to ascertain whether any districts would be in violation of the Supreme 
Court's one person, one vote rule. For the majority of Pennsylvania's districts, the 
population removed and/or gained is small enough to have no impact on district size. 
However, there is a great deal of variation; sixteen districts gained one standard devia
tion above the mean in new residents (SD= 838 residents) and one district gained two 
standard deviations. Meanwhile seven districts lost one standard deviation of residents 
and an additional ten more districts lost two standard deviations of residents. Of these 
districts, four were too small under the current district apportionment and four dis
tricts grew too large using a conservative counterfactual that may underestimate the 
localized impact of hyperincarceration on communities of color. 

In addition to assessing representational equality, we also examine shifts in 
geographic power and non-White representation to assess vote equality as well. As 
hypothesized, we find that prisoners are moved out of urban non-White districts to 
primarily White suburban and rural districts. We then use our counterfactual to esti
mate how the average Pennsylvania voter's district changes by race. We find that on 
average, Whites lose residents while Blacks and Latinos experience an inflrn{ of resi
dents. Overall, these findings illustrate that hyperincarceration affects both represen
tational and vote equality as hypothesized. 

To construct our counterfactual, we marshal data from three different sources. 
We use data from the Census to remove prisoners from districts with correctional 
facilities, data from the Pennsylvania Department of Corrections to ascertain prisoner 
demographics and pre-prison residences, and information from the Pennsylvania 
Redistricting Commission to determine the boundaries of legislative districts. Com
bining these data sources allows us to assess the impact of incarceration on equal 
representation. 

We begin by developing the historical background of our topic, situating 
our empirical analyses in the literatures on American representation, race, and the 
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consequences of hyperimprisonment. We then draw on residential, political and eco
nomic factors to explain why incarceration may impact representation. Third, we 
describe our data sources and the logic of our investigation before presenting our 
results. We conclude by discussing some implications of our results for re·presentation 
and inequality. 

Historical and Theoretical Background 

Representation, Race, and American Democracy 

While equal representation is the foundation of modern democratic governments, 
Dahl notes that "the change in democracy resulting from its union with representation 
created its own problems" (Dahl 1989 p. 29-30). Indeed, defining and ensuring equal 
representation has been a struggle in the United States since the nation's founding, 
especially concerning how and where marginalized racial populations are counted. 
Scholars often cite the Three-Fifths Compromise, which counted slaves as three-fifths 
of a person for representation apportionment, as a defining event in race relations 
(Drake 2011; Robinson 1971 ). Slaves, who could not vote, were an important source 
of political power for elite southern Whites. Even after the 14th Amendment abol
ished the Compromise nearly a century later, states continued to apportion districts 
unequally, with population sizes varying markedly across districts (Cain et al., 2005). 
Moreover, although Blacks were technically enfranchised, many were prevented from 
voting during the Jim Crowe era, which continued to inflate White political power 
(Perman 2001; Redding 2003 ). These issues persisted until the Civil Rights Movement 
illuminated Black voting obstacles and inadequate racial representation. In response, 
the Voting Rights Act addressed the former while the judiciary tackled racial inequity 
and district apportionment more generally, ruling that redistricting efforts must not 
violate the 14th and 15th amendments. 

In Baker v. Carr (1962) the Supreme Court specified that each person represents 
one vote and that each person has the right to have her vote counted equally. This 
ruling, reified by the Court in Reynolds v. Sims (1964), prioritized representational 
equality over preserving city, county, or community of interest boundaries, which had 
previously enabled variation in district size. At the time, some state legislative districts 
in Tennessee were as small as 2,340 residents while Shelby County, which included 
Memphis, with over 300,000 residents was split into only eight districts (Baker v. Carr 
1962). As a result of these rulings, large scale redistricting occurred around the coun
try to achieve population equality (Cain et al., 2005). Part of this redistricting spe
cifically had to do with ensuring representation for non-White communities. First 
specified by the Voting Rights Act (1965) and later elaborated on in Thornberg v. 
Gingles (1986), if a racial population is "sufficiently numerous and compact to form a 
majority" then states are required to district accordingly. Complying with these rep
resentational equality rulings seemed relatively clear cut and straightforward, but dif
ficulties remained regarding racial representation. 

Thus more recent representation debates focus on whether gerrymandering, the 
process of drawing political boundaries in unfair ways, prevents minorities from receiv
ing fair representation (Lublin 1999; Shotts 2001). Specifically, scholars and policy 
makers are concerned with striking the appropriate balance with majority-minority 
districts. On the one hand, there is concern that people of color are overly divided 
up across districts, resulting in fewer majority-minority districts. On the other, too 
much consolidation of racial minorities within a few majority-minority districts also 
limits influence. For example, David Lublin (1999) finds that when a district is 40% 
minority, people of color can have considerable impact on political issues. Yet many 
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majority-minority districts have much larger people of color populations, essentially 
reducing influence (see Alabama Legislative Black Caucus v. Alabama 2015). Regardless 
of the specific representation issue under study, be it representational equality or racial 
gerrymandering, American representation is based on one critical piece of informa
tion: accurate population counts. 

The Census counts prisoners at the correctional facilities where they are incarcer
ated under its usual residence rule, which counts people at "the place where they live 
and sleep most of the time" (U.S. Census 2010). This rule has been applied to prison
ers since at least 1850 (National Research Council 2006). Additionally, the Census 
categorizes prisoners as residents of "group quarters," which includes mental health 
facilities and nursing homes or long term care facilities. Thus while most American 
household heads complete a Census form today, administrators of group quarters, 
most likely prison wardens in the present case, submit facility population counts to the 
Census (Lotke and Wagner, 2004). Importantly, prisoners cannot vote in forty-eight 
states, yet are recorded in the Census as residents of the communities where they are 
incarcerated. Until the 1980s there were so few prisoners that this policy likely had 
little impact. Coupled with the massive growth of the prison population, this policy 
may enable what some call prison gerrymandering, or the use of prisons to inflate the 
number of residents in a district (Ho 2011; Wagner 2002; Wood 2015). 

Although the Census' prisoner enumeration policy remains the same, changes 
have been implemented regarding other mobile populations (see National Research 
Council 2006). For instance, college students now choose whether to report their 
campus or permanent address on Census forms. This change was made, in part, 
because college students, unlike prisoners, can be active members of either community 
(or both). The Census has also revised how military personnel stationed abroad are 
counted, a population which shares many residency issues with incarcerated persons. 
In Franklin v. Massachusetts (1992), the Supreme Court ruled that federal employees 
overseas (mainly military personnel), could be counted at their "home of record" for 
legislative apportionment purposes. Noting a variety of historical cases, including that 
George Washington was counted as a resident of Virginia when his primary residence 
was the White House, the Court wrote that individuals need not be physically present 
at the time of the count and that those with an "allegiance or enduring tie" to a place 
should be included (see Ho 2011). 

Drawing on Franklin v. Massachusetts (1992), Dale Ho (2011) argues that incar
cerated populations also have an enduring tie to their home communities for several 
reasons. Both military personnel overseas and correctional populations reside in "total 
institutions," which heavily restrict their physical surroundings and social interactions 
(Goffman 1961). Like service members abroad, incarcerated persons have little to no 
contact with the community in which they are incarcerated. Instead, both groups retain 
social ties to their home communities. Moreover, physical barriers, such as tall walls 
or fencing and a series of locks separate prisoners and service members from the sur
rounding area. With these barricades in place, prisoners and military personnel use few 
community resources such as roads, schools, or parks. Also, incarcerated persons 
do not use the local courts, rather they are processed by the committing county's court 
system (i.e., urban ones). In contrast, military personnel are often processed through 
local courts, thus prisoners may have more of an enduring tie to their home communi
ties than military personnel. In fact, perhaps because of the sequestering characteris
tics of total institutions, legislators do not view incarcerated persons in their districts 
as constituents. When polled, legislators view prisoners from their home districts who 
are incarcerated elsewhere as their constituency more so than prisoners incarcerated 
in their districts who otherwise have no ties there (Stinebrickner-Kauffman 2004). 
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Taken together, these features suggest that incarcerated persons have an enduring tie 
to their home communities. 

Yet despite such commonalities, Franklin v. Massachusetts (1992) has not been 
extended to correctional populations. Additionally, parole residency requirements 
ensure that ex-prisoner allegiances to their original home communities will continue 
post-release, perhaps more so than military personnel. Furthermore, because military 
personnel retain the right to vote, the counting of military personnel elsewhere would 
only influence representational equality, not vote equality. 

Indeed, a recent court decision argues that prison gerrymandering is a unique 
threat to both electoral and representation equality at once. In Calvin v. Jefferson 
County (2016), a federal district judge ordered a Florida county, in which nearly ten 
percent of its population is incarcerated in a federal prison, to exclude federal prison
ers from county-level district apportionment, stating that a ''blind reliance on cen
sus data can lead to unconstitutional results." Referencing prior representation cases, 
Judge Walker wrote: 

What none of these cases held was that a state or local government could draw 
districts in a way that violates both electoral and representational equality. Such 
a districting scheme would deny all denizens of some districts-voters and non
voters alike- equal protection of the laws. It would of course dilute the voting 
strength of voters, but it would also dilute the representational strength of those 
voters and of their nonvoting neighbors. A scheme that violates both of these 
principles is unconstitutional under any interpretation of one person, one vote. 

Importantly, Calvin v. Jefferson (2016) considers county apportionment in a 
sparsely populated county with a federal prison. In the present study, we test Walker's 
argument examining state legislative apportionment in which districts are four times 
more populous than Jefferson County as a whole and by including the impact of appor
tionment schemes on the districts where prisoners lived before their incarceration as 
well as the districts to which prisoners are sent. 

Today, correctional populations are the only non-voter group to be denied their 
right to equal representation. In contrast, non-citizens and children are counted in 
the districts they reside, because, regardless of their non-voting status, under the cur
rent interpretation of one person, one vote, all persons have the right to equal rep
resentation. Additionally, non-voters can make use of constituent services offered by 
legislatures. For instance, they can engage with thej,r representatives in events such as 
town hall meetings or visit district offices for services such as help with filing official 
forms. Nonetheless, as noted above, legislators with prisons in their districts often 
don't view prisoners as constituents nor can incarcerated individuals engage with 
or use the resources of their representative in the same manner as other non-voting 
populations (Stinebrickner-Kauffman 2004). In sum, they are a unique non-voting 
population in terms of representation in that they are moved without their consent, 
sequestered from outside interaction, and disconnected from the local community and 
official representatives. 

Given this uniqueness and recent public interest, some states have reconsidered 
how prisoners are counted for legislative apportionment. Indeed, opting to exclude 
prisoners from population counts for redistricting purposes was only recently made 
feasible; prior to 2010, the Census released the group quarters information too late 
to be used in the redistricting process. In part due to public demand though, the 
Census released the 2010 group quarters information earlier than usual. Thus New 
York and Maryland were able to implement new laws requiring incarcerated persons 
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to be counted at their home addresses for the 2010 redistricting process (McDonald 
2011). California and Delaware since passed similar legislation which will be put into 
effect for the 2020 redistricting. Meanwhile Colorado, Michigan, and Virginia passed 
laws banning or discouraging local governments from prison gerrymandering (Wagner 
2015). Moreover, a number oflocal municipalities across the country have elected to 
either exclude prisoners from apportionment or count them elsewhere (see Prison 
Policy Initiative for a complete list). Still, the vast majority of state and local govern
ments continue to count prisoners as residents of correctional facilities and in the era 
of hyperincarceration, disadvantaged communities of color may be underrepresented 
because of this. 

Hyperincarceration and Political Outcomes 

The United States restricts current and former felons from voting to a greater extent 
than any other modern democracy (Uggen and Manza, 2002). Perhaps not surpris
ingly, a well-established line of research shows that incarceration has influenced 
political outcomes (Burch 2012; Manza and Uggen, 2006). For instance, Christopher 
Uggen and Jeff Manza (2002) estimate that felon disenfranchisement has altered the 
outcomes of several U.S. presidential and congressional elections. Additionally, due to 
racial disparities in imprisonment, "Whites enjoy inflated political power due to felon 
disenfranchisement laws (Behrens et al., 2003). The racial motives behind these laws 
were unconcealed: proponents argued for the need to address the "menace of negro 
domination" and "preserve the purity of the ballot box" (Alabama 1901; Washington v. 
State 1884). Beyond silencing ex-felons, other work finds significant spillover effects; 
families of incarcerated persons are less likely to vote and residents of communities 
with high levels of incarceration are approximately half as likely to vote (Burch 2014; 
Lee et al., 2014). 

In all, there is ample evidence that disenfranchisement suppresses the political 
voices of people of color and benefits the White majority. To date, research has largely 
focused on the impact of mass incarceration on voting opportunities and election out
comes; we do not know whether or to what degree incarceration affects equal rep
resentation, a form of inequality that emerges during districting, well before ballots 
are cast. Yet disenfranchisement and representation differ beyond when inequality is 
produced, specifically in terms of who bears the consequences. 

Disenfranchisement is, in part, an individual's punishment for breaking the law. 
Importantly, disenfranchised felons are counted as residents for the sake of apportion
ment. In contrast, by counting prisoners elsewhere from their home communities, it 
is not the prisoner whose vote or representation is weakened or disenfranchised, but 
rather the prisoner's home community that receives less representation in light of that 
individual's incarceration. This is, in fact, another form of spillover effect of incar
ceration on top of those already identified in the literature. Finally, prisoners' repre
sentation is not randomly distributed among districts or shifted to districts similar to 
their home districts; the representation that prisoners are constitutionally guaranteed 
instead goes to mostly "White districts outside of urban areas from which prisoners 
disproportionately arrive. 

Hyperincarceration and Representation 

Political, economic, and residential patterns of racial inequality explain how mass 
incarceration may affect political representation. As the concept of one person, one 
vote and voting rights was defined in the 1960s, the United States was entering its 
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most residentially segregated era (Massey and Denton, 1993). Today, the average 
Black person lives in a neighborhood that is 45 % Black and only 3 5 % White, while the 
average White person lives in a neighborhood that is 75% White and only 8% Black 
(Logan and Stults, 2011). Meanwhile, a racialized criminal justice system expanded 
dramatically (Alexander 2010; Beckett 1997; Garland 2001; Jacobs and Jackson 2010; 
Wacquant 2000, 2001) and as a result, prison beds were in demand. With the decline of 
urban areas as economic and political power bases and rural communities also in eco
nomic turmoil, politicians outside of urban areas began competing for prison contracts 
in their districts (Beale 1996; Schlosser 1998; Wilson 1987). Within a short period of 
time, prison construction in suburban and rural areas was booming; for example, in 
the height of the prison boom, twenty-eight of twenty-nine new correctional facilities 
in New York were built upstate (Schlosser 1998). 

Thus, the prison boom shifted economic and political interests to non-urban, 
primarily White areas while disadvantaging urban areas. 1 This resulted in the dif
fusion of non-White populations from urban areas into suburban and rural White 
areas, often several hundred miles away from their homes (Mumola 2000). The 
combination of non-urban prison locations, residential segregation, and racial 
inequality in incarceration may impact equal representation, but prior research 
has not yet explored the magnitude of any impact or whether this is the case. By 
underestimating non-White population counts in urban areas, incarceration may 
also weaken both the ability to qualify as majority-minority districts and the abil
ity to litigate Voting Rights Act suits claiming racial discrimination in district 
apportionment. Now known as the prison industrial complex, the codependence 
of politics, economics, and incarceration has become a powerful force in modern 
society (Schlosser 1998; Wacquant 2009) and helps illuminate how incarceration 
may distort representation. 

In sum, we draw on diverse literatures to understand how incarceration might 
influence equal representation. Historical background on representation reminds us 
that threats to representation have persisted throughout American history and racial 
inequality remains at the forefront both historically and presently. Adding to this pic
ture, changes in the economy and politics produced a racialized criminal justice system 
that moves urban non-White residents to more rural White communities where they 
are counted as residents yet are not participatory members. 

The Current Study 

In this study, we assess whether, and the extent to which, incarceration distorts rep
resentation in the Pennsylvania legislature. Given the unprecedented recent growth 
of incarceration, we examine the degree to which counting prisoners in this manner 
shifts political power geographically by inflating voices outside of urban areas while 
stifling urban ones and its impact on non-White representation. More generally, we 
investigate the degree to which counting prisoners this way may influence both rep
resentational and vote equality. This study departs from existing work on representa
tion to focus on a process that occurs before district lines are drawn. Moreover, we 
build on research on the missing men phenomenon by assessing how counting missing 
men elsewhere further damages non-White communities (Pettit 2012; Wolfers, et al., 
2015). We also move beyond this body of research by asking whether and how incar
ceration influences representation for communities not plagued by hyperincarcera
tion (Wagner 2002). Unlike previous research, we simultaneously assess the impact of 
incarceration on representation for the communities that may benefit from hyperin
carceration as well as those harmed by it. 
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Although we focus on Pennsylvania, it is noteworthy that Pennsylvania is similar 
to the country overall on key characteristics. For instance, the state's Black population 
is close to the national average (11.5% in Pe1msylvania; 13 .2% nationally in 2010), and 
is largely urbanized. In terms of imprisonment, Pennsylvania incarcerates 850 adults 
per 100,000 compared to 910 nationally (Kaeble and Glaze, 2016). 

The Pennsylvania state house legislature is comprised of 203 districts which are 
drawn by an independent commission every ten years, following the release of each 
decennial census. Representational equality in the form of one person, one vote, 
requires that legislative districts be of roughly equal population sizes. To ensure 
equal representation, Pennsylvania determines legislative district size requirements 
by dividing the total state Census population by 203 and requiring that all districts 
be within five percent in either direction of this number (PA Constitution Article II, 
Sections 16-17). Thus any district whose population is either above or below five per
centage points of a given year's population size is in violation. In 2010, the lower and 
upper bounds are 59,455 and 65,702 residents, respectively. Although the number of 
districts in Pennsylvania's state house is second only to New Hampshire, because of 
Pennsylvania's high population, the average constituents per district is the nineteenth 
largest in the country and near the national average of 55,973 (National Conference 
of State Legislatures n.d.). 

Data 

We leverage three sources of data to construct a dataset of Pennsylvania's 203 state 
house legislative districts: the Census, the Pennsylvania Department of Corrections, 
and the Pennsylvania Reapportionment Commission. The Pennsylvania Reapportion
ment Commission's website2 provides the 2013 shapefiles of each district, imported in 
ArcGIS 10.1.3 We then match demographic data from the Census STFl 2010 file to 
our 203 districts. All Census data were downloaded from the Social Explorer website. 
Every Census block is assigned to its corresponding house district in 2010 using a spa
tial join in ArcGIS 10.1. Together, the Census and redistricting data provide us with 
the demographic characteristics of all 203 Pennsylvania districts. 

As with the United States overall, the vast majority of individuals incarcerated 
in PA are state prisoners. State prisoners include individuals convicted of a felony 
offense, typically sentenced to a year or more behind bars. To remove state prison 
populations from district population counts, we rely on data from the Pennsylvania 
Department of Corrections. We use the publicly available 2010 PA Department of 
Corrections Annual Statistical Report to obtain information on the location of state 
prisons and their respective population counts. The Annual Report also provides us 
with prisoner racial demographic inforniation and counties of origin, which we use to 
return prisoners to their pre-prison districts. 

County jail populations, in contrast to state prisoners, comprise approximately 
one third of the total correctional population (Kaeble and Glaze, 2016). Jails individu
als awaiting trial and often individuals serving sentences of less than a year. To remove 
and return jail populations, we use the Census' group quarters information to obtain 
county jail population counts. We also remove federal prisoners using group quarters 
informa·tion. Pennsylvania is home to four federal correctional facilities but because 
the bulk of federal prisoners are from out of state, we do not return them to their home 
districts in our counterfactual analysis. Thus our analysis examines the effects of local, 
state, and federal incarceration on representation in Pennsylvania. 

To assess the geographic type of districts, we define urban districts as those 
located primarily in the central city of a metropolitan statistical area in a non-rural 
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county (MSA). Suburban districts are districts that are primarily part of a MSA 
but not a central city, and rural districts are those identified by P~nnsylvania's 
legislature as low population density (Center for Rural Pennsylvania). Under these 
definitions, approximately 77% of Pennsylvania's population lives in suburban or 
urban districts. 

Analytic strategy 

We use a counterfactual approach to assess the impact of incarceration on repre
sentational and vote inequality in Pennsylvania as well as racial and geographic 
representation. Our counterfactual condition is state legislative representation 
when pri~oners are counted in their home districts instead of districts where they 
are incarcerated. To construct this counterfactual, we first remove local, state, and 
federal prisoners from district population counts. To return state prisoners, we 
begin our allocation strategy by using their county of origin from the Pennsylvania 
Department of Corrections reports, the smallest geography for which that data is 
available. As most Pennsylvania prisoners are released on parole, they are legally 
required to return to their county of origin (PA DOC 2015). For local prisoners, 
we use their county of incarceration because the overwhelming majority of jail 
inmates are incarcerated in their home county (Zajac and Kowalski, 2012). 

Next, we allocate every state and local prisoner back to census blocks in their 
original county using racial, ethnic, and class demographics of neighborhoods and 
prisoners. More specifically, using 2010 SFl census block data and 2008-2012 
ACS 5-year census tract data, we first calculate an estimate of each census block's 
portion of the county's population by race, ethnicity, and educational attainment 
(tracts are the smallest geography with educational attainment data available). We 
then use national prisoner educational attainment data by race and ethnicity from 
the 2004 Survey of Inmates in State and Federal Correctional Facilities to return 
prisoners accordingly based on the portion of the county's population of a given 
race, ethnicity, and educational attainment in a given block (U.S . Department of 
Justice 2007). 

Consider a hypothetical county comprised of two census blocks that has eighteen 
prisoners to return; one is White and has a college degree, two are Black and have 
college degrees, six are White and have high school diplomas, and nine are Black and 
have high school diplomas. Both census blocks have identical total non-incarcerated 
populations. In terms of race, Block A is 80% White and 20% Black, Block B is 80% 
Black and 20% White. Block A is split evenly between high school and college degree 
recipients for Blacks and Whites, whereas Block B is primarily populated with resi
dents who did not graduate college, except for 10% that are Black college graduates. 
Thus, we return the White college degree recipient to block A, as well as four White 
high school graduates, one Black college graduate, and one Black high school graduate 
for a total of seven returning prisoners. Block B would also receive one Black college 
graduate, but also eight Black and two White high school graduates, for a total of 
eleven returning prisoners. 

Once our counterfactual is complete, we can then examine our three research 
objectives. First, we assess how much districts grow or shrink and produce represen
tational inequality as a result of hyperincarceration and whether any are in violation 
of the Supreme Court's one person, one vote rule. Second, we examine the extent to 
which incarceration shifts political power geographically, from urban to non-urban 
districts- a form of vote inequality. Third, we estimate how racial representation is 
affected to determine whether incarceration creates another form of vote inequality in 
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Pennsylvania. We achieve this by calculating the average change in a resident's district 
for Blacks, Latinos, and vVhites. 

Results 

The average district population change in our counterfactual, when persons are 
removed from districts where they are incarcerated and returned to their pre-prison 
districts, is nearly zero. However, the average masks substantial variation in residents 
gained and lost; the standard deviation is 83 7 residents. The change for all 203 districts 
appears in the Appendix, but we focus on the thirty-four districts which gained or lost 
more than 83 7 residents. First, we analyze the spatial pattern of these districts. The 
Pennsylvania district map in Figure I denotes districts that lost one standard deviation 
or more of residents as well as districts that gained more than one standard deviation 
in residents. Figure I illustrates that districts which lose the most residents are con
centrated in central and western Pennsylvania, the more rural portions of the state. 
In contrast, the districts that gain the most are located in southwestern (Pittsburgh), 
eastern (former industrial cities such as Allentown and Reading), and southeastern 
Pennsylvania (Philadelphia). 

As nearly one third of Pennsylvania's population lives in Philadelphia, Figure 2 
provides a closer look at this area. This map shows that three of the districts (two of 
which are contiguous) that gain more than one standard deviation are located in the 
heart of Philadelphia's African American neighborhoods. District 70, northwest of 
Philadelphia, which also gains more than 83 7 new residents, contains Norristown, a 
predominantly Black and Latino municipality. Turning to the three districts which 
lost more than 83 7 residents in Figure 2, two of the three are located outside of 
Philadelphia's urban core, whereas district 173, located in northeastern Philadelphia, 
contains Philadelphia's main jail facilities. 

To further examine the seventeen districts with more than one standard deviation 
in population loss, Table 1 shows the geographic type as well as the con~titutionality of 
each district.4 The results indicate that after prisoners are removed and returned, four 
districts are legally too small to qualify as a district with prisoners returned to their 
pre-prison districts. In other words, representational equality, which contemporary 
American democracy hinges on, is not achieved in four districts. For example, district 
150, located in Montgomery County, lost the most residents (n = -5,028), because 
it includes Graterford State Correctional Institution and Montgomery County's 
jail. Overall, these districts account for 5 .6 % of the Black and Latino population of 
Pennsylvania-including prisoners-and 9.1 % of Pennsylvania's White population. 

~ Lost > 1 SD of residents 
D 0,ange of< 1 SD 
• Gained > 1 SD of residents 

25 O 25 50 miles -Fig. 1. Estimated PA Legislative District Population Change, 2010 
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lam Lost > 1 SD of residents 
D Change of< l SO 
• Gained > 1 SD of residents 

Fig. 2. Estimated Southeastern PA Legislative District Population Change, 2010 

This shows that the location of prisons and jails shifts representation toward White 
populations and away from Black and Latino communities. 

Table 1 also shows that prison location fuels misrepresentation with regard to the 
urban/rural divide. Indeed, approximately 88% of these districts are non-urban. The 
two urban districts in Table 1 (19 and 173) lose a high number of residents because 
they contain Pittsburgh and Philadelphia's main county jails, so for both districts, the 
residents lost come from that same urban county but live in neighboring districts. 
Thus among districts with the most "phantom constituents," the majority are located 
outside the urban areas from which the majority of prisoners are drawn ('Vagner 
2002). While working as an advisor to Bob Casey's 1986 gubernatorial campaign, 
James Carville famously described Pennsylvania's state politics as Philadelphia and 
Pittsburgh with Alabama in between. In American politics in general, there is a signifi
cant urban/rural divide in voter preferences, one that is often used in gerrymandering 
(Gaskins and Iyers, 2012). However, our results suggest that incarceration, like the 
urban/rural divide in voter preference, buttresses Republican advantages even without 
partisan gerrymandering (Chen and Rodden, 2013; Goedert 2014). The results from 
Table 1 indicate that incarceration leads to an overrepresentation of non-urban voters 
in democratic processes via rural vote inflation due to prison location. Suburban and 
rural vote inflation, importantly, is only one half of the potential effects of prison ger
rymandering, as prison location may also lead to underrepresentation of urban voters 
via vote dilution in their home communities. 

Table 2 shifts attention to the districts that gained the most constituents. Table 2 
shows that after prisoners are returned to their pre-prison districts, four districts are 
too big to be a district. In other words, approximately 263,502 PA residents are con
stitutionally underrepresented. We include district 203 in Table 2 because it is legally 
too large, even though it adds less than one standard deviation in residents and has the 
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Table 1. Estimated PA Legislative Districts with Highest Constituent Loss, 2010 

District Geographic Type Population Lost Legally Too Small 

150 suburb -5,028 X 
173 urban -4,066 

19 urban -3, 797 X 
88 suburb -2,638 X 
47 suburb -2,147 

160 suburb -2,090 

76 rural -1,960 

120 suburb -1,906 

17 suburb -1,834 

63 rural -1,830 X 
69 rural -1,508 

50 rural -1,491 

106 suburb -1,316 

123 rural -1, l 05 

8 rural -1,091 

72 rural -1,000 

119 suburb -839 

19th largest gain of the 203 districts. Regarding geography, all four districts in viola
tion are urban or include a central city in a rural county; 197, 179, and 203 are located 
in Philadelphia and 71 .contains the central core of the Johnstown MSA in an other
wise rural county. Moreover, of the districts in Table 2 that expanded by more than 
one standard deviation, 65% are urban. Overall, the districts that gained more 
than one standard deviation of population represent 21 % of the Black and Latino 
population, but only 6.5% of the White population before our counterfactual. 
Furthermore, the magnitude of the effects in Table 2 is much larger than those in 
Table l; only one district gained more two standard deviations in residents (Table 1) 
whereas ten districts lost more than two standard deviations in population (Table 2). 
This indicates that prior work that looked only at where prisons are and not where 
prisoners come from underreported the impact of prison gerrymandering on polit
ical representation. 

The above results suggest that districts not only rely on prison populations to 
achieve representational equality, but the presence of prisoners in districts also pro
duces vote inequality. In other words, voters have more influence outside of urban, 
disproportionately White portions of the state because of prisoners. 

To specifically examine whether incarceration affects representation for White and 
non-White residents differently, we consider how much district change would grow in 
our counterfactual. If the average White, Black or Latino person's district grows in our 
counterfactual, then prisoners are more often counted elsewhere, thus weakening the 
power of the average White, Black or Latino vote because the non-voting prison
ers in ·their communities have been moved to other districts with fewer people of the 
same race. On the other hand, if the average White, Black or Latino person's district 
shrinks, it means that they live in districts where prisoners currently inflate the power 
of their vote in state elections because there are more non-voters in the district than 
there would be were prisoners to be counted in their home communities. 
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Table 2. Estimated PA Legislative Districts with Highest Constituent Gains, 2010 

District Geographic Type Change in District Population Legally Too Large 

65 rural 1,844 

121 urban 1,575 

95 urban 1,464 

51 rural 1,433 

199 urban 1,418 

70 urban 1,407 

127 urban 1,313 

77 rural 1,223 

197 urban 1,223 X 
180 urban 1,088 

71 rural 1,071 X 
179 urban 1,047 X 
103 urban 987 

107 rural 933 

1 urban 922 

190 urban 900 

116 suburb 880 

203 urban 790 X 

Note: Out of all 203 districts, district 203 has the 19th largest gain but is legally too large. 

Figure 3 shows that prison location benefits the typical White voter and weakens 
the average Black and Latino voter's representation, indicating that incarceration leads 
to both representational and vote inequality. Our calculations show that the average 
White person's district would lose roughly fifty-nine individuals in our counterfactual, 
with prisoners counted in their pre-prison districts. In other words, prisoners are arti
ficially inflating the average White person's voting power and representation in their 
district because prisoners make White districts' total populations grow but do not 
affect the voter population in that district. Implicit in that calculation is the fact that 
Black and Latino voters live in districts that have lost more population to incarcera
tion than they gain. Thus when we return prisoners to their pre-prison residences, 
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Fig. 3. District Size Change by Race/Ethnicity 
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the average Black and Latino voter's district gains approx{mately 353 and 313 voters 
respectively. In short, Black and Latino voters are being diluted in comparison to 
White voters because Blacks and Latinos are less likely to live in districts in which 
prisoners inflate the number of non-voting residents compared to \.Vhites. 

In general, differences of a few hundred residents are relatively small compared 
to the average size of a district (roughly 60,000). However, some districts have as 
few as 41,000 voting age adults and fewer than 20,000 votes were cast in approxi
mately 78% of the competitive races in 2014 (more than half of the House ran 
opposed in the general election and contested primaries had even lower turnout). 
Additionally, our counterfactual presents conservative estimates of the impact 
of incarceration. Nonetheless, Figure 3 illustrates the unequal representation of 
Black and Latino adults as prisoners and also the impact of prison location on 
average representation by race and ethnicity. Scholars of hyperincarceration have 
shown the devastating, localized effects of incarceration on specific neighborhoods 
(Burch 2014; Clear 2007). This analysis confirms that similar inequalities extend 
to political districts as well. 

In all, were incarcerated persons counted in their communities, over 100,000 
Black residents of Philadelphia (roughly 20% of Philadelphia's Black population) 
would live in districts deemed too large for Pennsylvania's districting to meet the 
Supreme Court's equal representation standard. Additionally, three of the four dis
tricts that grow too large are majority-minority districts; if prisoners are counted as 
living in their residence of origin, there is a substantial likelihood that an additional 
majority-minority district in Philadelphia would be necessary to satisfy the Voting 
Rights Act requirements. 

In sum, our results indicate that hyperincarceration affects political representa
tion in several ways. First, four districts violate representational equality via district 
size requirements, most of which are rural or suburban districts. The results also indi
cate that non-\Vhite political representation is diluted considerably because Black and 
Latino residents are disproportionately spread across geographic regions via incar
ceration. Finally, urban political voices are substantially underrepresented because of 
incarceration; three of the four districts that are too large according to district size 
requirements are urban. 

Discussion and Conclusion 

Equal political representation is a bedrock principle of modem representative democ
racy. However, representative American democracy is also defined partly by its racial 
ideology, from the Three-Fifths Compromise, to more recent efforts to deny voter 
access via voter identification laws, to the effort to overturn the one person, one vote 
principle in response to Latino immigration (Evenwel v. Abbott Brief by Cato Insti
tute 2015; Lipton and Urbina, 2007). Using Pennsylvania state legislative districts, we 
show how incarceration and American concepts of equal representation combine to 
create "phantom constituents" and racially unequal political representation. The 
incarcerated are not only missing from their communities, they are also benefitting 
other communities. 

In this study, we suggest that traditional debates over gerrymandering, analyzed 
as the process of drawing of boundaries around stable, residential populations (Chen 
and Rodden, 2013; Goedert 2014), may be missing a critical issue. An additional form 
of racial gerrymandering occurs before political boundaries are drawn by the impact of 
prisons on the geographic spread of racial minorities. As such, we show that the 
average \.Vhite vote's impact is stronger than normally considered because prisons 
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artificially inflate m::ijority White districts' populations while shrinking the average 
Black and Latino vote. The same is true about suburban and rural vs. urban districts. 
By and large, hyperincarceration not only drains potential voters out of urban, Black 
and Latino districts, it also artificially inflates the population in White, suburban and 
rural districts without adding a single voter to those districts. In other words, we find 
substantial evidence of vote inequality. 

This form of vote inequality recently drew national attention after the release of 
Florida's redrawn congressional districts, as previous redistricting lines were ruled ille
gal. New districts lines packed eighteen prisons and jails into one district, Florida's 5th. 
With thousands of "captive constituents," Florida's 5th congressional seat could be won 
by a Republican candidate. As one Florida state legislator described it, "You draw [a dis
trict] in such a fashion so perhaps, a majority, or maybe not a majority, but a number of 
[Black residents] will live in the prisons, ther~by not being able to vote" (Dixon 2015). 

While such examples are powerful, we demonstrate the impact of prison loca
tion on legislative representation by looking at all Pennsylvania districts. Indeed, four 
districts in Pennsylvania are too small according to the Supreme Court's one person 
equals one vote requirement once we return prisoners to their counties of origin, the 
majority of which are outside of the urban counties from most prisoners originate. On 
the other hand, at least four districts grow too large according to the same Supreme 
Court ruling once prisoners are returned, three of which are in Philadelphia. 

Although four districts represent a small percentage of the state legislature, it means 
that over 100,000 Black residents of Philadelphia do not experience representational 
equality as defined by the Supreme Court. While much research finds that incarceration 
has far reaching consequences on social and political life (see Wakefield and Uggen, 
2010 for a review), we find that unequal political representation is a perhaps more 
insidious consequence of hyperincarceration that shifts political power away from 
urban people of color and toward rural, predominantly White communities. Over 
half a century ago, the one person, one vote rule was created in response to racial 
underrepresentation. Today, racial underrepresentation has reemerged via a racial
ized system of punishment. 

That same logic may also promote racial inequality through other, seemingly 
race-neutral means. For example, any funding formula that relies on Census popu
lation counts may misappropriate funds due to how correctional populations are 
counted in their formulas (for an analysis of federal programs using populations based 
funding formulas, see Reamer 2010). As our counterfactual demonstrates, this poten
tial inequality not only benefits rural areas but also may starve urban centers of much 
needed support. On the other hand, prison facilities rely on some local resources like 
water, thus changing population counts for resource allocation may penalize districts 
with prisons. In light of this, we suggest that prisoners be counted in their home dis
tricts specifically to achieve equal representation. Resource allocation is a separate 
issue, which states can decide whether and how to address. 

This study also contributes to a growing literature on the consequences of 
mass incarceration for residents of Black and Latino communities. For instance, 
studies show that the contemporary criminal justice system (re)shapes residents' 
daily life as well as long-term Black and Latino outcomes (Rios 2011). Yet beyond 
these more overt implications, and similar to research on race and the growth of 
law and order politics (e.g. Mendelberg 2001), this study shows that the carceral 
state also has indirect effects both inside and outside of non-White communities 
by skewing political representation toward rural and suburban White communities 
and away from urban Black and Latino communities. This study highlights one of 
the many deleterious effects of incarceration on racial equality via the combination 
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of American concepts of equal representation, racial segregation, and transforma
tions in national politics and the economy that led to hyperincarceration and the 
construction of rural prisons. 

Since our study is the first to our knowledge to use a counterfactual approach 
to assess the impact of incarceration on representation, we view our work as the first 
step in understanding this topic. Consequently, limitations are worth considering. For 
example, Philadelphia-where roughly 40% of Pennsylvania's non-White population 
lives-is split into twenty-six districts. This may make Pennsylvania a unique case in 
which the impacts we identify are greater than in other states with fewer districts 
that may then be more likely to include both the home community and prison in the 
same district. On the other hand, Pennsylvania's many districts may have spread the 
returning prisoners across multiple urban districts, thus minimizing the impact on 
any single district. Additionally, as discussed earlier, our methods represent a con
servative estimate of the impact of prison location on redistricting, and more precise 
information about the origins of prisoners may identify more districts, including 
majority-minority districts, at risk of being representationally unequal. Future work 
should explore whether our findings in Pennsylvania are consistent with other states 
as well as finer grained approaches to return prisoners to specific neighborhoods in 
counterfactual simulations. 

Although more research is needed, a discussion of the policy implications is war
ranted, especially considering the Supreme Court's decision to hear a case challenging 
the one person, one vote rule and its subsequent ruling. In Evenwel v. Abbott (2016), 
the Court left open the possibility for states to privilege voting equality over repre
sentational equality in future redistrictings. Moreover, perhaps unlike other drivers 
of racial inequality, such as incarceration and health (Schnittker et al., 2011), political 
representation is a form of racial inequality that can be easily remedied. States should 
explicitly consider how to count prisoners in future redistricting efforts. Otherwise, 
hyperincarceration will continue to produce unequal representation. But recent devel
opments are positive. 

In the past few years, public policy experts working to spread public awareness 
have achieved some success (e.g. Prison Policy Initiative n.d.). Partly in response to 
such efforts, there have been increased calls to exclude prisoners from redistricting 
processes (vVood 2014). However, our results indicate that this remedies only a por
tion of the problem. Without counting prisoners in their pre-prison districts, urban 
districts and non-White voters remain underrepresented. In 2005, Congress asked the 
Census Bureau to report on the feasibility of counting prisoners at their permanent 
addresses. The Bureau argued that such an undertaking would be cost prohibitive 
and involve a number of impediments (U.S. Census Bureau 2006).'When the Census 
recently announced that it would not count prisoners at their homes in 2020 and 
invited public comments on the decision, nearly 100,000 Americans, including a group 
of senators responded, requesting a policy change (Kajstura 2016; \Vagner 2016). As 
of this writing, no changes have been made. 

Yet Delaware, Maryland, and New York recently demonstrated that it is pos
sible. With multi-agency collaboration and adequate resources and planning, these 
states counted prisoners at their pre-prison addresses and redistricted accordingly 
(see Wood 2014; McDonald 2011). States have prisoner addresses on hand to do 
so. As our counterfactual suggests, this state endeavor is critical to a representative 
democracy. 

Corresponding author: Professor Brianna Remster, Department of Sociology and Criminology, 
Villanova University, 800 E. Lancaster Avenue, 19085. E-mail: brianna.remster@villanova.edu. 
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NOTES 
1. Whether building prisons in rural areas actually benefitted these communities is debatable 

(see for ex: King et al., 2003). 
2. www.redistricting.state.pa.us 

· 3. The original 2011 redistricting was rejected by the Pennsylvania Supreme Court for split
ting too many municipalities and political divisions in the plan. A revised plan passed judi
ciary review in 2013 and the first elections using the new districts were held in 2014 and 
resulted in the growth of the Republican majority in the House legislature even though 
the Democratic challenger beat the incumbent Republican governor in the same electoral 
cycle with a vote margin greater than 300,000. 

4. Our results identify fewer districts that fail to meet the federal minimum size require
ments than Wagner and Lavarreda's (2009) analysis. This may be because we calculated 
the minimum size requirement based on the un-incarcerated population in Pennsylvania 
as opposed to Pennsylvania's total population (i.e., our results are based on a hypothetical 
Pennsylvania with all persons counted in their home districts regardless of whether they 
are incarcerated at the time). 
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Zajac, Gary, and Lindsay Kowalski (2012). An Examination of Pennsylvania Rural County Jails. The 
Center for Rural Pem1sylvania. Center for Rural Pennsylvania. <http://www.rural.pa1egislature. 
us/docurnents/reports/rural_county_jails_2012.pdf> (accessed October 6, 2015). 
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Education 

Rory Kramer 
Department of Sociology and Criminology, 285 St. Augustine Center 

Villanova University, Villanova, Pennsylvania 19085 
Rory.Kramer@villanova.edu 

Ph.: {610) 51 9-474 1 

Ph.D. University of Pennsylvania, Sociology (2012) 
with Certificate in Africana Studies 
Dissertation: What is on the Other Side of the Tracks? A Spatial Examination of 
Neighborhood Boundaries and Segregation 

M.A. University of Pennsylvania, Sociology (2007) 
B.A. Williams College, American Studies (2003) 

Cum laude 

Professional Ex erience 

Associate Professor of Sociology and Criminology, Villanova University (2019-present) 
Assistant Professor of Sociology and Criminology, Villanova University (2012-2019) 
Visiting Scholar, University of Pennsylvania Center for Africana Studies (2014-present) 

Articles 

Kramer, Rory and Brianna Remster. "The Slow Violence of Contemporary Policing" 
Forthcoming at Annual Review of Criminology 

2020 Buggs, Shantel, Sims, Jennifer, and Rory Kramer. "Rejecting White Distraction: A critique of 
the White Logic and White Methods in Academic Publishing" Ethnic and Racial Studies 
43(8): 1384-92 

2019 Kramer, Rory and Peter Kramer. "Diversifying but Not Integrating: An Entropy Based 
Measure of Local Segregation Instead of Local Diversity" Journal ~f Economic and Human 
Geography 110(3):251-70 

2018 Kramer, Rory. "Testing the Role of Barriers in Shaping Segregation Profiles: The Importance 
of Visualizing the Local Neighborhood" Environment and Planning B: Urban Analytics and 
City Sciences 45( 6): 1106-21 

2018 Remster, Brianna and Rory Kramer "Race, Space and Surveillance: Understanding the 
Relationship between Criminal Justice Contact and Institutional Involvement" Socius 4: 1-16 

2018 Remster, Brianna and Rory Kramer "Shifting Power: The Impact of Incarceration on Political 
Representation" Du Bois Review 15(2):417-39 
*Covered by Philadelphia Inquirer, Time Magazine, The Appeal, The New Republic 

2017 Kramer, Rory "Designing for and against Symbolic Boundaries" 16(4):369-73 
2017 Rory Kramer, Brianna Remster, and Camille Charles "Black Lives and Police Tactics Matter" 

Contexts 16(3):20-25 
2017 Kramer, Rory "Defensible Spaces in Philadelphia: Exploring Neighborhood Boundaries 

through Spatial Analysis" Russell Sage Foundation Journal of Social Sciences 3(2):81-101 



2016 Kramer, Rory, Lance Hannon and Robert DeFina. "Racial Rigidity in the United States" 
American Journal of Sociology 122(1):233-46 

2015 Charles, Camille, Rory Kramer, Kim Torres, and Rachelle Brunn-Bevel. "Intragroup 
Heterogeneity and Blackness: Effects of Racial Classification, Immigrant Origins, Social 
Class, and Social Context on the Racial Identity of Elite College Students" Race and Social 
Problems doi: http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007 /s12552-015-9157-2 

2015 Kramer, Rory, Ruth Burke, and Camille Charles. "When Change Doesn't Matter: Multiracial 
Identity Consistency and Emotional Well-Being in Adolescence" Sociology of Race and 
Ethnicity 1 (2):270-86 

2013 Lee, Elizabeth and Rory Kramer. "Out with the Old, In with the New? Habitus and Students' 
College Satisfaction and Achievement" Sociology of Education. 86(1 ): 18-35 

Reprinted in Clearing the Path for First-Generation College Students, eds Ashley 
Rondini and Bedelia Nicola Richards, Lexington Books. 

2011 Kramer, Rory and Elizabeth Vaquera. "Are all the Cool Kids Doing it? Social Isolation, 
Social Saturation and Risk Behaviors" Sociological Perspectives 54(1): 37-58 

2008 Kramer, Rory. "Diversifiers at Elite Schools" Du Bois Review 5(2): 287-307 

Research Grants 

Andrew Mellon Foundation, "Diverse Students, Diverse Experiences: Minority Achievement at 
America's Selective Colleges and Universities" (2015-2016), $399,000, Co-PI with Camille 
Charles 

Summer Research Fellowship, Villanova University (2014), $10,000 
Pollack Grant for Graduate Research, Depaltment of Sociology, University of Pennsylvania (2011 ), 

$3000 
Pollack Grant for Graduate Research, Department of Sociology, University of Pennsylvania (2006), 

$2500 

Work In Progress 

Charles, Camille, Rory Kramer, Kimberly Torres, Douglas Massey. Diverse Students, Diverse 
Experiences: Minority Achievement at America's Selective Colleges and Universities Book 
Manuscript Under Review at Princeton University Press 

Remster, Brianna, Rory Kramer, and Chris Smith. Race, Gender, and Police Violence in the Shadow 
of Controlling Images Revise & Resubmit 

Fernholz, Ricardo and Rory Kramer. Racing to Zipfs Law: Race and Metro Population Size 1910-
2010. Under Review, available at https://osf io/preprints/socarxiv/p5tuhl 

Bracey, Glenn, Rory Kramer, and Michael Emerson. Is Black Lives Matter a Gospel Issue: The 
Racialized Relationship between Religion and Justice. Under Review 

Kramer, Rory, Camille Charles, and Thai-Huy Nguyen Cumulative Impact of Stressful Life Events 
on Graduation at Elite Institutions. In Progress 

Review Publications 



Kramer, Rory and Camille Charles. 2014. "Durable Change: Race, Inequality, and the City" Du Bois 
Review 11(1 ): 177-84 

Rory Kramer. 2010. Review of "Divergent Social Worlds: Neighborhood Crime and the Racial
Spatial Divide" by Ruth Peterson and Lauren Krivo. Teachers College Record 

Selected Academic Presentations 

"Cumulative Impact of Stressful Life Events on Graduation at Elite Institutions" Presented at 
Sociology of Education Association Annual Conference, Asilomar, CA February 2020 

"The Role of Barriers in Shaping Segregation Profiles: The Importance of Visualizing Local Effects" 
Presented at Annual Meetings of the American Sociological Association, Montreal, CN 
August 2017 

"Diverse but not Integrated: An Entropy Based Measure of Local Segregation." Presented at Royal 
Statistical Society Conference Manchester, UK September 2016. 

"He's Just a Kid: Race, Age, and Police Violence in New York City" Presented at Rutgers Sociology 
Colloquium, November 11, 2015. 

"He's Just a Kid: Race, Age, and Police Violence in New York City" Presented at University of 
Pennsylvania Sociology Colloquium, September 30, 2015. 

"Defensible Spaces in Philadelphia: Exploring Neighborhood Boundaries through Spatial Analysis" 
Presented at Russell Sage Foundation, New York, NY February 2015 · 

"Defensible Spaces in Philadelphia: Exploring Neighborhood Boundaries through Spatial Analysis" 
Presented at Migrants in the City, Sheffield University, October 2015. 

"Diverse but not Integrated: An Entropy Based Measure of Local Segregation." Presented at 
Migrants in the City, Sheffield University, October 2015. 

"Diverse but not Integrated: An Entropy Based Measure of Local Segregation." Presented at the 
Annual Meetings of the American Sociological Association, New York, NY. August 2013 

"Boundaries, Barriers, and Measuring Segregation." Presented at the Annual Meetings of the 
American Sociological Association, Denver, CO. August 2012 

"How Integrated is "Integration?" Examining Intra-Neighborhood Segregation in Philadelphia." 
Presented at the Annual Meetings of the American Sociological Assaciation, Las Vegas, NV. 
August 2011. 

"Mapping Inequality: A Preliminary Exploration of a Boundary-Based Measure of Segregation" 
Presented to Race, Ethnicity and Immigration Workshop, University of Pennsylvania, 
Philadelphia, PA. November 2010 

"Out with the Old, In with the New? Habitus and Students' College Satisfaction and Achievement" 
Presented at the Annual Meetings of the American Sociological Association, Atlanta, GA. 
August 2010 

"Fluid or Fixed: Which is better? Multiracial Identity Consistency and Emotional Well-Being in 
Adolescence" Presented at the Annual Meetings of the American Sociological Association, 
Atlanta, GA. August 2010 

"Young, Gifted.and ... .. Postracial? Black Racial Identity in the Age of Obama" Presented at the 
Annual Meetings of the American Sociological Association, San Francisco, CA. August 2009 

"Who Is Really Doing It? Risk Behaviors in Adolescence." Presented at the Annual Meetings of the 
American Sociological Association, Boston, MA. August 2008 

Professional Activities and Service 



Member, Editorial Board Sociology of Race and Ethnicity, 2021-present 
Member, Editorial Board, Sociological Currents, 2020-present 

Member, Sociology of Race and Ethnicity Oliver Cromwell Cox Book Award Committee (2020) 
Executive Committee of Faculty Congress, (2019-present) 
Member, Academic Policy Committee, Faculty Congress, Villanova University (2019-present) 
Chair, Local Planning Committee, 2018 ASA Annual Conference 
Member, Faculty Rights and Responsibilities Committee, Faculty Congress, Villanova University 

(2016-2018) 
Member, Community and Urban Sociology Robert E. Park Book Award Committee (2016) 
Co-Founder, Sociologists for Justice 
Chair, Website Committee, Department of Sociology and Criminal Justice, Villanova University 

(2012-2016) 
Co-Coordinator of Penn's Workshop on Race, Ethnicity and Immigration (2007-2009) 
Graduate Student Representative, Department of Sociology, University of Pennsylvania (2005-2006) 
Reviewer for American Sociological Review, American Journal of Sociology, Social Problems, 

Sociology of Education, Sociological Quarterly, Du Bois Review, Sociology of Race and 
Ethnicity, Race and Social Problems, Sociological Inquiry, Social Forces 

Member ASA (2007-present) 

Selected Public Presentations 

Invited Panelist, "Redistricting and Gerrymandering: The Good, the Bad, the Ugly" Take Action 
Philly (2021) 

Invited Speaker, "The Problem of Prison Gerrymandering" Fair Districts PA Annual Conference 
(2019) 

Speaker, "Race, Space, and Place" Great Minds Salon, Princeton Jewish Center (January 2017) 
Invited Panelist, "Voices on Police Militarization: Ferguson and Beyond" Temple Student Public 

Interest Network Annual Forum (October 2014) 
Invited Presenter, "Segregation and Philadelphia," Villanova Alumni of Graterford Prison (October 

2013). 

Honors and Awards 

Penn Prize for Excellence in Teaching (2007) 
William Penn Fellowship, Department of Sociology, University of Pennsylvania (2005-2009) 
W. Ford Schuman Fellow in Democratic Studies, Williams College (2001-2002) 

Courses Taught 

Urban Sociology 
Segregation and Discrimination 
Honors Seminar: Segregation and Discrimination 
Race and Racism 



Introduction to Sociology 
Social Theory 
Social Statistics 



EMPLOYMENT 

Brianna Remster 
Villanova University 

Department of Sociology & Criminology 
b1ianna.remster@v il lano a.edu 

briannaremster.com 
E!Oogle scholar 

Associate Professor of Sociology and Criminology, Villanova University, 2019-
Assistant Professor of Sociology and Criminology, Villanova University, 2013-2019 

EDUCATION 

Ph.D. The Pennsylvania State University, Sociology 
M.A. The Pennsylvania State University, Crime, Law, and Justice 
B.A. cum laude University of Dayton, Criminal Justice Studies and Sociology 

AREAS Of INTEREST 

Crime, Law, and Deviance; Formal Social Control; the Life Course 

PUBLICATIONS 

Kramer, Rory and Brianna Remster. Forthcoming. "The Slow Violence of Contemporary 
Policing." Annual Review of Criminology. 

Remster, Brianna. 2021. "Homelessness among Formerly Incarcerated Men: Patterns and 
Predictors." ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Sciences 693: 141-
157. 

Warner, Cody and Brianna Remster. 2021. "Criminal Justice Contact, Residential 
Independence, and Returns to the Parental Home." Journal of Marriage and Family 
83(2):322-39. 

Massoglia, Michael and Brianna Remster. * 2019. "The Linkages between Incarceration and 
Health." Public Health Reports 134:8S-14S. 

Remster, Brianna. 2019. "Homelessness and Crime." In Oxford Bibliographies in Criminology. 
Ed: Beth M. Huebner. New York: Oxford University Press. 

Remster, Brianna. 2019. "A Life Course Analysis of Homeless Shelter Use among the 
Formerly Incarcerated." Justice Quarterly 36(3):437-65. 



Press: Criminal Justice Research Alliance, Philadelpbia pub lic rad io, Bowling Green 
Daily News 

Remster, Brianna and Rory Kramer. 2018. "Shifting Power: The Impact oflncarceration on 
Political Representation." Du Bois Review 15(2):417-39. 

Press: The Associated Press. NPR. Time Magazin1::. The Economist. The New Republic , 
The Appeal, The Daily Appeal. The Philadelphia Inquirer, The Philadelphia Inquirer 
(2 11J) _ The Philadelphia Inquirer Ediloria l Board, Th Why p dcast, Philadelphia pub lic 
radio, Philadelphia public radio (2nd) , Pittsburgh public radio. HaJTisburg pub lic rad io, 
PA Capita l-Star. PA Capital-Star (2 nd

). Wilkes Barre The Citizens ' Voice. Philadelphia 
BillvPenn. Minnesota's Post Bulletin. The Philadelphia Sun. Southern Minnesotan 

Kramer, Rory and Brianna Remster. 2018. "Stop, Frisk, and Assault? Racial Disparities in 
Police Use of Force during Investigatory Stops." Law and Society Review 52(4):960-93 . 

Reprinted in Search and Seizure Law Report 2020 47(3):25-33 . 
Undark Maga:ine Int rvi w 
Law and Society Review Blog Post 

Remster, Brianna and Cody Warner. 2018. "Residential Insecurities and Neighborhood Quality 
Following Incarceration." pp. 69-84 in Handbook of the Consequences of Sentencing and 
Punishment Decisions. Beth Huebner and Natasha Frost (Eds). New York, NY: 
Routledge. 

Remster, Brianna and Rory Kramer. 2018. "Race, Space, and Surveillance: Understanding the 
Relationship between Criminal Justice Contact and Institutional Involvement." Socius 
4:1-16. 

Featured by The Society Pages' Discoveries 

Kramer, Rory, Brianna Remster, and Camille Charles. 2017. "Black Lives and Police Tactics 
Matter." Contexts 16(3):20-25. 

American Sociological A ociation Podcast Interview 

Remster, Brianna. 2014. "Self-Control and the Depression-Delinquency Link." Deviant 
Behavior 35(1):66-84. 

Felson, Richard B., Eric Silver, and Brianna Remster. 2012 "Mental Disorder and Offending in 
Prison." Criminal Justice and Behavior 39(2):125-43. 

Massaglia, Michael, Brianna Remster, and Ryan D. King. 2011. "Stigma or Separation? 
Understanding the Incarceration-Divorce Relationship." Social Forces 90(1): 111-32. 

*Denotes equal authorship. 
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WORK IN PROGRESS 

Remster, Brianna, Chris Smith, and Rory Kramer. "Say Her Name: Gender, Race, and Police 
Violence in the Shadow of Controlling Images." (Revise and Resubmit: Under Review) 

Remster, Brianna and Melissa Hodges. "Intersections in Disadvantage: Examining Gender, 
Race, and the Incarceration Wage Penalty." (Draft Available) 

GRANTS AND AWARDS 

University Summer Grant, Villanova University. "The Gendered Incarceration Wage Penalty" 
(with Melissa Hodges) (2018) 

Faculty Development Grant, Villanova University (2016) 

Junior Faculty Award for Excellence in Teaching, Villanova University (2015) 

Summer Research Fellowship, Villanova University. "(Un)Representative Democracy? The 
Political Consequences of Mass Incarceration" (2015) 

Second Prize, Graduate Student Paper Competition, Pennsylvania State University, Crime, Law, 
and Justice Program for "The Role of Self-Control in the Depression-Delinquency Link" 
(2012) 

First Prize, Graduate Student Paper Competition, Pennsylvania State University, Crime, Law, 
and Justice Program for "Does the Type of Volunteering Matter? Disentangling the 
Effects of Pro Social Behavior on Arrest" (2011) 

PRESENTATIONS AND PANELS 

Remster, Brianna. 2021. "End Prison Gerrymandering in Pennsylvania." Panelist, at four 
regional forums sponsored by Fair Districts PA, the Abolitionist Law Center, Decarcerate 
PA, Free the Ballot, Keystone Decarceration Bloc, League of Women Voters of PA, PA 
ACLU, Pennsylvania Council of Churches, Straight Ahead, and the Urban League of 
Philadelphia. 

Remster, Brianna. 2020. "Toward an Understanding of Homelessness among Formerly 
Incarcerated Men: Patterns and Predictors." ANNALS of the American Academy of 
Political and Social Sciences Author Conference. 

Remster, Brianna. 2020. "Ending Prison Gerrymandering: What We Can Do in 2020 and 
Beyond." Panelist, Pennsylvania Summit sponsored by Philadelphia Census Counts, 
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Committee of Seventy, Keystone Progress, and the Urban League of Philadelphia. 
Philadelphia, PA. 

Remster, Brianna. 2019. "Suffrage for Incarcerated Persons." Panelist, The Political and Civil 
Rights Society, Temple University Law. 

Remster, Brianna, Chris Smith, and Rory Kramer. 2019. "Say Her Name: Gender, Race, and 
Police Violence in the Shadow of Controlling Images." Paper presented at the annual 
meetings of the Society for Ethics across the Curriculum, Radnor, PA. Meeting theme: 
Race and Justice in America. 

Kramer, Rory and Brianna Remster 2019. "Unpacking Sources of Racial Bias in Police Violence 
during Investigatory Stops." Paper presented at the annual meetings of the American 
Society of Criminology, San Francisco, CA. 

Remster, Brianna. 2019. "Reporting on Crime and Public Safety." Panelist, The Justice 
Collaborative. 

Remster, Brianna, Chris Smith, and Rory Kramer. 2019. "Say Her Name: Gender, Race, and 
Police Violence in the Shadow of Controlling Images." Paper presented at the annual 
meetings of the American Sociological Association, New York, NY. 

Smith, Chris, Brianna Remster, Rory Kramer. 2019. "Say Her Name: Gender, Race, and Police 
Violence during Investigatory Stops." Paper presented at the annual meetings of the Law 
and Society Association, Washington, DC. 

Remster, Brianna. 2019. "The Impact of Incarceration on Political Representation and Voting." 
Eastern ~tate Penitentiary, Searchlight Series, Philadelphia, PA. 

Remster, Brianna and Melissa Hodges. 2018. "Labor Market Double Jeopardy: The Gendered 
Effect of Incarceration on Wages." Paper presented at the annual meetings of the 
American Society of Criminology, Atlanta, GA. 

Remster, Brianna. 2018. ""Not for Rent": A Film Screening and Discussion of Housing Policy 
and Reentry'into Society." Panelist at the annual meetings of the Law and Society 
Association, Toronto, Canada. 

Warner, Cody and Brianna Remster. 2018. "From the Cot to the Couch? The Effect of Criminal 
Justice Contact on Home Leaving and Home Returning." Paper presented at the annual 
meetings of the Population Association of America, Denver, CO. 

Kramer, Rory and Brianna Remster. 2018. "Stop, Frisk, and Assault? Racial Disparities in Police 
Use of Force during Investigatory Stops". Paper presented at Villanova School of Law 
Colloquium Series. 
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Kramer, Rory and Brianna Remster. 2017. "Policing the Segregated City: A Multi-Scale 
Examination of Segregation and Racial Inequality in Police Use of Force in New York 
City". Paper presented at the annual meetings of the American Society of Criminology, 
Philadelphia, PA. 

Remster, Brianna and Melissa Hodges. 2017. "The Gendered Effect of Incarceration on Wages." 
Paper presented at the annual meetings of the American Sociological Association, 
Montreal, Canada. 

Remster, Brianna. 2017. ""He was Just a Kid": Police Violence, Race, and Age in New York 
City". Alpha Kappa Delta Honors Induction Address, University of Dayton, 

Remster, Brianna. 2016. "The Effects of Adolescent Involvement in Crime and Arrest on Young 
Adult Health" Paper presented at the annual meetings of the American Society of 
Criminology, New Orleans, LA. 

Kramer, Rory and Brianna Remster. 2016. ""He was Just a Kid": Police Violence, Race, and Age 
in New York City" Paper presented at the annual meetings of the American Sociological 
Association, Seattle, WA. 

Remster, Brianna and Rory Kramer. 2015. "Institutional Avoidance or Engagement? How Race 
Shapes the Relationship between Criminal Justice Contact and Institutional 
Involvement." Paper presented at the annual meetings of the American Society of 
Criminology, Washington D.C. 

Remster, Brianna. 2015. "(Un)Representative Democracy? The Political Consequences of Mass 
Incarceration." Paper presented at the University of New Mexico, Sociology Colloquium 
Series. 

Remster, Brianna. 2014. "Adolescent Volunteerism as a Bridge to Adult Pro Social Behavior: 
Implications for Desistance" Paper presented at the annual meetings of the American 
Society of Criminology, San Francisco, CA. 

Remster, Brianna and Rory Kramer. 2014. "(Un)Representative Democracy? The Political 
Consequences of Mass Incarceration" Paper presented at the annual meetings of the 
American Sociological Association, San Francisco, CA. 

Remster, Brianna. 2012. "Incarceration and Homelessness: Pathways from Prison to Shelter" 
Paper presented at the annual meetings of the American Society of Criminology, 
Chicago, IL. 

Warner, Cody, and Brianna Remster. 2012. "Incarceration and the Transition to Residential 
Independence" Paper presented at the annual meetings of the American Society of 
Criminology, Chicago, IL. 
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Remster, Brianna, Michael Massoglia, and Christopher Uggen. 2012. "The Divergent Effects of 
Elective and Mandatory Volunteering on Subsequent Arrest." Paper presented at the 
annual meetings of the American Sociological Association, Denver, CO. 

Remster, Brianna. 2011. "Mental Illness and the Incarceration-Homelessness Nexus." Paper 
presented at the annual meetings of the American Society of Criminology, Washington, 
DC. 

Remster, Brianna, Michael Massoglia, and Christopher U ggen 2011. "Does the Type of 
Volunteering Matter? Disentangling the Effects of Pro Social Behavior on Arrest." Paper 
presented at the annual meetings of the American Society of Criminology, Washington, 
DC. 

Remster, Brianna, Claire E. Altman, and Michael Massoglia. 2010. "Victimization and the 
Decision to Migrate." Paper presented at the annual meetings of the American Society of 
Criminology, San Francisco, CA. 

Remster, Brianna, Michael Massoglia, and Ryan D. King. 2010. "Stigma or Separation? The 
Incarceration-Divorce Relationship." Paper presented at the annual meetings of the 
American Sociological Association, Atlanta, GA. 

Remster, Brianna, Michael Massoglia, and Ryan D. King. 2009. "Incarceration, Deployment and 
Divorce: The Effect of Time Away." Paper presented at the annual meetings of the 
American Society of Criminology, Philadelphia, PA. 

Remster, Brianna. 2008. "The Role of Self-Control in the Depression-Delinquency 
Relationship." Paper presented at the annual meetings of the American Society of 
Criminology, St. Louis, MO. 

TEACHING EXPERIENCE 

Villanova: Introduction to Criminology (CRM 1001) 
Juvenile Delinquency (CRM 3100) 
Research Methods (SOC 5400) 
Senior Seminar (CRM 6500) 

Penn State: Sociology of Deviance (CRIM 406/SOC 406) 
Research Methods (CRIM 250W) 
Advanced Causal Methods Teaching Assistant (CU/SOC 515) 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICE 

Discipline 
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Ad-hoc Referee: 
American Journal of Sociology 
American Sociological Review 
Child ·Welfare 
Crime and Delinquency 
Criminal Justice and Behavior 
Criminology 
Criminology and Public Policy 
Demography 
Deviant Behavior 
Health and Justice 
Journal of Contemporary Criminal Justice 
Journal of Health and Social Behavior 
Journal of Marriage and Family 
Journal of Men 's Studies 

Committees: 

Journal of Quantitative Criminology 
Justice Quarterly 
Law and Society Review 
Oiford Press 
Preventative Medicine 
Routledge Press 
Qualitative Sociology 
Social Currents 
Social Problems 
Social Science Research 
Sociological Forum 
Sociology of Race and Ethnicity 
State Politics and Policy Quarterly 
Victims and Offenders 

Program Committee, Sub-Area Chair, American Society of Criminology (2021-22) 

I 

Mentor, Division of Corrections and Sentencing 20-for-20 Program, American Society of 
Criminology (2019-21) 

Nominations Committee, Crime, Law, and Deviance Section, American Sociological 
Association (2020-21) 

Chair, Nominations Committee, Crime, Law, and Deviance Section, American Sociological 
Association (2019-20) 

Program Committee, Sub-Area Chair, American Society of Criminology (2019-20) 

Program Committee, Division of Corrections and Sentencing, American Society of Criminology 
(2019) 

Chair, Program Committee, Division of Corrections and Sentencing, American Society of 
Criminology (2018) 

Chair, Local Reception Crime, Law, and Deviance Section, American Sociological Association 
(2018) 

Graduate Student Paper Competition Committee, Crime, Law, and Deviance Section, American 
Sociological Association (2015) 

University 
Presidential Scholars Selection Committee (2021) 
Small Grants Evaluation Committee (2021) 
Honors Thesis Chair (2020-2021) 
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VITAL Mentor to New Faculty (2018- 2020) 
Faculty Congress Task Force on Priority Registration for Student Athletes (2016) 
Athletic Advisory Committee (2016) 

Invited Presentations 
"Gender and the Incarceration Wage Penalty." Peace and Justice Faculty Lunch, Center for 

Peace and Justice Education (2020) 

"Incarceration and Homelessness." Faculty Research Panel, Hunger and Homelessness 
Awareness Week (2019) 

"Shifting Power: How Incarceration Distorts Political Representation." Faculty Research Panel, 
Bryan Stevenson One Book Event Series (2018) 

"Patterns of Homelessness among Ex-Inmates." Faculty Research Panel, Hunger and 
Homelessness Awareness Week (2017) 

"The Return", Film Discussant, Center for Peace and Justice Education (2017) 

"Mass Incarceration and Racial Inequality." Presentation at MLK, Jr. Freedom School sponsored 
by the Center for Peace and Justice Education (2016) 

"Mass Incarceration and Social Inequality." Presentation at MLK, Jr. Freedom School sponsored 
by the Center for Peace and Justice Education (2015) 

College 
Outcomes Assessment Liaison (2014-2017) 
Fritz Nova Memorial Lecture Committee (2015-16) 

Department 
Chair, Visiting Assistant Professor Search Committee (2021) 
Curriculum Committee (2017-present) 
Chair, Assistant Professor Search Committee (2018) 
Programming Committee (2018-19) 
Methods Curriculum Committee (2015-2016) 
Teaching Evaluation Committee (2015-2016) 

PROFESSIONAL AFFILIATIONS 

Member of the American Society of Criminology, 2007-present 
Division Membership: Corrections and Sentencing; Developmental and Life Course 
Criminology; Policing 

Member of the American Sociological Association, 2007-present 
Section Membership: Crime, Law, and Deviance; Sociology of Law 
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Member of the Law and Society Association, 2017-present 
Section Membership: Punishment and Society 
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John Nagle 8/4/21 

My name is John Nagle. I live in Pittsburgh in the 45th senatorial district represented by Senator Costa 

and HD23 represented by Dan Frankel. I'm a professor emeritus of physics and biological sciences at 

CMU. Besides doing physics, I've also been studying redistricting since 2012 and I've published four peer

reviewed papers on this subject in Election Law Journal, arguably the premier journal on redistricting. I 

thank the LRC for this opportunity to share my views on this very important issue. I wish to advocate for 

maps that have overall partisan fairness and that are responsive. While I think these are the most 

important criteria, I realize that the PA constitution prioritizes the traditional, so-called neutral, criteria of 

compactness and minimizing splits of political subdivisions. I therefore simply advocate that you consider 

fairness and responsiveness as secondary criteria while still satisfying the traditional criteria. I'd like to 

emphasize that partisan fairness can be measured. I've done it in my papers following the paths of many 

political scientists. DRA now calculates many measures of bias for its users. A good and simple one is the 

seats bias which DRA users can find in the Advanced section. It is based on the obvious principle that 

when the total vote is equal for two parties, the map should on average award them each the same 

number of seats. DRA estimates that the current PA senate map has a seat bias of 8.8%. That translates to 

a most probable outcome of 21 Democratic seats in the PA senate versus 29 GOP seats when the vote is 

evenly split. That estimate is rather close to actuality. Another simple measure in DRA Advanced section is 

the votes measure. It gives the estimated deviation from 50% vote for half the seats. The current PA 

senate map has a vote deviation of 3.1 %. That translates to Democrats having to win 53.1 % of the vote for 

half the seats. Of course, actual elections do not usually result in 50% vote or 50% seats, but standard 

political science methodology enables filling in the gaps by drawing a seats-votes curve with quite small 

uncertainties of order 0.5%. DRA shows seat-votes curves in its Advanced section. Incidentally, the 

Proportionality rating in the DRA Analytics section is an inferior measure of bias - it doesn't even indicate 

which party the bias favors. I will be using DRA to evaluate partisan bias in maps in this next cycle. And I 

expect to have lots of company. It's going to be quite an interesting and different round of redistricting. I'd 

also like to brag a bit. Before DRA had installed this methodology, I used it to evaluate the 2018 

Congressional map before the 2018 election and I nailed it. But I want to emphasize that the actual 

outcome of a 9 to 9 split in the congressional delegation only occurred when Democrats won almost 54% 

of the 2-party vote. That is still a 4% vote bias that favors the GOP. It's amusing that there have been 

complaints that the court drew a Democratic gerrymander. Another way to look at the 2018 congressional 

map is that if the GOP had won 54% of the vote, the GOP would likely have won 13 seats. So, why is the 

congressional map drawn under a Democratic court still biased in favor of the GOP? The reason is well 

known. It's because the traditional criteria for redistricting exacerbate the political geography of the state. 

These criteria automatically pack city Democrats in PA into fewer districts. The consequence is that the 

representation of progressive voters is diluted relative to that of conservative voters. Believing that the 

so-called neutral criteria of compactness and non-splitting will lead to fairness is what political scientists 

have called the myth of non-partisan cartography. They also call it unintentional gerrymandering. It's not 

done intentionally by a commission. It's done by the criteria. These traditional, so-called neutral criteria 

are simply unfair to progressive city voters like me. Unfortunately, that is our playing field and it ties the 

hands of the LRC. Nevertheless, the LRC's hands are not completely tied. You can choose the maps that 

are a bit fairer and more responsive to voters, while still satisfying the traditional criteria. Although 

Republicans will likely object, they should be comforted that even the fairest traditional map will probably 

still require Democrats to win 52% of the vote to obtain half the seats. This assessment is based on 

legislative maps I have seen that have been drawn by a variety of mappers. Let me finish by specifically 

commenting on responsiveness to voters. More responsiveness means that a there is larger shift in the 



composition of the legislature when the will of the people shifts. That requires competitive districts. Now, 
four members of this commission represent caucuses whose incumbents may not especially relish 
exchanging a safe district for a competitive one. Both parties have an interest in what is called bipartisan 
gerrymandering. So, I realize that this is not an easy sell. However, I think there is a valid concern that the 
dominant parties in safe districts tend to nominate candidates further from the political middle, and that 

their subsequent election makes governing more difficult. So, even though the caucus leaders may feel 

conflicted, I'm hoping that at least the chair will be sympathetic to considering responsiveness. In 
summary, to the extent possible, I'm urging you to consider reducing bias and increasing responsiveness 

as criteria to include in your deliberations. When you have collected many maps that satisfy the 
traditional criteria, please consider less bias and greater responsiveness as tie-breaking criteria. Than,k 

you for giving me this time to testify. 
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Dr. Eric Lindgren 

August 4, 2021 

My name is Dr. Eric Lindgren. I have a PhD in political science and several published papers on 

gerrymandering, redistricting, and district elections. I currently teach Data Analytics and Policy on line at 

Johns Hopkins University. My wife and I live on 30 acres near Holbrook, in Greene County. We are in the 

50th house district represented by Pam Snyder and the 46th senate district represented by Camera 

Bartolotta. My family has roots in Pennsylvania going back to 1970 as my father taught at Slippery Rock 

University for almost 50 years. My wife's family has lived on and owned this property, where I am now, in 

Greene county for over 100 years. I am here speaking in my personal capacity and I am not affiliated with 

any organization. I have two points I wish to make before this commission. I urge the commission to 

construct competitive districts and not gerrymander the districts to artificially advantage any interest or 

party. Furthermore, I would like to advocate for a different configuration for Greene county's senate 

district. First, I will briefly discuss my research and the arguments against gerrymandering. 

Gerrymandering is fundamentally unfair and leads to voter disillusionment, apathy, less competitive 

elections, more extreme representatives and loss of accountability. My research and the scholarly 

consensus suggest that competitive elections are the best way to ensure that voters have their interests 

represented and to hold legislators accountable to the people. I am urging the committee to create maps 

with the largest number of competitive districts as it can, and to require competition as an explicit 

criterion in the creation of all of Pennsylvania's districts. I am including as an attachment to my testimony 

a copy of my published article entitled ''The Effect of Electoral Competitiveness on Ideological Voting 

Patterns in the US House 2001-201 0" (Politics & Policy June 2014). In this paper, my co-author Priscilla 

Southwell and I conduct a cross-sectional time series analysis of the voting patterns and ideological 

alignment of US house members for an entire ten-year redistricting cycle. We found that the more 
competitive the race, the more moderate is the voting record of the winning candidate in the next session 

of Congress. We also found that a large margin of victory leads to a more ideological extreme voting 

record, and that more homogeneously partisan districts are more likely to have representatives with 
more extremely ideological voting patterns. This suggests that competitive elections hold representatives 

accountable to their district and have a moderating effect overall. The paper used DWnominate scores, 

which capture the ideological leanings and votes of the legislators and the methodology can be 

somewhat hard to understand but when we say moderate we mean 'closer to the ideal center of the 

aggregate democratic will' not some static 'middle'. While our analysis looked at the US House of 

Representatives, there is every reason to think that these findings would also apply to electoral 

representation at the state level. Next, I would like to speak briefly about the senate district which will 

contain Greene county. I believe the current configuration of our senate district does not keep 

communities with similar needs, interests, and livelihoods together, and includes socio-economic 

communities which have interests out of alignment with the needs of rural Greene county residents. I am 

urging the committee to consider combining Greene county with a more similar population located in 

Fayette county to make a more compact district. As many of you know, Greene county is a very small 

rural county with a population of around 36,000 residents. So, it is not a question of if Greene will have to 

be combined with another county to make a senate district, but which county or counties to combine 

with. The current configuration of SD46 includes populations north of Washington running almost all the 

way to Aliquippa and including parts of Beaver county. The areas north of Washington have experienced 

growth over the past 10 years, and now are considered part of the metropolitan Pittsburgh area. They do 

not share the same infrastructure needs that we do, especially access to rural broadband. Their economy 

is also not like Greene county's in that they are near the airport and a new natural gas facility. The new 



turnpike extension will also add to these growth trends. The county of Fayette shares more with Greene 

than Beaver and northern Washington. Many Fayette county residents are also in house district 50. There 

are many connecting roads. We share farming and mining as the dominant industries. Our schools have 

many competitions. I have compiled some statistics for the four counties, showing that Greene and 

Fayette share similar demographic profiles: Statistic Beaver Washington Greene Fayette% in Poverty 

11.7% 9.9% 14.2% 17.5% % w/o Insurance 5.6% 5.9% 6.4% 6.8% % Disabled 11.6% 10.4% 15.2% 14.9% o/o 

w/ BA/BS 25% 30% 18% 17% o/o with Broadband 81 o/o 82% 78% 75% Median Income $57.8k $63.Sk $54.7k 

$47.3k Source: US Census Bureau Quickfacts most data is from 2019. Accessed: 8/3/2021 As this table 

shows, Greene and Fayette have higher percentages of persons living in poverty, persons without health 

insurance and disabled residents than Beaver or Washington Counties. It has lower percentages of 

persons with a bachelor's degree and households with Broadband internet access. A more compact 

district woufd also increase voter's perception of legitimacy and make campaigning for the district's 

interests more coherent and logical, potentially leading to more competitive elections. Our house district 

is much more compact and 'makes more sense', and it has very competitive elections almost every cycle. 

In a second published paper "The Effect of Redistricting Commissions on Electoral Competitiveness in U.S. 

House Elections, 2002-201 O", (Journal of Politics and Law, vol.6, no.2, 2013) also with Priscilla Southwell, 

we found that districts drawn without using gerrymandering tactics and designed to promote 

competitiveness led to more competitive races over the entire decade, with the margin of victory in those 

districts 10 to 12 points closer than in districts drawn with unrestricted rules. I have submitted that paper 

along with my testimony. This combined with the research I mentioned earlier could lead to a 'virtuous 

cycle', where competitive districts lead to more moderate representation, which leads to better reflections 

of the popular will in government. Then, the voters can replace legislators who don't reflect that will 

through competitive elections in the next cycle, or reward those that do. I want to thank the committee 

for allowing me to speak. I would encourage you to increase the opportunities for the people of the state 

to have a voice in the process, and I urge you to prioritize competition in your criteria for creating 

districts. 





Gerrymandering -
Lebanon Co Style 

My name is Duncan Maclean. I am a retired medical doctor who has lived and practiced 
almost all of my professional life in Pennsylvania, including the last 14 years in South 
Lebanon Township. 

I am a registered Republican, and have voted in every election since becoming eligible. I 
grew up in Latin America as the son of an international businessman, and so am keenly 
aware of how precious and fragile is our American democracy. 

I have been attracted to the non-partisan push against gerrymandering sponsored by the 
League of Women Voters and Fair Districts PA. I was a rank-and-file volunteer and signed 
onto their email list, but have not served in any leadership capacity. I have had several 
letters to the editor published in the Patriot-News, Lebtown online and Q'Hubo. 

I present this testimony in favor of fair districts by explaining how gerrymandering has hit 
close to my home in house District 102. 

Published Letters to the Editor: 
• Pongamos fin a la guerrimandaje, Q'Hubo, February 15,2021 
• lQue te importa?, Q'Hubo, January 2021 
• Regional elections for high court judges is a bad idea, Lebtown, July 30, 2020 
• Let Impartial 'Jury' Fix Gerrymandering, Pennlive.com, September 13, 2019 
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Definition: Gerrymandering 

► The practice of dividing or arranging a territorial 
unit into election districts in a way that gives one 
political party an unfair advantage in elections 
► -Merriam-Webster.com 

This is the definition of gerrymandering. 
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Lebanon County's House Districts 2001 

Here's my story about gerrymandering. 

The story starts with an official named Rosemarie Swanger who served in Lebanon City 
government starting 1966 an worked her way up to County Commissioner where she 
served for 20 years. Then she ran in 2006 on the Republican ticket for the state House from 
District 102, where she ably served for 4 terms. As she approached her 70th birthday she 
began succession planning. -

This much is a matter of record . 

The next part of this is unverified and perhaps unverifiable, but tells a story. Rep. Swanger 
and the senior country commissioner Bill Ames found an up-and-coming Republican 
candidate to succeed her. His name was Russell Diamond, a protege of the commissioner, 
with whom he had a connection through the local Vo-Tech school. 

3 



Mr. Diamond's Problem 

Ann-.,ille 'l'ownship 

There was just one problem. Mr. Diamond lived in Annville Township in House District 101, 
not in District 102 - see the red arrow. · 

But wait. After the 2010 census, district lines were being redrawn! Couldn't the line 
drawers fix this? After all, under Karl Rove's Redmap initiative (targeting Pennsylvania and 
other swing states), the Pennsylvania Republican Party now controlled both the General 
Assembly and Governor's mansion. Thus, they could draw new district lines with no one to 
get in their way. 
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Annville Borough in 2001 Map 

So, here's the 2001 map showing Annville Borough in District 101. 
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New House District 102 - 2011 Map 

District 102 
Lebanon (part) County 

Rkhland 
Borough 

Voila! Problem solved! The new 2011 map switched Annville over to District 102! 

And this did comply with the Constitutional requirement not to divide municipalities and 
townships! (Pay no attention to the requirement for "compactness.") 

We can't verify the motives of the line drawers, but we see with our own eyes the "Annville 
tentacle" added to District 102 under the 2011 map (which was approved by the Supreme 
Court only in 2013, just in time for Rep. Diamond's first run for office the following year). 
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Rep. Diamond is in a "safe seat'' 

► May 2014 primary - 2 other Republicans were removed 
(Bechtold, Eisenhauer) - won primary with 1,961 votes (Note: 
For comparison, 31,000 voted in 2020 general election) 

► November 2014 - won general election with 48% of vote 

► May 2016 primary - won with 6200 votes ( 55%) 

► November 2016 - won general election with 70% of vote 

► Unopposed in 2018 primary and general _elections 

► Unopposed in 2020 primary; won general election with 70% of 
vote 

Sources: Batlotpedia .org; LebCounty. org 

So, now Rep. Diamond is in a safe seat, often unopposed or prevailing with 55 - 70 percent 
of votes. A nice job if you can get it at $90,000 salary and $178 per diem. 
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What This Means 

► Rep. Diamond owes his job to the party 

► He will support party leaders policies and power 

► This is "efficient" for the party and its donors 

► Rep. Diamond's re-election costs only about $25,000 
per cycle (less than $1.00 per vote!) 

► Rep . Diamond and party leaders can focus on maintaining 
their power and their donors' interests 

► Can ignore voters' needs and will 

Rep. Diamond does work hard at his job. 

But he also needs the map with its Annville pseudopod to keep his seat. And so he is 
beholden to the map drawers, who are the party leaders. The leaders can expect him to 
support their power and their agenda, and Rep. Diamond can expect them to design a 
district that contains his residence and is safe for his reelection. 

This is "efficient" for Diamond, for the leaders, and for their donors, only about $1.00 per 
vote per election cycle. But this allows Diamond and the party leaders to give less attention 
to the needs and will of the voters, as I'll illustrate, and arguably to pay more attention to 
corporate donors. 
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How Party Leaders Control the Agenda 

lEAO£R.5 ,+ DiSTOltTED 
DRAW DISTRICJS 

DISTRICTS 

r UNFAIR 
PROCEDURAL 

PIIOTECT ::) 
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81.0CK ~ l:fADW 
REFORM ~ CONTROL THE 

IIUW 

How do they do this? Using procedural rules. At the beginning of each 2-year legislative 
session, the House and Senate set up the procedural rules. Newly elected and reelected 
representatives vote on these rules. And guess what - the representatives, who owe their 
jobs to the party leaders, vote for rules that give those leaders and their appointed 
committee chairs complete control over what bills are put on the agenda, which ones 
amended, and which ones sent to the floor for full votes. 

Let's look at four examples of consequences impacting my district: 
• No attention to the teachers pension shortfall 
• No attention to high lead levels in Lebanon City kids 
• Irresponsible posturing on COVID-19 public health measures 
• Blocking the redistricting reform amendment 
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School Districts Are Unnecessarily Split Up Among State Ho 
School Districts (# of Legis. Per 
School) 

LEBAN ON COUNTY, PENNSYL 
SCHOOL DISTRICTS MA 

Lebanon S.O. 1 

2 
3 

House Districts (# Schools pe 
' I 

As other citizens have testified, school districts are unnecessarily split up among 
representative districts. This weakens the ability of school districts to demand reform of 
the teachers' pension system, for example. It also means that families in Lebanon City with 
a lead exposure problem compete for attention with families in 3 other rich districts 
without any lead problems in District 101. 

The combination of weakened accountability to school districts and strengthened power of 
party leaders allows Rep . Diamond and his leadership to ignore the pension issue and the 
lead issue. 
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No Action: Teachers Pension Fund 

What is PSERS? A look inside the Pa. 
pension fund being investigated by the FBI 

WALLACE MCl<ELVEY 

No action on the teachers pension fund shortfall. In fact, PSERS is now being investigated 
by the FBI due to inaction. 
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No Action: Lead Levels 
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Regarding lead, 18 cities in Pennsylvania have higher percentages of kids with high blood 
lead levels than Flint Michigan, including Lebanon, where I live. 
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o Action Lead Levels 
figure 2: Humbo, Mid P••--• of Chlldren .>yoa 6-23 Months wittr Confirmed Elevated Blood Lud Lr,el by County, 2019 
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This shows that a cluster of lead problems is in southcentral Pennsylvania counties. So we 
should expect our representatives to be taking the lead on this issue! Instead, they are 
playing political performance games 
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Gerrymandering Produces "Performative Po 
January 31, 2020 
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As an example troubling to me as a physician, consider this. At the beginning of the 
pandemic in 2020, Rep. Diamond fully supported the Department of Health's efforts to 
inform the public and promote control measures. But one year later, he was undermining 
efforts by public health officials, notably by ostentatiously defying the mask-wearing 
guidance. 
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Irresponsible "Performative Politics" Has Real 
Co·nsequences 

Lastly, here's new cases en a rolling 14-day sum per ; 00,000 people in Lebanon County 

Lebanon 
County 

By modeling, amplifying, and instigating behaviors that increased COVID-19 transmission, 
Rep. Diamond and others like him arguably contributed to Lebanon County leading the 
state in case rates for a time in spring 2021. I presume that he thought that his posturing 
would gain him support from his more extremely partisan primary voters and from his 
party overseers, but certainly not from me and other moderates! 
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No Action: Redistricting Reform 
► 6n'ii of Pennsylvania-registered voters support an independeni 

commission - .: ,., .. :.i:,· -·> ,,,,·,· ,!: . •·. 

REDISTRICTING PREFERENCES, 
PA,REGlffillED VOTERS 
~late legisfame dmricts .re turrently 
re-<ll'a\olM eve"! 10 years based oo dtanges 
to.the state",; l)llp!Mation. New leliislative 
districts are re-dra'Mn l:,y state Jegislatots 
arid the Slate supreme court . . Do you think 
state legt,t,t;,e districts sttould be aeated 
by an independent commission or do 1ou 
tt,fnlc thee districts sr.ould continue to be 
~ by slate leglslatc,rs? 

► Source: Center for Opi nion Resea rch at Franklin & Marshall College, September 2019 

Here's another example of how the powerful simply ignore the will of the people. 

Fair Districts PA and the League of Women Voters gathered over 100,000 petition 
signatures supporting an independent citizens redistricting commission. In addition 390 
governing bodies, including 24 county commissions representing over 9 million 
Pennsylvanians, adopted resolutions in support. A Franklin & Marshall poll in 2019 showed 
67percent of Pennsylvanians supporting an independent commission . But bills were never 
even given a vote in committee, including by Rep . Diamond as a member of the key State 
Government Committee, much less in the full General Assembly. 
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We Understand 

► The "Annville tentacle" is not the root of every problem, 
but is only a symptom of power for the powerful instead 
of for the common good 

► No map will be perfect 

► Redistricting reform will not solve every problem in our 
state 

► But redistricting reform is a good first step - without it, 
few other reforms will work 

We understand ... 
• The "Annville tentacle" is not the root of every problem, but is only a symptom of 

power for the powerful instead of for the common good 
• No map will be perfect 
• Redistricting reform will not solve every problem in our state 
• But redistricting reform is a good first step - and without it, few other reforms 

will work 
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What We Want 

► No "Annville tentacles" that serve the party leaders and 
their cronies 

► Fair districts 

► Compact, contiguous, roughly equal populations 

► Avoid dividing up existing civic entities including school 
districts 

► Non-discriminatory based on race 

► Responsive to voters, competitive, reflective of 
'communities of interest' 

What we don't want is obvious hyper-partisan gerrymandering like the Annville tentacle 
that benefit a candidate or incumbent but not the public good. We want a good-faith effort 
at maps that look fair, feel fair to constituents, and measure up objectively as fair -
responsive, competitive, reflective of community interests. 
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Thank You 

Thank you for allowing me to present this testimony. 
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